# **CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME**

### "Conservation of Wildlife Through Education"

Volume 101

Fall 2015

Number 4



Published Quarterly by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA Jerry Brown, *Governor*

# CALIFORNIA NATURAL RESOURCES AGENCY John Laird, Secretary for Natural Resources

# FISH AND GAME COMMISSION Jack Baylis, President Jim Kellogg, Vice President Jacque Hostler-Carmesin, Member Anthony C. Williams, Member Eric Sklar, Member

Sonke Mastrup, Executive Director

## DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE Charlton "Chuck" Bonham, *Director*

#### CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME EDITORIAL STAFF

Vern Bleich	Editor-in-Chief
Carol Singleton Office of	Communication, Education and Outreach
Jeff Villepique, Steve Parmenter	Inland Deserts Region
Scott Osborn, Laura Patterson, Joel Trum	bo Wildlife Branch
Dave Lentz, Kevin Shaffer	Fisheries Branch
Peter Kalvass, Nina Kogut	Marine Region
James Harrington	.Office of Spill Prevention and Response
Cherilyn Burton	Native Plant Program

# CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME

VOLUME 101

FALL 2015

NUMBER 4



Published Quarterly by

STATE OF CALIFORNIA CALIFORNIA NATURAL RESOURCES AGENCY DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE ISSN: 0008-1078 (print) ISSN: 2331-0405 (online) --LDA--

# California Fish and Game

*California Fish and Game* is published quarterly by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife. It is a journal devoted to the conservation and understanding of the flora and fauna of California and surrounding areas. If its contents are reproduced elsewhere, the authors and the California Department of Fish and Wildlife would appreciate being acknowledged.

Please direct correspondence to: Editor-in-Chief California Fish and Game scientificjournal@wildlife.ca.gov



Inquiries regarding subscriptions should be directed to the Subscription Manager at 916-322-8911 or by email at scientificjournal@wildlife.ca.gov.

Alternate communication format is available upon request. If reasonable accommodation is needed, call 916-322-8911 or the California Relay (Telephone) Service for the deaf or hearing-impaired from TDD phones at 800-735-2929.

# Contents

Notes from the Editor	
Vernon C. Bleich	
Home-range overlap of Roosevelt elk herds in the Bald Hills of Redw Park	ood National
NICHOLAS R. KOLBE AND FLOYD W. WECKERLY	
Potential mitigation of and adaptation to climate-driven changes in California's highlands through increased beaver populations JEFF BALDWIN	
Importance of the stream-estuary ecotone to juvenile coho salmon ( <i>O kisutch</i> )	ncorhynchus
MICHAEL WALLACE, SETH RICKER, JUSTIN GARWOOD, ADAM FRIMODIG, AND STAN ALLEN	
Habitat selection and survival of pronghorn fawns at the Carrizo Pla Monument, California	in National
DIEGO JOHNSON, KATHLEEN LONGSHORE, CHRIS LOWREY, AND DANIEL B. THO	MPSON267
A potential range expansion of the coastal fisher ( <i>Pekania pennanti</i> ) p California	opulation in
MAXIMILIAN L. ALLEN, BRYN E. EVANS, AND MICAELA S. GUNTHER	
<b>First record of striped mullet (<i>Mugil cephalus</i>) in Humboldt Bay, Cal</b> Michael Wallace, Eric W. Ojerholm, Anthony J. Scheiff,	ifornia
AND ANDREW P. KINZIGER	
Book Review: Desert bighorn sheep: wilderness icon	
Subject Matter Index	
Author Index	297
Reviewers of Manuscripts Considered for Publication	299
Books Received and Available for Review	301

#### Notes from the Editor

Come gather 'round people, wherever you roam, and admit that the waters around you have grown... For the times, they are a-changin'. Bob Dylan, 1963

The Times, They are A-changin'

Indeed, some important changes to *California Fish and Game* have occurred in the editorial and publication processes over the past six years. First, we revised the format for manuscripts that are intended for this journal. We also have a rejection rate that is on an upward trajectory; in the past, many authors merely viewed *California Fish and Game* as a "last ditch" journal in which to publish material that had been rejected by at least one (and likely, several other) more "prestigious" professional journals. The Associate Editors and I have worked very hard to counter that trend, and we believe substantial progress has been made.

Following direction provided by higher authorities, we have successfully initiated electronic publication of the journal, and it is now available at no cost to scientists and other interested parties throughout the world. As part of that process, we have obtained an ISSN (International Standard Serial Number) for the electronic version of the journal, in addition to our existing print ISSN. Both ISSNs ensure that *California Fish and Game* will continue to be indexed by literature search services on an international scale.

In addition, the journal now sports color covers portraying one or more images of a species or habitat that is the subject of a paper in the current issue. Further, several new Associate Editors joined the editorial staff, and were invited because of their areas of expertise and abilities to network with potential reviewers, as well as their willingness to make objective recommendations regarding the merit of manuscripts that are received. Among those that have assisted this editor in the capacity of Associate Editor are Walter Beer, Cherilyn Burton, Liam H. Davis, James Harrington, Paul Hofmann, Peter Kalvass, Nina Kogut, Dave Lentz, Scott Osborn, Steve Parmenter, Laura Patterson, Kevin Shaffer, Levi Souza, Joel Trumbo, and Jeff Villepique. These individuals have worked in a concerted effort to enhance the quality of material published in the journal. As AEs, they have been responsible for seeking reviewers, distributing manuscripts, evaluating reviewer comments, synthesizing those comments, and making recommendations as to the acceptability of the manuscripts they handle. Ultimately, the final decision on acceptance rests with the Editor-in-Chief, but those decisions are greatly facilitated by input from the AEs.

A major change occurred with the retirement of Ms. Debra Hamilton who, over the past six years, served as Production Editor for *California Fish and Game*. After 27 years of state service, Debra retired on 3 September. She was a stickler for detail, and she and I worked diligently to provide the most error-free issues of the journal that we thought were possible, albeit none were ever perfect. Debra also dedicated her skills to enhancing the quality and appearance of the journal, and her interest and endeavors made it possible to move forward with electronic publication. Thank you, Debra, for your efforts, your professional approach to publication of *California Fish and Game*, and for all of the exploratory work you did on behalf of electronic publication and the concept of print-on-demand, which I am hoping will become the norm.

Concomitant with this issue, Ms. Carol Singleton has replaced Debra as Production Editor. Carol is employed as a Marketing Specialist in the Office of Communications, Education, and Outreach, and has extensive familiarity with the technology and software used to produce the journal. Carol and I have worked to streamline the protocol for processing manuscripts that Debra and I established, and Carol has made a number of meaningful suggestions that will facilitate the process of turning an edited manuscript into a formal publication. Thank you, Debra, for a great run and thank you, Carol, for stepping up to support the continued production of *California Fish and Game*.

Finally, this will be the last issue published under my editorship. Together, the Associate Editors, the Production Editor, and the supervisors and managers within the Office of Communications, Education, and Outreach have strived for excellence in the production of the journal. I am optimistic that the incoming editor will continue in that tradition, and that he or she will be able to move forward with initiating print-on-demand and further facilitating electronic publication. Print-on-demand technology will enable individuals interested in obtaining hard copies of the journal to do so at no cost to the Department of Fish and Wildlife. Electronic publication has been much more difficult to implement than originally anticipated by its early advocates within the Department. Nevertheless, that technology facilitates the more rapid release and dissemination of information, although the process is more complicated than originally anticipated.

I have enjoyed serving as Editor-in-Chief and working to help resolve the many challenges that have arisen over the past several years. It has been a good run, and I wish the incoming Editor-in-Chief every success in ensuring that *California Fish and Game* remains California's longest-running, continuously published scientific journal.

Vernon C. Bleich, Ph.D. Editor-in-Chief California Fish and Game

#### **ABOUT THE COVERS**

**FRONT.**—Controversies surrounding the natural distribution of beavers (*Castor canadensis*) are abundant, but interest in the role of those large rodents in ecosystem function is increasing rapidly. On pages 281–240 of this issue, Jeff Baldwin explores the potential for beaver populations to play a meaningful role in mitigating climatedriven changes in California's highlands. Photograph courtesy of Steve Hersey.

**BACK.**—Water, always a subject of interest in California, has been the subject of many recent contributions to the literature on salmonid life histories. On pages 241–266, Michael Wallace and his coauthors explore the importance of stream-estuary ecotones in Humboldt Bay, California, to juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). The upper photograph is of tidal brackish-water habitat in Lower Freshwater Creek Slough; the centerleft image is of the freshwater stream-estuary ecotone in Martin Slough; an incoming tide from Freshwater Creek Slough at the mouth of Wood Creek is pictured in the center right-image; and in the lower photograph, a California Department of Fish and Wildlife and Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission field crew is pictured seining tidal freshwater habitat in Martin Slough. Photographs courtesy of Michael Wallace, California Department of Fish and Wildlife.

# Home-range overlap of Roosevelt elk herds in the Bald Hills of Redwood National Park

NICHOLAS R. KOLBE\* AND FLOYD W. WECKERLY

Texas State University, Department of Biology, 601 University Drive, San Marcos, TX 78666, USA (NRK, FWW)

#### \*Correspondent: nrk9@txstate.edu

We examined whether seasonal changes in food supply or social familiarity could explain seasonal dynamics of home-range overlap between two Roosevelt elk (*Cervus elaphus roosevelti*) herds in northwestern California. Elk location data were obtained from GPS transmitters and food supply was estimated from remotely sensed normalized difference vegetation indices (NDVI). Home-range overlap averaged 11 percent. The NDVI values were positively related to home-range overlap and greater social attraction between elk herds. Seasonal patterns of home-range overlap were consistent with changes in food supply and not social familiarity.

Key words: *Cervus elaphus roosevelti*, forage, space use, normalized difference vegetation index, half weight association index, social behavior

Home-range overlap of individuals or herds has been repeatedly documented in bovids and cervids (Harper 1967, Franklin and Lieb 1979, Jenkins and Starkey 1982, Cornelis et al. 2011, Scillitani et al. 2013). Home range is defined as 'that area traversed by the individual during its activities of food gathering, mating, and caring for young over a given time period' (Burt 1943). Overlap in home range between herds or individuals tends to occur in landscapes with large patches of forage habitat that varies spatially and temporally (Scillitani et al. 2013). Jenkins and Starkey (1982) observed a roughly 20 percent overlap in annual home ranges between two elk herds. For female elk from the northern herd in Yellowstone National Park, Craighead et al. (1973) also documented a similar degree of overlap between herds at the end of the winter and through post-parturition. Little work, however, has examined seasonal variation in home-range overlap. Although most studies of home-range overlap are conducted at the temporal scale of a year, examining seasonal variation in home-range overlap might be useful to help understand the degree to which home-range overlap occurs. Food resources are not consistently abundant throughout the year, thus altering competition for such resources among herds. Measuring changes in food supply and home-range overlap on a seasonal scale can provide insight into mechanisms of association. Furthermore, Roosevelt elk in Redwood National Park express unique population dynamics among herds (Julian et al. 2013). Because of unique herd dynamics, management is probably most effective at the herd level. What is unclear is whether spatial boundaries of herds are likely to be constant or if they are likely to vary. An understanding of the mechanisms responsible for maintaining herd boundaries is needed to assess if those boundaries are constant or if they are likely to change.

Home-range overlap may be associated with seasonal changes in food supply and social structure. During the growing season—when food is more plentiful than in other seasons—there should be less partitioning of food between adjacent herds and, consequently, greater overlap in home ranges (Jenkins and Starkey 1982). Conversely, during seasons when food supplies are more limited, home-range overlap should be less because of resource partitioning between adjacent herds (Franklin et al. 1975, Bowyer 1981, Anderson et al. 2005).

Social familiarity among individuals might also explain variation in home-range overlap as well as seasonal changes in overlap. Adult females, their juvenile offspring, and sub-adult males can display strong social bonds in gregarious species of cervids, such as elk (Franklin et al 1975, Weckerly 1999). Thus, herds comprised of socially bonded individuals might be reluctant to associate with adjacent groups comprised of unfamiliar individuals regardless of seasonal fluctuations in food supply (Rutberg 1983, Thouless et al. 1985).

The objectives of this study were (1) to estimate seasonal home-range overlap of the two Roosevelt elk herds in the Bald Hills region of Redwood National Park, Humboldt County, California; and (2) to determine if forage abundance or social familiarity influence home-range overlap of the two herds. If forage abundance is associated with home-range overlap, then the extent of overlap and association between elk from different herds should be greater when food supplies are abundant. If social familiarity is driving home-range overlap then there should be no relationship, or an inverse relationship, between forage abundance and home-range overlap, and an elk herd should avoid the areas that are currently occupied by the adjacent herd.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

*Study area.*—This study was conducted in the Bald Hills region of Redwood National Park, Humboldt County, California (41° 11' N, 123° 56' W). The Bald Hills are a series of meadows that range in size from 10–300 ha and total about 1,000 ha (Weckerly and Ricca 2000, Starns et al. 2015). The meadows are situated along a southwest-facing ridge of Redwood Creek. The region was purchased by the National Park Service during 1977–1978 (Mandel and Kitchen 1979). Before then the area known as the Bald Hills was privately owned and was grazed by sheep and cattle.

The climate in the region has wet, cool winters, and dry summers during which precipitation is mostly limited to occasional fog (Starns et al. 2015). Average annual precipitation varies from approximately 1,200 to 1,800 mm and occurs mostly as rain (Hektner et al. 1983). Ninety percent of this precipitation falls between the months of October and April. Snow is common during the winter months (November–February) in some years but rarely remains on the ground beyond a week. Precipitation data between October 2002 and April 2003 were obtained from the RAWS USA Climate Archive (http://www.raws.dri.edu). Mean summer temperatures range from 24 to 27°C and mean winter temperatures range from 3 to 5°C. Elevations range from 360 to 1,050 m. The landscape is comprised of meadows (24%), oak (*Quercus* spp.) woodlands (10%), and second-growth

and old-growth redwood-conifer stands (66%) that are dominated by coast redwood (*Sequoia* sempervirens) and Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*; Weckerly and Ricca 2000). Oak woodlands are comprised of Oregon white oak (*Q. garryana*) and California black oak (*Q. kelloggii*). Grassland meadows have a mix of perennial and annual grasses including California oatgrass (*Danthonia californica*), sweet vernal grass (*Anthoxanthum* odoratum), deer vetch (*Lotus micranthus*), and English plantain (*Plantago lanceolata*).

During 2002, a total of 204 Roosevelt elk was counted in the Bald Hills region of Redwood National Park (Starns et al. 2015). These 204 animals were divided between two spatially distinct herds. Herd 1 was located in the northern reaches of the Bald Hills, and herd 2 was located in the southern end.

*Capture.*—In December 2002 and January 2003, personnel from the California Department of Fish and Game and the National Park Service conducted helicopter darting and free range darting to capture adult female elk in the Bald Hills. Two adult females were captured from herd 1 and four adult females were captured from herd 2. Captured animals were immobilized with carfentanil citrate (Miller et al. 1996). Legs of immobilized elk were hobbled and eyes covered. Animals were fitted with neck collars housing VHS and GPS transmitters (Advanced Telemetry Systems, Isanti, Minnesota, USA). To antagonize carfentanil citrate immobilization, naltrexone hydrochloride was administered intravenously. Each GPS collar was programmed to record a location at six-hour intervals for one year. Animals were captured in compliance with agency guidelines and were approved by the Texas State University institutional animal care and use committee (KSMJK6\_02).

*Analyses.*—The 2-D and 3-D locations with position dilution of precision readings >5 were removed to avoid the use of imprecise locations due to the influences of satellite positioning, terrain, or dense vegetation (Lewis et al. 2007). This resulted in each individual having 80–130 locations per month. Four of the six GPS collars were recovered following remotely triggered detachment in March, 2004. One collar was recovered from an animal in herd 1 and the remaining three were recovered from animals in herd 2. The locations of animals in herd 2 cannot be assumed to be independent from each other. Roosevelt elk express strong social bonds throughout most of the year that allow for protection against predation as well as increased knowledge of prime foraging locations from mature individuals within the herd (Weckerly 1999). Movements by one animal are assumed to be representative of the herd's movements due to the aggregated structure of Roosevelt elk throughout the year. Thus, one animal was randomly selected from herd 2 and used in subsequent analyses, and the location data from the remaining animals in herd 2 were discarded. Hereafter, the single animal in herd 1 will be referred to as animal A and the single animal randomly selected from herd 2 will be referred to as animal B.

The fixed kernel (FK) estimator with an *ad hoc* smoothing parameter was used to estimate 95% home-range sizes for both animals A and B for each month from January to December (Seaman and Powell 1996, Kie 2013). Numerous home-range distribution estimates have used various smoothing parameters to estimate home range depending upon the objective and data availability. The FK estimator method was used to allow for contiguous polygon calculations and reduced bias given the variation in time between data point locations and multimodal animal locations (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Horne and Garton 2006, Kie 2013). This estimator and smoothing parameter also accounts for multimodal animal locations and does not assume normally distributed animal locations. The kernel density tool in the Spatial Analysis package in ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2014) was used to calculate the home range of each animal. Monthly

FK home-range estimates for each animal were plotted and estimated.

To measure home-range overlap, the FK estimate for animal A and animal B was loaded into ArcMap 10.2 for the same month. If an area of overlap existed, the area was determined to the nearest hectare. Every location in the overlap area was then placed into one of two groups: days when locations of only one of the two animals occurred within the area of overlap, and days when locations of both animals occurred within the area of overlap. To quantify association between animals, the half-weight association index (HAI) was calculated as  $n_{\alpha\beta}$ 

$$HAI = \frac{n_{\alpha\beta}}{n_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{(a+b)}{2}}$$

where n is the number of occasions that animal A and animal B were located within the area of overlap together, a is the number of occasions that animal A was located in the area of overlap unaccompanied by animal B, and b is the number of occasions that animal B occurred within the area of overlap unaccompanied by animal A (Brotherton et al. 1997).

The HAI value ranges from 0 to 1. Values closer to 0 indicate avoidance and values closer to 1 indicate attraction between the two animals. Plant biomass in meadows was indexed with the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI; Chander et al. 2009). The NDVI measures the ratio of near infrared to red light reflected by vegetation, and is positively correlated with vegetation biomass (Anderson et al. 1993, Elmore et al. 2000).

To estimate NDVI, Landsat 5 Thematic Mapper images, obtained at 16-day intervals, were downloaded from USGS Earth Explorer (http://earthexplorer.usgs.gov) from January 1989 to November 2011. These images have a pixel resolution of 30 m<sup>2</sup>, an area that is adequate for measuring plant biomass in meadows used by elk. Approximately 200 images were free of cloud cover. Monthly mean NDVI readings from 1989 to 2011 were used due to the lack of cloud-free images for all months in 2003. Each cloud-free image was corrected for top-of-atmospheric reflectance using the methods described by Chander et al. (2009) prior to deriving estimates. Images were then clipped down to the Bald Hills meadows. Pixels with NDVI values < 0.1 were then re-classified as "null" since they most likely were bare ground, water, or snow (Starns et al. 2015). In months where two images were available, the average of the NDVI means between the two images was used in analyses (Starns et al. 2015). All image processing was carried out using ERDAS Imagine 2013 (Intergraph Corporation 2013). An a posteriori two-tailed t-test comparing monthly rainfall accumulation in 2003 to the monthly average rainfall for the remaining years was conducted to assess if precipitation in 2003 deviated from that recorded during the other years.

Scatter plots of the data were first observed to assess whether relationships between NDVI and home-range overlap, and between NDVI and HAI, were linear. After viewing these scatter plots, two simple linear regressions were estimated between NDVI and home-range overlap, and between NDVI and HAI (Sokal and Rohlf 2012). Statistical analyses were conducted in program R (R Development Core Team 2014).

#### RESULTS

The Bald Hills received 1,016 mm of precipitation between the months of October 2002 and April 2003. When we compared 2003 monthly rainfall data (= 9.81 cm) and averaged monthly rainfall for the remaining years of 1989 to 2002 and 2004 to 2011 (= 11.21 cm) we found no differences (t=-0.898, df=11, P=0.388) suggesting that 2003 was

an average year for monthly precipitation. Home-range size for animal A fluctuated from a minimum of 33 ha in January to a maximum of 3,975 ha in August. The average monthly home-range size for animal A was 2,192 ha (±472) ha. Animal B had a minimum home range of 1,051 ha in April and a maximum home-range size of 4,059 ha in August. Average monthly home-range size for animal B was 2,793 ha (±494) ha. There was no overlap in home-ranges between these two elk in January, February, September and October. In the remaining months, the mean overlap area was 464 ha (±157) ha with a minimum of 28 ha in November and a maximum of 1,417 ha in August. Taking the mean monthly overlap (309 ha) and dividing by mean monthly home-range sizes resulted in a mean home-range overlap of 11 percent (Figure 1). There was a positive relationship ( $R^2$ = 0.49,  $F_{1,10}$  = 3.129, P = 0.011) between NDVI and home-range overlap (Figure 2). There was also a positive relationship between NDVI and HAI ( $R^2$ = 0.41,  $F_{1,10}$  = 2.627, P = 0.025; Figure 2).



**FIGURE 1.**—Fixed kernel (FK) estimate for the single Roosevelt elk (*Cervus elaphus roosevelti*) in herd 1 and the FK estimate for the three elk in herd 2 of the Bald Hills of Redwood National Park, Humboldt County, California, 2003.





**FIGURE 2.**—Scatter plots with regressions of A) normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and home range area of overlap and B) NDVI and half-weight association index for Roosevelt elk in the Bald Hills of Redwood National Park, Humboldt County, California, 2003.

#### DISCUSSION

We tested two hypotheses to explain drivers of home-range overlap between elk herds. Our findings suggest seasonal changes in home-range overlap were associated with seasonal changes in food supply, and we found no evidence that home-range overlap was associated with social familiarity. When food supplies increased during the growing season, primarily April to June, there was an increase in home-range overlap. This suggests overlap occurs between animals from different herds due to increased food availability rather than social attraction. These findings are contrary to what was expected with the social familiarity hypothesis.

The positive relationships between NDVI, home-range overlap and HAI were evident but not strong. One possible reason for the weaker relationships was that we had to average NDVI between 1989 and 2011 because we did not have monthly NDVI for every month in 2003. Precipitation in the wet season from October 2002 to April 2003 appears to be on the low end (1,016 mm vs. typically 1,080 – 1,620 mm). Although the *t*-test suggested there was not a statistical difference in precipitation between 2003 and other years, the lower precipitation might have resulted in lower NDVI values and food supplies. The average NDVI values we used in the analyses might have added a source of heterogeneity to our regression analyses that we were unable to capture.

The generally larger home ranges in the late spring and summer months and the increased home-range overlap between adjacent herds probably reflects the concomitant increase in food supply and energetic demands of reproduction. Pregnant females in late spring are known to distance themselves from other animals during times of parturition to decrease chances of predation on neonates. Such dispersion can result in an enlarged

home range and more home-range overlap between adjacent herds. Immediately after parturition mothers also face the energetic demands of lactation (Cook et al. 1996, 2004), which corresponds with seasonal peaks in food supply (Phillips et al. 1973, Georgii 1980). Thus, the greater home-range overlap in late spring and summer is, to some extent, due to reproductive activities; yet, those reproductive activities probably evolved to coincide with the period during which food is most plentiful. Regardless of whether the observed patterns in home-range overlap are associated with seasonal food supply, reproductive activities, or both, these results are consistent with past observations in elk that found overlapping home ranges during seasons when vegetation is growing (Craighead et al. 1973, Jenkins and Starkey 1982, Cornelis et al. 2011).

Social bonding among females in herds is well documented in Roosevelt elk from northern California to northern Washington (Lieb 1973, Jenkins and Starkey 1982, Franklin et al. 1975, Weckerly 1999, Julian et al. 2013). Previous work examining social bonding has addressed the role of aggression in social bonding (Rutberg 1983, Thouless et al. 1985, Weckerly 1999). Understanding the drivers of seasonal changes in overlapping home ranges is useful to understanding the ecological role of social bonding. When seasonal food supplies are more limited and there is less overlap in home ranges, strong social bonding probably benefits younger animals in food acquisition. Older animals are probably more familiar than young elk with areas that contain more abundant food resources because, in part, these areas have received little or no foraging pressure by members of adjacent groups (Craighead et al. 1973, Georgii 1980, Cornelis et al. 2011).

Examining seasonal dynamics in home-range overlap has implications for understanding population dynamics and social boundaries of Roosevelt elk. Female groups proximate to each other can display population dynamics that are uncoupled or not in synchrony (Julian et al. 2013). Distinctly different population dynamics seem to be maintained by elk groups avoiding areas that might be used by adjacent herds when food supplies are limited. As the area of overlap is rather small in relation to the size of the home range used by a herd, each herd has a slightly different set of food supplies as well as other conditions (e.g., poaching, predation) that should influence herd size. When food is most limited in autumn and winter, herds should display the least overlap in home ranges. If there is considerable overlap in home ranges between adjacent herds in autumn and winter that might be a cue that herd spatial boundaries have changed. Furthermore, seasonal change in home-range overlap influences management strategies. When overlap in home range occurs, population density in the overlap area increases. As a result, competition for resources available in the area of overlap is enhanced, potentially limiting availability of nutrients per individual. Periods of home-range overlap suggest a need to alter management strategies as herds associate and population dynamics change.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Redwood National Park and California Department of Fish and Game for capture, collaring, and collar retrieval. Also, we thank Leah Peterson, Daniel Wolcott, and Adam Duarte for suggestions on earlier drafts of the manuscript. Funding for this project was provided by the Rocky Mountain Elk Foundation, Houston Safari Club, California Department of Fish and Game, Safari Club International, National Park Service, and the Department of Biology, Texas State University.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- ANDERSON, D. P., J. D. FORESTER, M. G. TURNER, J. L. FRAIR, E. H. MERRILL, D. FORTIN, J. S. MAO, AND M. S. BOYCE. 2005. Factors influencing female home range size in elk (*Cervus elaphus*) in North American landscapes. Landscape Ecology 20:257-271.
- ANDERSON, G. L., J. D. HANSON, AND R. H. HAAS. 1993. Evaluating landsat thematic mapper derived vegetation indices for estimating above-ground biomass on semiarid rangelands. Remote Sensing of Environment 45:165-175.
- BOWYER, R. T. 1981. Activity, movement, and distribution of Roosevelt elk during rut. Journal of Mammalogy 62:574-582.
- BROTHERTON, P. N., M., J. M. PEMBERTON, P. E. KOMERS, AND G. MALARKY. 1997. Genetic and behavioral evidence of monogamy in a mammal, Kirk's dik-dik (*Madoqua kirkii*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 81:1589-1597.
- BURT, W. H. 1943. Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. Journal of Mammalogy 24:346-352.
- CHANDER, G., B. L. MARKHAM, AND D. L. HELDER. 2009. Summary of current radiometric calibration coefficients for landsat MSS, TM, ETM+, and EO-1 ALI sensors. Remote Sensing of Environment 111:893-903.
- Cook, J. G., L. J. QUINLAN, L. L. IRWIN, L. D. BRYANT, R. A. RIGGS, AND J. W. THOMAS. 1996. Nutrition-growth relations of elk calves during late summer and fall. Journal of Wildlife Management 60:528-541.
- Соок, J. G., B. K. JOHNSON, R. C. COOK, R. A. RIGGS, T. DELCURTO, L. D. BRYANT, AND L. L. IRWIN. 2004. Effects of summer-autumn nutrition and parturition date on reproduction and survival of elk. Wildlife Monographs 155:1-61.
- CORNELIS, D., S. BENHAMOU, G. JANEAU, N. MORELLET, M. OUEDRAOGO, AND M. VISSCHER. 2011. Spatiotemporal dynamics of forage and water resources shape space use of West African savanna buffaloes. Journal of Mammalogy 92:1287-1297.
- CRAIGHEAD, J. J., F. C. CRAIGHEAD, JR., R. L. RUFF, AND B. W. O'GARA. 1973. Home ranges and activity patterns of nonmigratory elk of the Madison Drainage herd as determined by biotelemetry. Wildlife Monographs 33:1-50.
- ELMORE, A. J., J. F. MUSTARD, S. J. MANNING, AND D. B. LOBELL. 2000. Quantifying vegetation change in semiarid environments: precision and accuracy of spectral mixture analysis and the normalized difference vegetation index. Remote Sensing of Environment 73:87-102.
- ESRI (ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE RESEARCH INSTITUTE). 2014. ArcGIS Desktop 10.2. Environmental Science Research Institute, Redlands, California, USA.
- FRANKLIN, W. L., A. S. MOSSMAN, AND M. DOLE. 1975. Social organization and home range of Roosevelt elk. Journal of Mammalogy 56:102-118.
- FRANKLIN, W. L., AND J. W. LIEB. 1979. The social organization of a sedentary population of North American elk: a model for understanding other populations. North American elk: ecology, behavior and management. Pages 185-198 *in* M. S. Boyce and L. D. Hayden-Wing, editors. University of Wyoming, Laramie, USA.
- GEORGI, B. 1980. Home range patterns of female red deer (*Cervus elaphus* L.) in the Alps. Oecologia 47:278-285.
- HARPER, J. A., J. H. HARN, W. W. BENTLEY, AND C. F. YOCOM. 1967. The status and ecology of the Roosevelt elk in California. Wildlife Monographs 16:1-49.

- HEKTNER, M. M., R. W. MARTIN, AND D. R. DAVENPORT. 1983. The Bald Hills prairies of Redwood National Park. Pages 70-78 in L. D. Whittig and M. L. Murphy, editors. Proceedings of the Biennial Conference of Research in California's National Parks 111:70-78.
- HORNE, J. S., AND E. O. GARTON. 2006. Likelihood cross-validation versus least squares crossvalidation for choosing the smoothing parameter in kernel home-range analysis. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:641-648.
- INTERGRAPH CORPORATION. 2013. ERDAS Imagine 2013. Intergraph Corporation, Huntsville, Alabama, USA.
- JENKINS, K. J., AND E. E. STARKEY. 1982. Habitat use by Roosevelt elk in unmanaged forests of the Hoh Valley, Washington. Journal of Wildlife Management 48:642-646.
- JULIAN, A. E., K. SCHMIDT, AND F. W. WECKERLY. 2013. Group size dynamics of female Roosevelt elk in Redwood National and State Parks, California. California Fish and Game 99:49-54.
- KIE, J. G. 2013. A rule-based *ad hoc* method for selecting a bandwidth in kernel home-range analyses. Animal Biotelemetry 1:1-13.
- LEWIS, J. S., J. L. RACHLOW, E. O. GARTON, AND L. A. VIERLING. 2007. Effects of habitat on GPS collar performance: using data screening to reduce location error. Journal of Applied Ecology 44:663-671.
- LIEB, J. W. 1973. Social behavior in Roosevelt elk cow groups. M.S. Thesis, Humboldt State University, Arcata, California, USA.
- MANDEL, R. D., AND D. W. KITCHEN. 1979. The ecology of Roosevelt elk in and around the Redwood National Park. Humboldt State University, Arcata, California, USA.
- MILLER, M. W., M. A. WILD, AND W. R. LANCE. 1996. Efficacy and safety of naltrexone hydrochloride for antagonizing carfentanil citrate immobilization in captive Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus elaphus nelsoni*). Journal of Wildlife Diseases 32:234-239.
- PHILLIPS, R. L., W. E. BERG, AND D. B. SINIFF. 1973. Moose movement patterns and range use in northwestern Minnesota. Journal of Wildlife Management 37:266-278.
- RAWS USA CLIMATE ARCHIVE. 2015. RAWS 2015. Remote Automatic Weather Stations, Boise, Idaho, USA.
- R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM. 2014. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Development Core Team, Vienna, Austria.
- RUTBERG, A. T. 1983. Factors influencing dominance status in American bison cows (*Bison bison*). Zeitschrift fur Tierpsychologie 63:206-212.
- SCILLITANI, L., G. DARMON, A. MONACO, G. COCCA, E. STURARO, L. STURARO, L. ROSSI, AND M. RAMANZIN. 2013. Habitat selection in translocated gregarious ungulate species: an interplay between sociality and ecological requirements. Journal of Wildlife Management 77:761-769.
- SEAMAN, D. E., AND R. A. POWELL. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77:2075-2085.
- SEAMAN, D. E., J. J. MILLSPAUGH, B. J. KERNOHAN, G. C. BRUNDIGE, K. J. RAEDEKE, AND R. A. GITZEN. 1999. Effects of sample size on kernel home range estimates. Journal of Wildlife Management 63:739-747.
- SOKAL, R. R., AND F. J. ROHLF. 2012. Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research. Third edition. W. H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco, California, USA.

- STARNS, H. D., F. W. WECKERLY, M. A. RICCA, AND A. DUARTE. 2015. Vegetation changes associated with a population irruption by Roosevelt elk. Ecology and Evolution 5:109-120.
- THOULESS, C. R., AND F. E. GUINNESS. 1985. Conflict between red deer hinds: the winner always wins. Animal Behaviour 34:1166-1171.
- USGS EARTHEXPLORER. 2011. U.S. Department of the Interior [Internet]. USGS EarthExplorer; Available from http://earthexplorer.usgs.gov
- WECKERLY, F. W. 1999. Social bonding and aggression in female Roosevelt elk. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77:1379-1384.
- WECKERLY, F. W., AND M. A. RICCA. 2000. Using presence of sign to measure habitats used by Roosevelt elk. Wildlife Society Bulletin 28:146-153.
- WORTON, B. J. 1989. Kernel methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70:164-168.

Received 25 May 2015 Accepted 25 August 2015 Associate Editor was J. Villepique

# Potential mitigation of and adaptation to climate-driven changes in California's highlands through increased beaver populations

#### JEFF BALDWIN\*

Sonoma State University, Geography and Global Studies, 1801 East Cotati Avenue, Rohnert Park, CA, USA 98042

#### Correspondent: Jeffrey.baldwin@sonoma.edu

Climate models forecast significant changes in California's temperature and precipitation patterns. Those changes are likely to affect fluvial and riparian habitat. Across the American West several researchers and civil society groups promote increased beaver (*Castor canadensis*) presence as a means to moderate such changes. This study reviews three literatures in an effort to evaluate the potential for beaver to adapt to and to mitigate anticipated changes in California's higher elevation land- and waterscapes. First, I provide a synopsis of modeled changes in temperatures and precipitation. Forecasts agree that temperatures will continue to increase, to 1.5–4.0° C by 2060; however, forecasts for precipitation are more variable in sign and among models. Second, researchers anticipate climate-driven changes in stream and riparian areas and project that snowpacks and summer flows will continue to decline, winter and spring flood magnitudes will increase, spring stream recession will likely continue to occur earlier and more quickly, and highland fires will be more extensive. Each of these changes has important implications for wildlife and public lands managers. A third focus reviews beaver natural histories and finds that where beaver dams are persistent, they may sequester sediment and create wet meadows that can moderate floods, augment early summer baseflows, sequester carbon in soils and standing biomass, decrease ecological problems posed by earlier spring stream recession, and potentially help cool early summer and post-wildfire stream temperatures. However, due in part to currently limited habitat suitability and to conflicts with other human interests, mitigation would likely be most meaningful on local rather than statewide scales.

Key words: beaver, *Castor canadensis*, climate forecasts, California highlands, hydrological changes, mitigation, wetland restoration

In California, meteorological and hydrological records indicate that the state is already experiencing changes attributable to anthropogenic climate change (Barnett et al. 2008, Pierce et al. 2008, Bonfils et al. 2008, Das et al. 2009, Hidalgo et al. 2009). As a result, the State's snowpacks are melting earlier (Kapnick and Hall 2009), and winter precipitation is falling increasingly as rain rather than snow (Hayhoe et al. 2004, Cayan et al. 2008). Several groups in the American West (King County in Washington, The Beaver Advocacy Committee in Oregon, and in California The Beaver Work Group and Martinez Beavers) are exploring increased beaver (*Castor canadensis*) presence as a way to restore fluvial and riparian habitat and increase resilience against the effects of climate change (Apple et al. 1985, Trimble and Albert 2000, Pollock et al. 2012, DeVries et al. 2012).

This article focuses on California's highlands (the Sierra Nevada and northern coastal ranges, and the Lassen, Shasta, and Trinity regions) as that is the site of most of the State's precipitation and nearly all snowfall that currently provides about one-third of all consumed water (Gasith and Resh 1999). Furthermore, because much of the land in the areas is publicly held, population expansion and damage caused by beaver works can be effectively managed. The paper reviews extant literature towards three ends. First I introduce climate models, the scenarios for future greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions they employ, and then present forecast changes in temperatures and precipitation. Next, I extend those forecasts to examine anticipated effects on fluvial and riparian form, function, and habitat that could potentially be affected by increased beaver populations. Finally, I review what is known of beaver natural history in an effort to characterize the potential adaptations and mitigations an increased beaver population could provide. California's highlands offer somewhat unique climate and geology. Findings from studies conducted east of the Pacific Rim are treated accordingly.

#### **CLIMATE MODELS AND FORECAST**

*Model ensembles and scenarios.*—Following best practices established by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) the studies reviewed here create ensemble forecasts using between 3 and 16 global circulation models (GCMs). Those models can be adjusted to provide varying spatial resolution. At their coarsest, each cell includes three degrees of longitude and three degrees of latitude, and so treats areas 160 by 330 kilometers as homogenous. Required computing power increases rapidly as resolution is increased. As a compromise researchers may use statistical resolution that compares projections made by numerous models and creates a probability distribution for more localized areas of interest. Alternatively, dynamical resolution treats the parcels surrounding the area of interest as boundary conditions and then increases resolution only for the study area. Most of the studies reviewed here have been downscaled (i.e., increased resolution) using one or both of these methods.

In order to minimize global climate response uncertainty (Costa-Cabral et al. 2013), modelers use representative  $CO_2$  concentration pathways (RCPs)—these are referred to as scenarios. The models referenced in the following discussion employ two business-as-usual, high GHG scenarios; either the A2 scenario published in 2002 that projects atmospheric carbon equivalent to reach 800–830 ppm in the year 2100, or the more recent AR5 8.5 scenario that places  $CO_2$  equivalent at 1250–1380 ppm in 2100.

Modelled forecasts for temperature and precipitation.-Models are more consistent

in temperature forecast than those for changes in precipitation. Together, increased warming in winter and spring is already causing diminished summer streamflow across the West (Stewart et al. 2004, 2005), a phenomenon modeled to continue (Hamlet et al. 2005, Barnett et al. 2008). Diffenbaugh et al. (2015) reported that even though rainfall anomalies have not increased in California over the past two decades, warming temperatures have decreased water availability significantly, and forecast increased drought conditions as a result.

Models agree that highland temperatures will rise through the end of the century (Table 1; Pierce et al. 2013). This is the most vigorous study published at the time of writing this review. Pierce et al. (2013) employed the SRES A2 GHG scenario and employed both statistical and dynamical downscaling to forecast changes for the 2060s relative to a 1985–1994 base period.

Precipitation changes forecast by Pierce et al. (2013) and Walsh et al. (2014) are presented in Table 2. The latter used the updated and higher greenhouse gas AR5 8.5 scenario.

**TABLE 1**.—Forecast increases in mean seasonal temperature (°C) of highland regions of California for the period 2060–2069 when compared to the relative historic base period of 1985–1994. The model used the high  $CO_2$  scenario (SRES – A2; from Pierce et al. 2013).

		Highland Re	gion of California	
Season	Sierra Nevada	Shasta Region	North Coast	Central and South Coast
Winter Spring Summer	1.5–2.1 2.0–3.0 3.0–4.0	1.7 1.9 2.9	1.5–2.2 1.4–2.0 2.0	1.8 2.1 2.3
		Season		
Highland Region	Winter	Spring	Summer	
Northern California <sup>a</sup>	$0 \Leftrightarrow +10$	$\begin{array}{c} -10 \Leftrightarrow -20 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -30 \Leftrightarrow -10 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	
Southern California <sup>a</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0 \Leftrightarrow \text{-} 10 \\ \text{N} \Leftrightarrow \text{S} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -30 \Leftrightarrow -40 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	$0 \Leftrightarrow +10$	<b>TABLE 2</b> .—Percent changes in seasonal precipitation
Shasta Region <sup>b</sup>	+ 9	- 11	- 29	highland regions of California under high CO <sub>2</sub>
North Coast <sup>b</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} +7 \Leftrightarrow -2 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	- 10 ⇔ - 18 N ⇔ S	$\begin{array}{c} -32 \Leftrightarrow -13 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	from Piece et al 2013, Walsh et al. 2014; N= north,
Sierra Nevada <sup>b</sup>	- 5	- 11 ⇔ - 19 N ⇔ S	$\begin{array}{c} -23 \Leftrightarrow +59 \\ \mathrm{N} \Leftrightarrow \mathrm{S} \end{array}$	3–30utii).
Central and South Coast <sup>b</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} +1 \Leftrightarrow -5 \\ N \Leftrightarrow S \end{array}$	- 19	$\begin{array}{c} -13 \Leftrightarrow +50 \\ \mathrm{N} \Leftrightarrow \mathrm{S} \end{array}$	

<sup>a</sup>Forecast under the AR5 8.5 high CO<sub>2</sub> scenario for 2070–2100 compared to the relative historic base period of 1970–2000 without downscaling (from Walsh et al. 2014).

<sup>b</sup>Forecast percent increase in mean seasonal temperature by highland region for the 2060s compared to the relative historic base period of 1985–1994. The model uses the high CO<sub>2</sub> scenario (SRES – A2) and statistical and dynamical downscaling (from Pierce et al. 2013; N= north, S=south)

That group forecast changes for the period 2070–2100 relative to the historic base period 1970–2000. Though not downscaled, these results are similar in sign to findings by Pierce et al. (2013); however, the Walsh et al. study generally forecast a greater increase in winter precipitation and a less-marked decrease in spring and summer precipitation.

#### CLIMATE-DRIVEN CHANGES IN FLUVIAL AND RIPARIAN AREAS

These forecast changes in climatic boundary conditions will likely cause changes in several landscape aspects that beaver could potentially moderate. The following discussion reviews the extant literature on climate driven changes to stream flow timing and magnitude, channel morphology, stream temperatures, fire regimes, and meadows above 1,200 meters in elevation.

Snow to rain.—California's snowpacks provide about one-third of the water consumed in that state while also supplying stream flows that are critically important to dry-season habitats. Several studies have sought to quantify the magnitude of snow water equivalent (SWE) loss. Modeling by Cayan et al. (2008) suggested that the greatest diminution of snowpack will occur at elevations below 1,300 meters. Using the SRES A2 high emissions scenario (830 ppm), the modelers used data from the 1990s as a base period. The model forecast that SWE on April 1 (historically the beginning of spring melt) will decline by 37–42% by mid-century and 70–80% by 2100, thereby decreasing spring spate and summer streamflow.

A study by Das et al. (2011) suggested that warmer winters and springs will increase evapotranspiration and that sublimation may further diminish snowpacks and spring runoff. Using an ensemble of 16 GCMs, assuming a 3°C temperature increase and holding precipitation constant, they forecast that these in situ losses of snowpack would decrease April–September flows in the northern and southern Sierra Nevada by 1.8 and 3.6%, respectively, and October–March flows by 2.1% and 3.1%. Illustrating the effects of model variability, Costa-Cabral et al. (2012) ran a similar simulation and reported no relation between temperature and sublimation-evapotranspiration due to earlier snowmelt-runoff.

Beyond a diminution of this natural water reservoir, shifts from snow to increased rain suggest two related sets of problems: increased flooding and issues related to earlier snowmelt recession (Kapnick and Hall 2009). Each of these processes in turn has direct and indirect effects on ecological and human systems.

*Flooding.*—Hydrographic records indicate that flood magnitudes in California have increased since the 1920s. In a national study Peterson et al. (2013) found that decadal high flow magnitudes have increased at average decadal rates of 9% in northern California, 8% in the southern Sierra Nevada, and 3% on the central coast and the central Sierra Nevada. Several investigators examined increased flood magnitude under higher GHG accumulation. Cayan and Riddle (1992) reported that in California the largest floods are associated with winter-spring circulation over the central and eastern Pacific, and are specifically caused by atmospheric rivers (see also Ralph et al. 2006, Neiman et al. 2007). Again, atmospheric conditions over the Pacific are influenced by numerous factors and model ensemble results are not in strong agreement on forecast conditions. As discussed above, however, models strongly agree on the sign and trend of temperatures in the region and uniformly forecast warming. As a result, storms will be warmer and will produce less snow and more rain (Knowles et al. 2006, Das et al. 2009), producing greater flood magnitudes, particularly during rain-on-snow events.

Several other teams have modeled future flood characteristics. Das et al. (2011) used three GCMs calibrated through precasting (forecasting past flooding given historic climatic parameters) and then input results through a variable infiltration capacity hydrologic model. All three models forecast significant increases in flood magnitudes. While one model forecast decreased flood frequency, two found increased frequency. In 2012, Wehner reported that adding elevation data to a coordinated eight regional model ensemble significantly improved its precast performance. The newly parameterized ensemble compared conditions for North America in the period 2038–2070 to a 1968–1999 base period, and forecast a 5-10% increase in winter, a 10-20% decrease in spring precipitation, a 0-5% increase in winter, and a 0-15% decrease in spring maximum daily precipitation (i.e., flood magnitude).

In 2013, Dominguez et al. employed an ensemble of 8 GCMs to model changes in winter precipitation for the western United States. Comparing forecasts for the period from 2038–2070 with a base period from 1968–1999, they found a 12.6% increase in the magnitude of 20-year floods and an increase of 14.4% in 50-year floods. More generally, however, the models rendered a high probability forecast for a 7.5% decrease in average winter precipitation for the Sierra Nevada and southern California, and slight increases in precipitation for northern coastal California.

Using an ensemble of 16 GCMs and a high carbon emission SRES A2 scenario Das et al. (2013) found that flood magnitudes in the western Sierra Nevada will increase regardless of trends in mean precipitation (see also Maurer et al. 2007). The investigators found that magnitudes would increase beyond current variability as early as 2035. Compared with simulated historic 50-year flood events, the ensemble forecasts progressive increases of flood magnitude of 30–90% in the northern Sierra Nevada and 50–100% in the southern Sierra Nevada by 2100.

Again employing an ensemble of 16 GCMs and both statistical and dynamical downscaling, Pierce et al. (2013) forecast changes in three day accumulation for 100-year flood events (Table 3). Though the forecasts manifest an expected degree of variability, they produced a consensus of sign regarding flood magnitude, which is forecast to increase. There is little consensus regarding trends in total annual rainfall among California's various highland regions. An increase of winter flood events will increase the geomorphic dynamism of stream channels on a decadal scale.

Highland Region	Current Accumulation (mm)	Forecast Accumulation (mm)	Increased Accumulation (mm)
Ciama Mara la	200	270	00
Sierra Nevada	280	370	90
NE California	90	180	90
Shasta	180	300	120
North Coast	240	360	120
Central Coast	165	220	55
South Coast	160	190	30

**TABLE 3.**—Forecast changes in maximum three-day precipitation events in California's highland regions for the period 2060–2069 when compared to the base period of 1985–1994 (data interpreted from Pierce et al. 2013).

*Recession.*—On an annual scale, spring spates were forecast to occur earlier and to decrease in magnitude and duration. Many species are adapted to the specific timing of the spate (Jager et al. 1999, Marchetti and Moyle 2001, Lytle and Poff 2004, Jowett et al. 2005), and exploit a typically slowly retreating moist fluvial margin (Kupferberg 1996, Freeman et al. 2001). More rapid recession will decrease riparian seeding (Shafroth et al. 1998) and nutrient loading (Rood et al. 1995, Langhans and Tockner 2006), decrease primary productivity (Acs and Kiss 1993) and arthropod abundance (Paetzold et al. 2008), decrease salmonid spawning activity (Moir et al. 2006), and weaken other trophic chains (Nakano et al. 1999, Yarnell et al. 2010). Geomorphically, rapid recession is expected to produce steeper bars and so decreased moist transitional area, increased water temperatures, and increased stranding of young amphibians (Kupferberg et al. 2008).

The corollary condition, decreased magnitude of peak spring flow, is expected to decrease the area of aquatic habitat through channel narrowing and loss of wetted side channels (Ligon et al. 1995, Van Steeter and Pitlick 1998) leading to decreases in diversity and abundance of macro-invertebrates and algal production (Peterson 1996, Jowett et al. 2005), which are important food sources for higher trophic levels. Decreased erosion and deposition will decrease lateral channel migration, decreasing channel elevation—and so habitat—variability (Parker et al. 2003, Shields et al. 2000), which may enhance riparian encroachment by woody vegetation (Lind et al. 1996, Shafroth et al. 2002). In addition, earlier melt will result in increased water temperatures, thereby favoring species adapted to warm water and diminishing cold water adapted species such as salmonids (Kupferberg 1996, Jager et al. 1999).

Stream temperatures.—Sub-alpine streams are also expected to warm as a result of atmospheric temperature shifts. Null et al. (2013) employed a regional equilibrium temperature modeling approach that incorporated mechanistic heat exchange between atmosphere and water to model changes in the Feather River as it flows west from the northern Sierra Nevada. The investigators found that at elevations below 1,000 and above 3,000 meters, stream temperatures rise about 1.5°C for each 2°C increase in mean average annual atmospheric temperature. Streams between 1,000 and 3,000 meters responded more strongly at about 1.8°C for each 2°C increase in atmospheric temperature; this is due largely to decreases in snowpack. Currently, July temperatures in the Feather River exceed 21°C in only the lower 30 km (20%) of that stream. However, Null et al. (2013) reported that with atmospheric temperature increases of 2, 4, and 6°C, that threshold is exceeded in 57%, 91%, and 99.3% of the stream, respectively. The authors also noted that the effect of increased atmospheric temperatures are moderated in that watershed through extensive basalt layers underlying the stream that produce significant hyporheic flows that help cool stream temperatures.

*Fish.*—For salmonids (anadromous and resident trout and salmon) these changes in temperature and flow regime pose particular problems. The upper end of the optimal temperature range for these indicator species is 19°C. The maximum sustained water temperature tolerated by anadromous salmonids is 24°C (Eaton and Scheller 1996). However, at certain stages of their life cycle—eggs and alevin—these fish require lower temperatures (Myrick and Cech 2001), and salmonids exhibit stress at sustained temperatures above 21°C (McCullough 1999, Myrick and Cech 2001). Null et al.'s (2013) forecast has much of the Feather River exceeding 21°C by 2070–2099.

The forecast geomorphic changes are also expected to affect fish habitats. Mantua et al. (2010) examined the effects of expected higher winter and lower summer streamflows

on anadromous salmonids in Washington State. They noted that for young Coho the two most important hydrological factors in survival are first year summer temperatures and more importantly, refuges from winter high streamflows in their second winter. Those refuges are commonly found in side channels that several studies suggested will diminish under forecast flow regimes (Ligon et al. 1995, Van Steeter and Pitlick 1998, Shields et al. 2000, Parker et al. 2003, Pollock et al. 2003).

Dam reservoir management.—Changes in precipitation, snowmelt recession, and flood regimes in highland areas pose particular problems for the management of winter and spring pool levels in California's dam system, both for flood control and for power generation (Moser et al. 2012). Das et al. (2013) observed that increased probability of larger flood events will require dams to maintain lower pools in the future to accommodate potential floods. However, should a flood not occur, dam systems will begin the dry season with pools potentially much below maximum storage. Warmer summers will increase electrical demand while summer flows into reservoirs are forecast to decrease.

*Fire.*—As the West warms, wildfires may become more frequent or more extensive, or both. Westerling et al. (2011) developed a three-model wildfire ensemble to forecast fire extent for California. Contrasting the optimistic SRES B1 scenario with the higher A2 emission pathway against a 1970s base period they found only moderate differences between the two scenarios and for year 2020 forecast an increase of statewide area burned at 10–20%. For 2050 and 2085 the B1 scenario forecast increases of only about 5% for each interval. However, the A2 scenario yields increases up to 38% in 2050 and 40–70% in 2085. While these increases seem somewhat moderate, a closer look at sub-regions of California yields more meaningful results. All models forecast little or no increase in area burned south of Monterey, Kings, Tulare, and Inyo counties, the Central Valley, and the mountains of the central coast. However, across the forested areas of the Sierra, all of northern California including the coastal mountains north of Marin County, the area burned is forecast to increase by 100–300%.

Increased fire extent suggests increased sediment mobilization and stream temperatures. Ice et al. (2004) reported that stream sedimentation and nutrient mobilization (with the exception of phosphorus which may volatilize) increase with fire severity (temperature and duration) and landscape gradient. They concluded that, "Long-term erosion rates in fire prone landscapes may be higher than often believed, and post-fire sediment pulses can have both positive [increased downstream channel complexity in later years] and negative effects" (Ice et al. 2004:20). The latter are related to the mobilization of fine gained sediment that can degrade spawning areas and alter trophic chains. Regarding stream temperature changes, Brown and Krygier (1970) studied two comparable streams in western Oregon, one well shaded and relatively undisturbed, the other flowed through an area that was first clear-cut then slash burned. In the second stream they observed summer temperatures rising from a mean average 13°C prior to treatment to 28°C (range 26–30°C). During the treatment summer the control stream recorded temperatures of 14–15°C. In a similar study in southwestern Oregon, Amaranthus et al. (1989) reported that small stream temperatures increased from about 14°C to 21°C following shade-removing wildfires.

*High meadows.*—High-elevation meadows present an additional area for consideration. A wetter climate regime beginning between 2,500 and 1,200 years BP raised water tables in high meadows that favored hydric plant communities dominated by sedges, rushes, herbs, dwarfed shrubs, and grasses (Wood 1975). Unique faunal communities subsequently adapted to live in these areas. In the later 1800s and early 1900s these meadows

Fall 2015

were widely exploited by commercial pastoralists. As a result of grazing, road grading, intentional drainage, and grass crop cultivation many meadow streams have become incised and water tables have dropped so that mesic and xeric floral communities now dominate (Loheide et al. 2009). Climate change will further stress meadow hydrologies by changing mean annual flows, shifting spring spates earlier, and produce a lengthier low-flow period (Null et al. 2011). Loheide et al. (2009) suggested that earlier and shorter snowmelt recession and reduced daily fluxes in snowmelt-related streamflows will reduce groundwater recharge. Viers et al. (2013) noted that meadows between 1,500 and 3,000 meters will be most affected, and that because northern meadows generally are at lower elevations they are more vulnerable. Beaver populations in some of these areas were also reduced in the nineteenth century (James and Lanman 2013). Central to the current discussion, meadow restoration projects on the Feather River in northeastern California are providing some of the best opportunities for research into the potential for beaver to mediate some of the aforementioned changes in California's highland waterscapes.

#### BEAVERS AND CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION AND ADAPTATION IN CALIFORNIA

As the following review indicates, scientific studies are limited, first in applicability and so in number, and second in quality. Most scientific study is focused on areas of North America shaped by continental or extensive alpine glaciation, or by monsoonal or otherwise moist summer seasons, and so may not provide analogs for California's highland hydrologies. Furthermore, several widely cited studies from the western United States are somewhat anecdotal and, thus, problematic.

It is important to stress that habitat initially suitable to persistent beaver occupation is limited by certain factors (Baldwin 2013). Beaver dams are more persistent when situated in wider valleys on reaches with gradients less than 6%. Although they are generalists, beavers build more dams in areas where hardwoods grow within 30 meters of stream channels. Though cross-channel dams are most typical on 1st–4th order streams, beaver also dam side channels on larger streams. No statewide suitability study has been published. Yet, as this review suggests, some of those local benefits are potentially significant.

The following discussion addresses several processes through which beavers might moderate the climate driven changes identified in the previous section. Among these are water storage, streamflow seasonality, sediment flows and storage, nutrient flows and stocks, riparian vegetation, flood events, changes in spring stream recession, and wildfire.

*Water storage.*—Beaver works cause water to be stored both in surface ponds and wetlands, and in subsurface or hyporheic flows. Studies indicate that the amount of storage is highly variable. Westbrook et al. (2006), for example, recorded two dams on the upper Colorado River that inundated 5.8 and 12.0 ha of the nearby flood plain, primarily by diverting streamflow onto terraces downstream from the dams. However, working in eastern Washington, Scheffer (1938) recorded average pond storage to be 86 m<sup>3</sup> among 22 dams in one reach of Mission Creek; in that same study the author reported a single year-old dam on Ahtanum Creek stored 2,603 m<sup>3</sup> and that storage expanded to 6,170 m<sup>3</sup> the following summer. Because beaver colonies tend to build several dams, aggregate pond storage is often more meaningful than single dam storage capacity. Studies found a wide range of colony and dam density in the West. Clearly the amount of water stored in these systems is highly variable (Table 4).

Authority	Location	Average number/km
Yeager and Hill (1954)	Southern Colorado	30 active and former dams
Butler and Malanson (1994)	Rocky Mountains (Montana)	25
Bates (1963)	Wasatch Range (Utah)	24
Smith (1980)	Wyoming	1.3
Busher et al. (1983)	Eastern Sierra Nevada	0.75 to 1.5 colonies

**TABLE 4.**—Numbers of beaver dams, or beaver colonies, per kilometer of stream channel at various locations in high mountain environments of the western United States.

Dams also divert surface flows to slower hyporheic flows. However, due to the impermanence of extant dams and the unpredictability of new dams, related sub-surface flows are difficult to study and quantify. In Westbrook et al.'s (2006) study the team was able to quantify dam-related hyporheic storage lost. In that case, a monitoring station 670 meters below the failed dam indicated that within a week of the breech, water levels dropped from 21 cm above to 41 cm below ground surface. While the effect is clear, in order to calculate storage one must characterize local soil water-holding capacity. Other findings are less circumstantial and are more suggestive. Studying 10 dams on first order streams in low gradient glacial valleys in Glacier National Park, Meentenmeyer and Butler (1999) reported that three dams completely diverted all streamflow to aquifers.

Several other studies provide more definitive findings. Working on Bridge Creek in central Oregon, Lowry (1993) found that the riparian water table associated with a small beaver dam closely reflected pond surface levels laterally up to 50 meters from the pond, and estimated ground water storage at 90 m<sup>3</sup>. Working on Currant Creek in a semi-arid area in southwestern Wyoming, Apple et al. (1985) studied the effects of re-introduced beaver. They found that within two years, seven beavers had created three dam complexes that raised adjacent water tables by 0.3 to 1.0 meters. Researching a 320 meter reach of Red Canyon Creek, a second order stream in the semi-arid Wind River Range of Wyoming, Lautz et al. (2006) found that about 30% of the stream volume entered hyporheic flows above beaver dams. Those flows raised water tables as far as 50 meters to one side of the stream. Water tables reflected pond surface levels and were maintained at 20–40 cm below the pond surface. The authors also reported that various portions of the study reach alternatively gained water and lost water to hyporheic flows depending on very local conditions confounding quantifications of streamflow.

Generally water storage both in ponds and in aquifers seems to be a function of a few key factors. Low valley gradient (with accordant low stream power) and broad valley floors both allow greater storage in dams and in aquifers (Pollock 2007). Sediment pore space and depth to impermeable substrate suggests reservoir capacity. Finally, the availability of woody dam-building material controls the size, efficacy, and permanence of dams. Thus, in California the most promising areas for water storage by beaver works probably rest among high meadows on headwater streams and amid side channels on lower elevation rivers.

Emmons (2011) estimated that should all currently incised meadows in the Sierra Nevada have their groundwater storage potential restored, about 80 million additional cubic meters of water would be cached. Some portion of that storage would transfer to the

atmosphere through increased evapotranspiration (Hammersmark 2008, Hoffman et al. 2013). The increased flow is not significant statewide, but local habitat benefits might be.

*Extending summer flows.*—Evidence for augmentation of summer flows is perhaps the weakest aspect in the scientific research into potential benefits by beavers. Numerous review articles suggest that beaver dams and ponds augment low summer baseflows; however, studies relevant to California are largely anecdotal. Peer reviewed studies from the Pacific Northwest by Finley (1937) and Scheffer (1938) both reported significant decreases and increases in baseflow following beaver removal and re-colonization, respectively. However, neither study controlled for changes in precipitation nor land cover; further, Scheffer's (1938) results are not clearly confirmed by my analysis of relevant stream gauge records (see author forthcoming for further discussion).

As research into meadow hydrologies in California has found, it is very difficult to control all variables relevant to baseflow augmentation. Studies seeking to quantify the effects of beaver are confounded by multiple uncontrollable variables: they tend not to stay where they are released, making before and after studies nearly impossible; decadal scale climate trends, land use changes, topologies specific to study sites may also alter stream flow.

Plug-and-pond meadow restoration projects in upper reaches of the Feather River in northeastern California provide a potentially useful analog regarding potential modification of baseflows by beaver colonies. There, several stream reaches were re-directed to their former shallow, sinuous, non-incised channels, and the former channels converted to series of hyporheically connected ponds (Hoffman et al. 2010). Above-and-below seepage studies on several treated reaches indicated some aquifer absorption of high flows (Tague et al. 2008) and some augmentation of baseflows, but only into July (Cawley 2011, Hill et al. 2011). Several investigators reported that even where 48.3 ha of meadow were treated, base flow was not increased in August and September (Freeman 2010, Cawley 2011, Hoffman et al. 2013). Thus, widespread meadow restoration resulting from beaver activity may help blunt floods and increase stream flow in June and into July.

Sediment flows and storage.—Because dams decrease stream velocity, their associated ponds and overbank flows may allow sediment sequestration and accumulation (Westbrook et al. 2010). Several studies characterized the variability of sedimentation related to beaver works. In Yellowstone, Persico and Meyer (2009) reported that dams on small streams more effectively sequestered sediment. Butler and Malanson (1995) noted that low-gradient streams have lower suspended and bead loads, and so sedimentation rates also decrease. Studies agree that sediment accumulation decreases with pond age while volume increases with size (Table 5).

Some have argued that beaver-driven sediment accumulation may make significant changes in western landscapes. Working among headwater creeks in Colorado, Ives (1942:198) wrote that, "Detailed field studies indicate that water levels have been raised as much as two feet [0.6 meters], during the past 20 years, in about one-fifth of the beaver occupied area ... As pond-filling proceeds at about the same rate as the elevation of water levels, but with the lag of several years, it may be assumed, from these figures, that valley floor elevation, as a result of beaver work, proceeds at a rate approximating one quarter inch per year." While the studies themselves were not included, Ives suggested that the "false senility" of streams—mature features such as meanders, oxbows, and peat bogs, all the result of low gradient—provide further evidence of valley-wide aggradation. Ives (1942) argued that beaver ponds normally transition to meadows following pond filling and that process

repeats continually, as beavers move to new sites. Though somewhat anecdotal, this study is cited by 98 scholarly sources identified in Google Scholar's database.

Authority	Location	Sedimentation Accumulation Rate (cm/yr) Younger <=> Older	Accumulated Volume of Sediment (m <sup>3</sup> ) Smaller <=> Larger
Butler and Malanson (1995)	Glacier NP Montana	27.9 <=> 2.1	
Meentenmeyer and Bulter (1999)	Glacier NP Montana	45 <=> 30	~ 9.4 <=> 267
Bigler et al. (2001)	Glacier NP Montana	43 <=> 19	
Pollock et al. (2007)	Bridge Ck Oregon	45 <=> 7.5	17 <=> 533
Westbrook et al. (2010)	Glacier NP Montana		Maximum of 750

**TABLE 5.**—Sediment accumulation rates, and volumes of sediment accumulated by younger and older, and smaller and larger beaver dams in Montana and Oregon, USA.

In a more empirical study, Pollock et al. (2007) reported significant sediment deposition upstream from dams and argued that long-term occupation by beavers decreases bed slope and increases the area likely to be wetted during over-bank flows. Again, variability of landscape response to beaver activity is evidenced by the contrasting results of Meentenmeyer and Butler (1999), who reported that repeat field visits and aerial photo survey indicated that ponds seldom become meadows in Glacier National Park, Montana. Viers (2013) reported that where ponds do fill with sediment and transition to meadows, beaver works may provide important refugia for a host of native California species.

*Nutrient flows and stocks.*—As beaver works may slow and accumulate sediment, so too may they affect flows of nutrients. In their study of a 320 meter reach of Red Canyon Creek, a second order stream in the semi-arid Wind River Range of Wyoming, Lautz et al. (2006) reported that hyporheic exchange decreased total solute flow velocity by about 30%. Working on Currant Creek in southwestern Wyoming, Maret et al. (1987) reported that during high flows suspended solids, total phosphorous (but not ortho-phosphate), and nitrogen decreased in beaver ponds.

While decreases in suspended sediment are attributable to decreases in velocity, decreases in dissolved nutrients are due to adsorption to fine clays accumulated in the pond bottom sediments (Naiman and Melillo 1984). As a result, pond sediments tend to be very fertile. Naiman et al. (1994) measured available soil nitrogen in beaver meadows at 29.8 kg/ha compared to 6.8 kg/ha in a nearby dry forest. Other investigators reported that total organic carbon is also elevated in pond or meadow soils. Westbrook et al. (2010) analyzed the soil sequestered behind a failed dam and found relatively abundant nutrients: carbon

was 24.1 g/kg of soil, total nitrogen 1.5 g/kg soil, and total phosphorous 0.9 g/kg soil (see also Klotz 1998). Naiman et al. (1986) reported that organic carbon turnover time in pond sediments was about 161 years, compared to 24 years for a nearby riffle, and that the pond's stream metabolism index of ecosystem efficiency was over five times higher for the pool than in the riffle.

Nutrient sequestration suggests that high meadows might serve as significant carbon sinks. Norton et al. (2014) suggested that southern Sierra Nevada wet meadows contain about 54.3 mg/ha of soil organic carbon, or about 12.3% of all such carbon sequestered in the Sierra Nevada. In addition, these rich soils encourage further carbon sequestration in new standing biomass.

*Vegetation.*—As Yeager and Hill (1954) observed under certain conditions, beavers may denude riparian vegetation and "scalp" top soils from pond edges and may also cultivate riparian deciduous and wetland herbaceous production. They may accomplish this through several processes. First, beavers increase water availability both spatially across valley bottoms through hyporheic flows, through overbank flows, and through canals excavated in order to more effectively move cut wood to the dams (Seton 1953), and temporally by providing water further into summer dry seasons. Apple et al. (1985) illustrated the effect upon riparian vegetation: three summers after beavers were re-introduced on Currant Creek in southwest Wyoming willow had colonized and grown up to 2.0 meters in height in spaces where water tables had been raised by beaver ponds to within 40 cm of the surface. In the downstream reach where aquifers were not charged by beaver ponds, willows had not recovered. On the Colorado Plateau in New Mexico, Trimble and Albert (2000:91) noted the addition of "extensive riparian habitat, especially willows" 6–14 years after re-introduction. Other authors reported that aspen, alder and cottonwood also responded well to the wetter habitats created by beavers (Ives 1942, Baker 2003).

The results of several studies suggest that willows and aspen live mutualistically with beavers. Working in Rocky Mountain National Park, Baker et al. (2005) simulated the effect of beaver browse on riparian willow with and without elk browsing. With elk herbivory, willows produced fewer and longer roots and displayed a higher percentage of dead biomass. Pruning followed by elk exclusion resulted in shorter, but far more numerous shoots; total stem biomass after three years was 10 times greater without elk browsing and those plants recovered 84% of their pre-cut biomass after only two growing seasons. With browsing by elk, however, plant biomass recovery was only 6%. Thus, under certain conditions, beavers may cultivate the development of bank stabilizing willow carrs, but only where elk browsing is limited. Because elk hunting licenses constitute an important revenue source for the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, reducing populations may require further budgetary support from the State. In Yellowstone, re-introduced wolf populations effectively moved elk away from streams and allowed both willow re-growth and subsequent re-occupation of streams by native beaver populations (Ripple and Larsen 2000).

Beavers may affect other changes in riparian forests. By taking down more mature trees, either through cutting or by drowning roots, and especially of conifers, beaver works may create light gaps that allow the growth of early successional species such as alder and willow, creating a diverse ecotone at the margin of their browsing zone 30–50 meters from the edge of their ponds (Donkor and Fryxell 2000). Several investigators noted that sedges and other wetland plants often colonized the saturated margin of beaver ponds (Johnston and Naiman 1987, Pollock et al. 1998, Westbrook et al. 2010). Clearing of riparian canopies

may also result in problematically warmer stream temperatures.

*Flood events.*—Several review articles suggested that beaver works may attenuate flood events (e.g., Parker 1986). Hillman (1986) and Ehrman and Lamberti (1992) reported evidence of this in low-gradient landscapes. Working in mountainous northern Idaho, DeVries et al. (2012) documented the hydrological effects of anthropogenic structures that emulate beaver dams and found that check dams increased the frequency of overbank flows that worked to dissipate flood crests (see also DeBano and Heede 1987). Taking a different approach, Beedle (1991) modeled flood behavior amid glacially carved valleys on Kuiu Island in southeast Alaska. His model assumed that all dams were at capacity at the time of the flood, so that much of the attenuation resulted from deflection away from channels. He found that any one dam decreased flows by only about 5 percent, but that a series of five large dams reduced the peak flow of a two-year flood event by 14 percent, and reduced the peak of a 50-year event by four percent. These are small, but potentially meaningful, changes.

Beaver dam failures figure prominently in this literature. Working in a desert environment on the Bill Williams River in Arizona, Andersen and Shafroth (2010) reported that over 50 percent of beaver dams were damaged in a relatively large flood pulse of about 60m<sup>3</sup>/sec, and that a pulse as low as 5 m<sup>3</sup>/sec caused significant damage. On a 32-km reach of Bridge Creek in semi-arid central Oregon, Gibson and Olden (2014) reported over a period of 17 years that no dam persisted longer than 7 years and that most breeched within two years. However, in agreement with Demmer and Beschta's earlier study (2008), the authors found that these dams did attenuate high flows through their ability to divert high flows to local terraces and by creating greater sinuosity and valley bottom heterogeneity. In Glacier National Park, Westbrook et al. (2010) also reported that extant and breeched beaver dams increased riparian drainage complexity, and also increased vegetation capable of flood attenuation. Two groups of investigators added anchoring structures and noted that anchoring significantly increased dam durability (Apple et al. 1985, Pollock et al. 2012).

In some contexts, beaver-enhanced riparian vegetation may play an important role in flood mitigation. Smith (2007) offered an extensive study on the role and capacity of willow carrs to slow flood waters, and that is particularly relevant given the ability of beavers to cultivate these thickly branched willow stands. Those investigators reported that where stem spacing is less than 30 cm, vegetative stalks up to 2 meters in height, whether flexible or rigid, are able to reduce boundary shear stress to allow sediment deposition even if over-topped. In short, thick willow stands not only protect terraces from erosion, but also trap new sediment even during flood events. This vegetative aspect of beaver ecology could, thus, attenuate anticipated increased floods and sediment mobilization in California.

*Changes in spring recession and ecotones.*—As discussed above, for many plant, invertebrate, and aquatic species, the recession of high spring flows produces a vital, yet transient and moving, ecotone. The altered timing and decreased availability of these wetted margins promises to stress certain species of riparian plants and invertebrates. Both intact and broken beaver dams can create similar habitat. Breeched dams expose nutrient-rich and sometimes bare soils. Because beavers typically use soil to seal leaks in dams, the structures themselves may offer moist spaces available for colonization by invertebrates or plants, or by both. Mature dams often host willow, cottonwood, and aspen samplings, young trees whose roots can help to further consolidate dams (Bigler et al. 2001).

*Wildfire.*—Thus far few studies have been conducted into the relationship between beavers and wildfires. In his encyclopedic *Lives of Game Animals*, Seton (1953:455) wrote

that "by conserving the water supply, the Beaver keeps little brooks running all year, instead of only freshets, so the forest is helped by irrigation. ... Its ponds provide valuable fireguards." However, he did not offer evidence supporting these assertions.

More careful studies offer insights into beaver-wildfire interactions. Working in areas formerly covered by continental glaciers, two studies reported rather different interactions between beaver presence and fire. In Mount Desert Island, Maine, Little et al. (2012) used aerial surveys to assess beaver response to a fire in 1947 following beaver re-introduction in 1921. Following the fire, the researchers reported that dams increased rapidly in the burnt areas, but decreased from 60 to 10 in unburned areas by 1970. They also documented a decline in dams in the burned areas from about 100 in 1980 to fewer than 40 in 1990. Interestingly, ponds in this environment were observed to become meadows.

Hood et al. (2007), working in Elk Island National Park in Canada, studied beaver lodge occupation in relation to prescribed fires. They reported that lodges were nearly uniformly abandoned following first burns, and completely abandoned following subsequent fires; they also reported that if the area does not burn again over the following 20–30 years, pond creation increases. The authors suggested that trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) regenerates well after fire. Bailey and Whitham (2002) reported that aspen regenerated 10 times more biomass following a severe burn. However, when elk are present, browsing decreased standing aspen biomass 90-fold, and so severely limited beaver re-colonization following fires.

Wildfires can also increase sediment mobilization that can be problematic for human and wild habitats. Once stripped of vegetative cover, slopes are exposed to sheet flow and gullying. Ice et al. (2004) reported that the potential for soil mobilization increased with the severity of fires. In very intense fires soil can become mineralized and nearly impermeable, forcing any runoff to flow rapidly down-slope, entraining soil particles along the way. Beaver dams may help sequester sediment in this context as well. Christian's (2014) comparative aerial surveys of eastern Glacier National Park found that prior to a large fire upstream pond sizes were variable year to year with changes of 40% typical. Following the fire, ponds steadily decreased in size, indicating sequestration of some portion of increased sediment flows.

As noted previously, wildfires will tend to increase stream temperatures. Beaver works, through increasing residence time in ponds and through decreasing shading gallery forest canopy, may also increase stream temperatures. Where stream temperatures are very cold, this may benefit certain native species; however, in many contexts this increase in stream temperatures may be problematic to salmonids. Dams can also work, however, to cool mid-summer stream temperatures when cold spring flows diverted to aquifers re-join streams 1–3 months later (Lowry and Beschta 1994). This retention and delayed release of cooler spring water might more generally buffer increasing summer stream temperatures.

Thus, following wildfires beaver dams may help sequester sediment, very locally decrease seasonal stream temperatures, and enhance riparian revegetation. However, the persistence of beaver colonies following wildfires seems highly variable and dependent in part, upon low elk abundance and subsequent browsing.

#### DISCUSSION

Recent climate models forecast decreased snowpacks and summer streamflows, earlier and shorter spring spates, increased flood magnitudes, higher stream temperatures,

and increased area of wildfire amid California's highlands—all with implications for habitat alteration. Few geographically analogous studies on beavers have been published, several of those original studies are somewhat anecdotal, and their claims apparently are at times exaggerated. However, several valid studies do suggest that on some of California's headwater streams beaver dams may work to recharge aquifers, augment baseflows for several weeks into summer dry seasons, sequester sediment and nutrients, encourage restoration of meadow vegetation and willow carrs that can ameliorate some of the problematic aspects of floods and wildfires, and supplement decreasing recessional riparian ecotones.

In short, beavers cannot mitigate all of the anticipated climate related changes in California's highland hydrologies. However, as this literature review suggests, beavers potentially offer meaningful local benefits. Unlike human-engineered projects, the effects of beavers on local hydrologies and habitats are variable and uncertain, and further investigations particular to California's highlands is warranted.

Extant studies suggest experimental designs to study hydrologies and habitat changes. As before and after studies are highly problematic due to subject mobility and variable boundary conditions, a simultaneous investigation of two analogous streams or watersheds, one with and one without beavers, would obviate problems posed by interannual precipitation and temperature variability and avoid re-introduction issues specific to California. Ideally, study meadows would not be connected to adjacent watersheds hyporheically, thus allowing accurate quantification of the effect of beaver works on timing of flows leaving the meadow. The stream reach seepage studies conducted amid the plugand-pond meadow restoration projects on the Feather River offer an alternative design for studying water storage and baseflow augmentation. Such studies could align with on-going efforts to restore meadowlands in California. A nascent wetland restoration grant program funded through California's carbon market and administered by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife might prove a reliable source of financial support.

Several of the studies reviewed here indicate that the ecosystem services provided by beavers are increased as colony density increases on streams and in watersheds. The extent of additive benefit is not well quantified, but a controlled study of beaver re-introduction on a watershed scale is currently under way in the Methow Valley in eastern Washington. There, the Methow Conservancy project-a partnership between Washington Department of Ecology, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, The US Forest Service, and the Pacific Biodiversity Institute—is engaged in a watershed scale, before-and-after study of the hydrological, geomorphic, and ecological effects of beavers. They have installed 6 flow and 32 temperature stations to monitor changes. Their experimental design calls for a three-year pre-study period prior to beaver introduction and a 3-5 year post-introduction monitoring period. The protocol has been confounded by beavers not staying or succeeding in the pre-monitored release sites. As of 2013, introduced beavers had successfully inhabited only one-third to one-half of the 45 release sites. Results thus far are also confounded by environmental variability. The strength of findings will also be subject to changing boundary conditions (wetter, drier, warmer, cooler seasons) that may coincide with re-introductions and so confuse causation. The group plans to begin publication of results as early as 2018. Due to topography, results there may be most directly applicable to California's Cascade Range and coastal ranges.

Though able to create their preferred environment to a degree, beaver persistence requires low-gradient and wide stream plains. Even when well established, they apparently are also subject to long-term drought. Persico and Meyer (2009) found in Yellowstone

National Park that beaver have been endemic throughout the Holocene; however, during two notably dry periods, from 2200–1800 and from 950–750 years BP, beavers were absent from the area. Beavers may not be able to persist into California's drier future.

Finally, though advocates often portray beavers as a very low cost means of stream restoration or climate change mitigation because they tend to interact with built infrastructure, they also require management. Publications such as the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife's monograph detail techniques for live-management; that activity would require resources beyond the current budgets of many wildlife or public land management agencies, but holds the potential to provide benefits beyond costs.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Acs, E., AND K. T. KISS. 1993. Effects of the water discharge on periphyton abundance and diversity in a large river (River Danube, Hungary). Hydrobiologia 249:125-133.
- APPLE, L. L., B. H. SMITH, J. D. DUNDER, AND B. W. BAKER. 1985. The use of beavers for riparian/aquatic habitat restoration of cold desert, gullycut stream systems in southwestern Wyoming. Investigations on Beavers 6:123-130.
- AMARANTHUS, M., H. JUBAS, AND D. ARTHUR. 1989. Stream shading, summer streamflow and maximum water temperature following intense wildfire in headwater streams. Pages 75-78 in N. H. Berg, technical coordinator. Proceedings of the Symposium on Fire and Watershed Management. U.S. Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experimental Station, Berkeley, California, USA.
- ANDERSEN, D. C., AND P. B. SHAFROTH. 2010. Beaver dams, hydrological thresholds, and controlled floods as a management tool in a desert riverine ecosystem, Bill Williams River, Arizona. Ecohydrology 3:325-338.
- BAILEY, J. K., AND T. G. WHITHAM. 2002. Interactions among fire, aspen, and elk affect insect diversity: reversal of a community response. Ecology 83:1701-1712.
- BAKER, B. W. 2003. Beaver (*Castor canadensis*) in heavily browsed environments. Lutra 46:173-181.
- BAKER, B. W., H. C. DUCHARME, D. C. S. MITCHELL, T. R. STANLEY, AND H. R. PEINETTI. 2005. Interaction of beaver and elk herbivory reduces standing crop of willow. Ecological Applications 15:110-118.
- BALDWIN, J. 2013. Problematizing beaver habitat identification models for reintroduction application in the western United States. Yearbook of the Association of Pacific Coast Geographers 75:104-120.
- BARNETT, T. P., D. W. PIERCE, H. G. HIDALGO, C. BONFILS, B. D. SANTER, T. DAS, G. BALA, A. W. WOOD, T. NOZAWA, A. A. MIRIN, AND D. R. CAYAN. 2008. Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the western United States. Science 319:1080-1083.
- BATES, J. W. 1963. The effects of beaver on streamflow. Job Completion Report, Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Project W-65-R, Job c-3g. Utah Department of Fish and Game, Salt Lake City, USA.
- BEEDLE, D. 1991. Physical dimensions and hydrologic effects of beaver ponds on Kuiu Island in southeast Alaska. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, USA.
- BIGLER, W., D. R. BUTLER, AND R. W. DIXON. 2001. Beaver-pond sequence morphology and sedimentation in northwestern Montana. Physical Geography 22:531-540.
- BONFILS, C., P. B. DUFFY, B. D. SANTER, T. M. L. WIGLEY, D. B. LOBELL, T. J. PHILLIPS, AND C. DOUTRIAUX. 2008. Identification of external influences on temperatures in California.

Climate Change 87(Supplement 1):S43-S55.

- BROWN, G. W., AND J. T. KRYGIER. 1970. Effects of clearcutting on stream temperature. Water Resources Research 6:1133-1140.
- BROWN, S., AND S. FOUTY. 2011. Beaver wetlands. Lakeline Spring:34-39. Available from: http://www.beaversww.org/assets/PDFs/Brownrevised.pdf
- BUSHER, P. E., R. WARNER, AND S. H. JENKINS. 1983. Population density, colony composition, and local movements in two Sierra Nevada beaver populations. Journal of Mammalogy 64:314-318.
- BUTLER, D. R., AND G. P. MALANSON. 1994. Beaver landforms. Canadian Geographer/Le Geographe Canadian 38:76-79.
- BUTLER, D. R., AND G. P. MALANSON. 1995. Sedimentation rates and patterns in beaver ponds in a mountain environment. Geomorphology 13:255-269.
- CAWLEY, K. 2011. Statistical analysis of selected Feather River coordinated resource management stream flow data. A report to the Feather River CRM. Available from http://www.plumascorporation.org/uploads/4/0/5/5/40554561/statreport2011.pdf
- CAYAN, D. R., E. P. MAURER, M. D. DETTINGER, M. TYREE, AND K. HAYHOE. 2008. Climate change scenarios for the California region. Climate Change 87 (Supplement 1):21-42. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-007-9377-6
- CAYAN, D. R., AND L. RIDDLE. 1992. Atmospheric circulation and precipitation in the Sierra Nevada: proceedings, international symposium on managing water resources during global change. American Water Resources Association Meeting, Reno, Nevada, November 1-5.
- CHRISTIAN, T. 2013. A study of beaver pond morphology and site characteristics after disturbance in eastern Glacier National Park. M.S. Thesis, Texas State University, San Marcos, USA.
- COSTA-CABRAL, M., R. COATS, J. REUTER, J. RIVERSON, G. SAHOO, G. SCHLADOW, B. WOLFE, S.B. ROY, AND L. CHEN. 2013. Climate variability and change in mountain environments: some implications for water resources and water quality in the Sierra Nevada (USA). Climatic Change 116:1-14.
- COSTA-CABRAL, M., S. B. ROY, E. P. MAURER, W. B. MILLS, AND L. CHEN. 2012. Snowpack and runoff response to climate change in Owens Valley and Mono Lake watersheds. Climate Change 116:97-109.
- DAS, T., E. P. MAURER, D. W. PIERCE, M. D. DETTINGER, AND D. R. CAYAN. 2013. Increases in flood magnitudes in California under warming climates. Journal of Hydrology 501:101-110.
- DAS, T., M. D. DETTINGER, D. R. CAYAN, AND H. G. HIDALGO. 2011. Potential increase in floods in California's Sierra Nevada under future climate projections. Climatic Change 109 (Supplement 1):S71-S94.
- DAS, T., G. HUGO, M. D. HIDALGO, D. R. DETTINGER, D. W. CAYAN, C. B. PIERCE, T. P. BARNETT, G. BALA, AND A. MIRIN. 2009. Structure and detectability of trends in hydrological measures over the Western US. Hydrometeorology 10:871-892.
- DEBANO, L. F. AND B. H. HEEDE. 1987. Enhancement of riparian ecosystems with channel structures. Water Resources Bulletin 23:463-470.
- DIFFENBAUGH, N. S., D. L. SWAIN, AND D. TOUMA. 2015. Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112:3931-3936.
- DEMMER, R., AND R. L. BESCHTA. 2008. Recent history (1988-2004) of beaver dams along

Bridge Creek in central Oregon. Northwest Science 32:309-318.

- DeVRIES, P., K. L. FETHERSTON, A. VITALE, AND S. MADSEN. 2012. Emulating riverine landscape controls of beaver in stream restoration. Fisheries 37:246-255.
- DOMINGUEZ, F., E. RIVERA, D. P. LETTENMAIER, AND C. L. CASTRO. 2012. Changes in winter precipitation extremes for the western United States under a warmer climate as simulated by regional climate models. Geophysical Research Letters 39:L05803.
- DONKOR, N. T., AND J. M. FRYXELL. 2000. Lowland boreal forests characterization in Algonquin Provincial Park relative to beaver (*Castor canadensis*) foraging and edaphic factors. Plant Ecology 148:1-12.
- EATON, J. G., AND R. M. SCHELLER. 1996. Effects of climate warming on fish thermal habitat in streams of the United States. Limnologic Oceanography 41:1109-1115.
- EHRMAN, T. P., AND G. A. LAMBERTI. 1992. Hydraulic and particulate matter retention in a 3rd-order Indiana stream. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 11:341-349.
- EMMONS, J. 2011. Quantifying the restorable water volume of Sierran meadows. M.A. Thesis, University of California, Davis, USA.
- FINLEY, W. L. 1937. Beaver—conserver of soil and water. Transactions of the North American Wildlife Conference 2:295-297.
- FREEMAN, G. 2010. Tracking the impact of climate change on central and northern California's spring snowmelt sub-basin runoff. Paper presented to Western Snow Conference 2010. Available from: http://www.plumascorporation.org/ uploads/4/0/5/5/40554561/freeman2010.pdf
- FREEMAN, M. C., Z. H. BOWEN, K. D. BOVEE, AND E. R. IRWIN. 2001. Flow and habitat effects on juvenile fish abundance in natural and altered flow regimes. Ecological Applications 11:179-190.
- GASITH, A., AND V. H. RESH. 1999. Streams in Mediterranean climate regions: abiotic influences and biotic responses to predictable seasonal events. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 30:51-81.
- GIBSON, P. P., AND J. D. OLDEN. 2014. Ecology, management, and conservation implications of North American beaver (*Castor canadensis*) in dryland streams. Aquatic Conservation: Marine Freshwater Ecosystems 24:391-409.
- HAMLET, A. F., AND D. P. LETTENMAIER. 2005. Production of temporally consistent gridded precipitation and temperature fields for the continental US. Journal of Hydrometeorology 6:330-336.
- HAMMERSMARK, C. T., M. C. RAINS, AND J. F. MOUNT. 2008. Quantifying the hydrological effects of stream restoration in a montane meadow, northern California, USA. River Research and Applications 24:735-753.
- HAYHOE, K., D. CAYAN, C. V. B. FIELD, ET AL. 2004. Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. Proceedings of the National Academy of the Sciences 101:12422-12427.
- HIDALGO, H. G., T. DAS, M. D. DETTINGER, D. R. CAYAN, D. W. PIERCE, T. P. BARNETT, G. BALA, A. MIRIN, A. W. WOOD, C. BONFILS, B. D. SANTER, AND T. NOZAWA. 2009. Detection and attribution of climate change in streamflow timing of the western United States. Journal of Climate 22:3838-3855.
- HILL, B., J. HOFFMAN, AND K. CORNWELL. 2011. Groundwater discharge to restored and unrestored meadows: a study in Red Clover watershed. Available from: http:// www.feather-river-crm.org/pdf/SeepageRunPoster.pdf

- HOFFMAN, J., K. ROBY, AND B. BOHM. 2013. Effects of meadow restoration on stream flow in the Feather River watershed: a review based on monitoring data and pertinent research. Available from: http://www.feather-river-crm.org/pdf/PPlug\_FlowSummary Final June2013.pdf
- HOFFMAN, J., A. DUENAS, K. GARDINER, ET AL. 2010. The pond-and-plug treatment for stream and meadow restoration: resource benefits and risks, design considerations. A briefing paper for Plumas National Forest deciding officials and resource specialists. Available from: http://www.wetlandrestorationandtraining.com/wp-content/ uploads/2014/07/Pond-Plug-Treatment-for-Stream-Meadow-Restoration.pdf
- HOOD, G. A., S. E. BAYLEY, AND W. OLSON. 2007. Effects of prescribed fire on habitat of beaver (*Castor canadensis*) in Elk Island National Park, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 239:200-209.
- ICE, G. G., D. G. NEARY, AND P. W. ADAMS. 2004. Effects of wildfire on soils and watershed processes. Journal of Forestry 102:16-20.
- Ives, R. L. 1942. The beaver meadow complex. The Journal of Geomorphology 5:191-203.
- JAGER, H. I., W. VAN WINKLE, AND B. D. HOLCOMB. 1999. Would hydrologic climate changes in Sierra Nevada streams influence trout persistence? Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 128:222-240.
- JAMES, D., AND R. B. LANMAN. 2012. Novel physical evidence that beaver historically were native to the Sierra Nevada. California Fish and Game 98:129-132.
- JOHNSTON, C. A., AND R. J. NAIMAN. 1987. Boundary dynamics at the aquatic-terrestrial interface: the influence of beaver and geomorphology. Landscape Ecology 1:47-57.
- JOWETT, I. G., J. RICHARDSON, M. L. BONNETT. 2005. Relationship between flow regime and fish abundances in a gravel-bed river. New Zealand. Journal of Fish Biology 66:1419-1436.
- KAPNICK, S., AND A. HALL. 2009. Observed changes in the Sierra Nevada snow pack: potential causes and concerns. Public Interest Energy Research Technical Report CEC-500-2009-016-F. California Energy Commission, Sacramento, USA.
- KLOTZ, R. L. 1998. Influence of beaver ponds on the phosphorus concentration of stream water. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55:1228-1235.
- KNOWLES, N., M. DETTINGER, AND D. CAYAN 2006. Trends in snowfall versus rainfall for the Western United States. Journal of Climate 19:4545-4559.
- KUPFERBERG, S. J. 1996. Hydrologic and geomorphic factors affecting conservation of a river-breeding frog (*Rana boylii*). Ecological Applications 6:1332-1344.
- KUPFERBERG, S. J., A. J. LIND, S. M. YARNELL, J. F. MOUNT. 2008. Pulsed flow effects on the foothill yellow-legged frog (*Rana boylii*): integration of empirical, experimental and hydrodynamic modeling approaches. Public Interest Energy Research Technical Report CEC 500-2009-002. California Energy Commission, Sacamento, USA.
- LANGHANS, S. D., AND K. TOCKNER. 2006. The role of timing, duration, and frequency of inundation in controlling leaf litter decomposition in a river-floodplain ecosystem (Tagliamento, northeastern Italy). Oecologia 147:501-509.
- LANMAN, C. W., K. LUNDQUIST, H. PERRYMAN, J. E. ASARIAN, B. DOLMAN, R. B. LANMAN, AND M. POLLOCK. 2013. The historical range of beaver (*Castor canadensis*) in coastal California: an updated review of the evidence. California Fish and Game 99:193-221.
- LAUTZ, L. K., D. I. SIEGEL, AND R. L. BAUER. 2006. Impact of debris dams on hyporheic interaction along a semi-arid stream. Hydrological Processes 20:183-196.
- LIGON, F. K., W. E. DIETRICH, AND W. J. TRUSH. 1995. Downstream ecological effects of dams. BioScience 45:183-192.
- LIND, A. J., H. H. WELSH, AND R. A. WILSON. 1996. The effects of a dam on breeding habitat and egg survival of the foothill yellow-legged frog (*Rana boylii*) in northwestern California. Herpetological Review 27:62-67.
- LITTLE. A. M., G. R. GUNTENSPERGEN, AND T. H. F. ALLEN. 2012. Wetland vegetation dynamics in response to beaver (*Castor canadensis*) activity at multiple scales. Ecoscience 19:246-257.
- LOHEIDE. S. P., R. S. DEITCHMAN, D. J. COOPER, E. C. WOLF, C. T. HAMMERSMARK, AND J. D. LUNDQUIST. 2009. A framework for understanding the hydroecology of impacted wet meadows in the Sierra Nevada and Cascade Ranges, California, USA. Hydrogeology 17:229-246.
- LOWRY, M. 1993. Groundwater elevations and temperature adjacent to a beaver pond in central Oregon. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, USA.
- LOWRY, M. AND R. BESCHTA. 1994. Effects of a beaver pond on groundwater elevation and temperature in a recovering stream system. Pages 503-513 in R. Marston AND V. R. Hasfurther, editors. Effects of human-induced changes on hydrologic systems. American Water Resources Association. Middleburg, Virgina, USA.
- LYTLE, D. A., AND N. L POFF. 2004. Adaptation to natural flow regimes. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 19:94-100.
- MARCHETTI, M. P., AND P. B. MOYLE. 2001. Effects of flow regime on fish assemblages in a regulated California stream. Ecological Applications 11:530-539.
- MARET, T. J., T. M. PARKER, AND T. E. FANIN. 1987. The effect of beaver ponds on nonpoint source water quality of a stream in southern Wyoming. Water Research 21:263.
- MAURER, E. P., I. T. STEWART, C. BONFILS, P. B. DUFFY, AND D. CAYAN. 2007. Detection, attribution, and sensitivity of trends toward earlier streamflow in the Sierra Nevada. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 112:12.
- McCullough, D. A. 1999. A review and synthesis of effects of alterations to the water temperature regime on freshwater life stages of salmonids, with special reference to Chinook salmon. EPA Report 910-R-99-010. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Seattle, Washington, USA.
- MEENTEMEYER, R., AND D. R. BUTLER. 1999. Hydrogeomorphic effects of beaver dams in Glacier National Park, Montana. Physical Geography 20:436-446.
- MOIR, H. J., C. N. GIBBINS, C. SOULSBY, AND J. H. WEBB. 2006. Discharge and hydraulic interactions in contrasting channel morphologies and their influence on site utilization by spawning Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63:2567-2585.
- MOSER, S., J. EKSTROM, AND G. FRANCO. 2012. Our changing climate 2012. Vulnerability and adaptation to the increasing risks from climate change in California. California Climate Change Center. Available from: http://www.energy. ca.gov/2012publications/CEC-500-2012-007/CEC-500-2012-007.pdf
- MYRICK, C. A., AND J. J. CECH. 2001. Temperature effects on chinook salmon and steelhead: a review focusing on California's Central Valley populations. Bay-Delta Modeling Forum Technical Publication 01-1. Available from: http://www.cwemf.org/Pubs/ TempReview.pdf
- NAIMAN, R. J., G. PINAY, C. A. JOHNSTON, AND J. PASTOR. 1994. Beaver influences on the

long-term biogeochemical characteristics of boreal forest drainage networks. Ecology 75:905-921.

- NAIMAN, R. J., AND J. M. MELILLO. 1984. Nitrogen budget a subarctic stream altered by beaver. Oecologia 62:150.
- NAIMAN, R. J., J. M. MELILLO, AND J. E. HOBBIE. 1986. Ecosystem alteration of boreal forest streams by beaver (*Castor canadensis*). Ecology 67:1254-1269.
- NAKANO, S., H. MIYASAKA, AND N. KUHARA. 1999. Terrestrial-aquatic linkages: riparian arthropod inputs alter trophic cascades in a stream food web. Ecology 80:2435-2441.
- NEIMAN, P. J., F. M. RALPH, G. A. WICK, J .D. LUNDQUIST, AND M. D. DETTINGER. 2007. Meteorological characteristics and overland precipitation impacts of atmospheric rivers affecting the west coast of North America based on eight years of SSM/I. Journal of Hydrometeorology 9:22-47.
- NORTON, J. B., H. R. OLSEN, L. J. JUNGST, D. E. LEGG, AND W. R. HORWATH. 2014. Soil carbon and nitrogen storage in alluvial wet meadows of the southern Sierra Nevada Mountains, USA. Journal of Soils and Sediments 14:34-43.
- NULL, S. E., J. H. VIERS, M. L. DEAS, S. K. TANAKA, AND J. E. MOUNT. 2013. Stream temperature sensitivity to climate warming in California's Sierra Nevada: impacts to coldwater habitat. Climatic Change 116:149-170.
- PAETZOLD, A., C. YOSHIMURA, AND K. TOCKNER. 2008. Riparian arthropod responses to flow regulation and river channelization. Journal of Applied Ecology 45:894-903.
- PARKER, G., C. M. TORO-ESCOBAR, M. RAMEY, AND S. BECK. 2003. Effect of floodwater extraction on mountain stream morphology. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 129:885-895.
- PARKER, M. 1986. Beaver, water quality, and riparian systems. Wyoming water and streamside zone conferences. Wyoming Research Center, University of Wyoming, Laramie, USA.
- PERSICO, L., AND G. MEYER. 2009. Holocene beaver damming, fluvial geomorphology, and climate in Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming. Quaternary Research 71:340-353.
- PETERSON, T. C., R. R. HEIM, R. HIRSCH, ET AL. 2013. Monitoring and understanding changes in heat waves, cold waves, floods and droughts in the United States: state of knowledge. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94:821-834.
- PIERCE, D. W., T. P. BARNETT, G. BALA, ET AL. 2008. Detection and attribution of streamflow timing changes to climate change in the western United States. Journal of Climate 22:3838-3855.
- PIERCE, D. W., T. DAS, D. R. CAYAN, ET AL. 2013. Probabilistic estimates of future changes in California temperature and precipitation using statistical and dynamical downscaling. Climate Dynamics 40:839-856.
- POLLOCK, M. M., J. M. WHEATON, N. BOUWES, C. VOLK, N. WEBER, AND C. E. JORDAN. 2012. Working with beaver to restore salmon habitat in the Bridge Creek intensively monitored watershed: design rationale and hypotheses. NOAA Technical Memo NMFS-NWFSC-120. Available from: http://www.nwfsc.noaa.gov/research/ divisions/fe/documents/NMFS-NWFSC-120.pdf
- POLLOCK, M. M., T. J. BEECHIE, AND C. E. JORDAN. 2007. Geomorphic changes upstream of beaver dams in Bridge Creek, an incised stream in the interior Columbia River basin. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 32:1174-1185.
- POLLOCK, M. M., M. HEIM, AND D. WERNER. 2003. Hydrologic and geomorphic effects of

beaver dams and their influence on fishes. American Fisheries Society Symposium 23:213-233.

- PONCE, V., AND D. LINDQUIST. 1990. Management of baseflow augmentation: a review. Water Resources Bulletin 26:259-268.
- RALPH, F. M., P. J. NEIMAN, G. A. WICK, S. I. GUTMAN, M. D. DETTINGER, D. R. CAYAN, AND A. B. WHITE. 2006. Flooding on California's Russian River: role of atmospheric rivers. Geophysical Research Letters 33, L13801. Available from: http://dx.doi. org/10.1029/2006GL026689
- RIPPLE, W. J. AND E. J. LARSEN. 2000. Historic aspen recruitment, elk, and wolves in northern Yellowstone National Park, USA. Biological Conservation 95:361-370.
- ROOD, S. B., J. M. MAHONEY, D. E. REID, AND L. ZILM. 1995. Instream flows and the decline of riparian cottonwoods along the St. Mary River, Alberta. Canadian Journal of Botany 73:1250-1260.
- RUEDEMANN, R., AND W. J. SCHOONMAKER. 1938. Beaver dams as geologic agents. Science 2:523-525.
- SCHEFFER, P. M. 1938. The beaver as an upstream engineer. Soil Conservation 3:178-181.
- SETON, E. T. 1953. Lives of game animals (beaver). Volume 4:442-50. Branford, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- SHAFROTH, P. B., J. C. STROMBERG, AND D. T. PATTEN. 2002. Riparian vegetation response to altered disturbance and stress regimes. Ecological Applications 12:107-123.
- SHAFROTH, P. B., G. T. AUBLE, J. C. STROMBERG, AND D. T. PATTEN. 1998. Establishment of woody riparian vegetation in relation to annual patterns of streamflow, Bill Williams River, Arizona. Wetlands 18:577-590.
- SHIELDS, F. D., A. SIMON, AND L. J. STEFFEN. 2000. Reservoir effects on downstream river channel migration. Environmental Conservation 27:54-66.
- SMITH, B. H. 1980. Not all beaver are bad; or, the ecosystem approach to stream habitat management. Rocky Mountain Regional Soil-Water-Air Workshop. Jackson, Wyoming, USA.
- SMITH, D. 2007. Beaver, willow shrubs, and floods. Pages 603-671 in E. A. Johnson and K. Miyanishi, editors. Plant disturbance ecology: the process and response. Elsevier, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- SMITH, L. H. 1938. Beaver and its possibilities in water regulation. University of Idaho Bulletin 33:85-88.
- STABLER, D. F. 1985. Increasing summer flow in small streams through management of riparian areas and adjacent vegetation — a synthesis. General Technical Report RM-120:206-210. USDA Forest Service, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.
- STEWART, I. T., D. R. CAYAN, AND M. D. DETTINGER. 2005. Changes towards earlier streamflow timing across western North America. Journal of Climate 18:1136-1155.
- STEWART, I. T., D. R. CAYAN, AND M. D. DETTINGER. 2004. Changes in snowmelt runoff timing in western North America under a "business as usual" climate change scenario. Climate Change 62:217-232.
- TAGUE, C., S. VALENTINE, AND M. KOTCHEN. 2008. Effect of geomorphic channel restoration on streamflow and groundwater in a snow melt dominated watershed. Water Resource Research 44:W10415.
- TAPPE, D. T. 1942. The status of beavers in California. Game Bulletin 3:1-60.
- TRIMBLE, T., AND S. ALBERT. 2000. Beavers are partners in riparian restoration on the Zuni

Indian Reservation. Ecological Restoration 18:87-92.

- VAN STEETE, M. M., AND J. PITLICK. 1998. Geomorphology and endangered fish habitats of the upper Colorado River 1. Historic changes in streamflow, sediment load, and channel morphology. Water Resources Research 34:287-302.
- VIERS, J. H., S. E. PURDY, R. A. PEEK, A. FRYJOFF-HUNG, N. R. SANTOS, J. V. E. KATZ, J. D. EMMONS, D. V. DOLAN, AND S. M. YARNELL. 2013. Montane meadows in the Sierra Nevada: changing hydroclimatic conditions and concepts for vulnerability assessment. Center for Watershed Sciences Technical Report CWS-2013-01. University of California, Davis, USA.
- WALSH, J., D. WUEBBLES, K. HAYHOE, ET AL. 2014. Pages 19-67 in J. M. Melillo, T. C. Richmond, and G. W. Yohe (editors). Our changing climate. Climate change impacts in the United States. The Third National Climate Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, D.C., USA. Available from: http://nca2014. globalchange.gov/report/our-changing-climate/introduction
- WEHNER, M. F. 2013. Very extreme seasonal precipitation in the NARCCAP ensemble: model performance and projections. Climate Dynamics 40:59-80.
- WESTBROOK, C. J., D. J. COOPER, AND B. W. BAKER. 2010. Beaver assisted river valley formation. River Research Applications 27:247-256.
- WESTBROOK, C. J., D. J. COOPER, AND B. W. BAKER. 2006. Beaver dams and overbank floods influence groundwater-surface water interactions of a Rocky Mountain riparian area. Water Resources Research 42:1-12.
- WESTERLING, A. L., B. P. BRYANT, H. K. PREISLER, T. P. HOLMES, H. G. HIDALGO, T. DAS, AND S. R. SHRESTHA. 2011. Climate change and growth scenarios for California wildfire. Climatic Change 109 (Supplement 1):S445-S463.
- YARNELL, S. M., J. H. VIERS, AND J. F. MOUNT. 2010. Ecology and management of the spring snowmelt recession. BioScience 60:114-127.
- YEAGER, L. E., AND R. A. HILL. 1954. Beaver management problems on western public lands. Transactions of the North American Wildlife Conference 19:462-479.

Received 24 December 2014 Accepted 22 July 2015 Associate Editor was S. Osborn

# Importance of the stream-estuary ecotone to juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) in Humboldt Bay, California

MICHAEL WALLACE\*, SETH RICKER, JUSTIN GARWOOD, ADAM FRIMODIG, AND STAN ALLEN

California Department of Fish and Wildlife, North Coast Region, 5341 Ericson Way, Arcata, CA 95521, USA (MW and JG)

California Department of Fish and Wildlife, North Coast Region, 50 Ericson Ct., Arcata, CA 95521, USA (SR)

California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Marine Region, 619 2nd St., Eureka, CA 95501, USA (AF)

Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission, 205 SE Spokane St., Suite 100, Portland, OR 97202, USA (SA)

\*Correspondent: mike.wallace@wildlife.ca.gov

Recent studies have shown the broad role estuaries plays in juvenile coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) life history; however, most of these studies were limited to the Pacific Northwest and did not include information from the southern end of its range in California. We sampled the stream-estuary ecotone (SEE) of numerous Humboldt Bay tributaries from 2003 to 2011 to document use by juvenile coho salmon. We sampled fish using seine nets and baited minnow traps and found that young-ofthe-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon reared primarily in freshwater or tidal freshwater habitat in the SEE. We detected three basic life history strategies employed by juvenile coho salmon regarding their use of the SEE. The first group were YOY fish that arrived in the spring and resided mostly in mainstem channel habitat in the summer and early fall; the second group of nearly 1+ fish arrived after the first large stream flow event in the fall and resided extensively in smaller tributary and off-channel habitat during the winter and spring; and finally a third group of stream-reared 1+ coho salmon emigrated through the SEE quickly during the following spring. Juvenile coho salmon resided in the SEE an average of one to two months but some individuals reared there for over a year. We found that about 40% of the coho salmon smolt production from Freshwater Creek, Humboldt Bay's largest tributary, originated

from the SEE. Juvenile coho salmon rearing in the SEE were larger than their cohorts rearing in stream habitat upstream of the SEE. Our results demonstrate that juvenile coho salmon utilize portions of the Humboldt Bay SEE in ways similar to those reported in Pacific Northwest estuaries, and suggest that the SEE of Humboldt Bay provides quality rearing habitat—especially over winter rearing habitat—for those juveniles. By incorporating this knowledge into habitat restoration plans we can design effective habitat restoration projects to improve habitat conditions and non-natal rearing for juvenile coho salmon.

Key words: coho salmon, estuaries, Humboldt Bay, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*, over winter rearing habitat

Estuaries have long been known as important habitat for juvenile Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) (Reimers 1971, Healey 1982, Kjelson et al. 1982, Simenstad et al. 1982, Healey 1991) and coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki clarki*) (Northcote 1997, Trotter 1997) but until recently have not been thought to be important to coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Though coho salmon were shown to use estuarine habitat in limited geographic areas (Tschaplinski 1982), the traditional model of their life cycle was that juveniles were born and resided in freshwater for a year or more, migrated quickly through the estuary to the sea as smolts, reared there for 18 months or more, and then returned to their stream of origin as adults to spawn and die (Sandercock 1991). Recently biologists have begun to appreciate the broader role that estuarine habitat plays among juvenile coho salmon over much of their range (Miller and Sadro 2003, Koski 2009, Craig 2010, Jones et al. 2014). However, estuarine habitat use by coho salmon has not been described at the southern end of their range in California where the species is listed as threatened under both state and federal endangered species acts (Federal Register 1997, CDFG 2002).

Simenstad et al. (1982) hypothesized that estuaries provided an advantage to rearing juvenile salmonids by providing a productive foraging area, refuge from predators, and an area to gradually shift from freshwater to marine habitats. For salmonids other than coho salmon, faster growth in the estuary and larger size at ocean entrance has been shown to account for increased marine survival (Nicholas and Hankin 1989, Northcote 1997, Pearcy 1997, Trotter 1997, Bond et al. 2008). For example, California steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) populations use estuarine habitats for months at a time primarily to acclimate, forage, and grow (Bond et al. 2008). Holtby et al. (1990) reported, however, that size at ocean entry can be particularly important for coho salmon during periods of low ocean productivity. Potential survival benefits to coho salmon have largely been inferred from these studies, but coho salmon have substantially different life histories and, therefore, estuary use patterns that potentially differ from those of other salmonid species.

Recent studies have identified the importance of the greater transition zone, or ecotone (Odum 1971), between fresh and brackish water to juvenile salmonids (Miller and Sadro 2003, Koski 2009, Jones et al. 2014). Miller and Sadro (2003) defined this streamestuary ecotone (SEE), and we adapt their definitions, to include the area of low gradient stream extending from stream entrance to the wide valley floor, through the upper limit of tidal influence downstream to the area where the channel becomes bordered by tidal mudflats.

This definition of the SEE includes all side channels, off channel ponds, tidal channels, and fringing marsh habitats that are accessible to fish for at least some portion of the tidal cycle.

Habitat quality is best defined as the benefit to survival or reproduction that an organism receives from using the habitat (Rosenfeld et al. 2005), and is often evaluated relative to other potential or available habitats. Understanding of the quality of differing habitats and its relative abundance on the landscape is requisite for informed resource management and targeted restoration. This is especially true for the freshwater rearing phase of juvenile coho salmon, where rearing areas can be dynamic over both time and space within a watershed, and multiple life history pathways potentially contribute differentially to the reproductive population (Jones et al. 2014, Nordholm 2014).

Generally, to consider the Humboldt Bay SEE as relatively high quality habitat for coho salmon one or more of the following should be true: coho salmon have prolonged residence in the SEE; multiple life stages of coho salmon use the SEE; a substantial portion of the population uses the SEE; the SEE provides productive foraging, resulting in increased growth rates or larger size; and the SEE supports coho salmon during stressful periods (i.e., summer, periods of drought, or winter high flows. We provide information to infer relative habitat quality of the SEE in tributaries of the Humboldt Bay watershed by presenting information regarding juvenile coho salmon movement and residence times (Winker et al. 1995), size at time or individual growth (Holtby et al. 1990), and habitat use (Rosenfeld 2003), and comparing this to similar information from riverine habitats upstream of the SEE. The goal of this paper is to describe the use of portions of the Humboldt Bay SEE by coho salmon and to demonstrate their patterns of estuarine use are similar to other populations in the Pacific Northwest as described by other researchers such as Miller and Sadro (2003) and Koski (2009).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area.-Humboldt Bay is located 442 km north of San Francisco, California, and its watershed area is 578 km<sup>2</sup> (HBWAC 2005). The two largest tributaries entering Humboldt Bay are Freshwater Creek with a drainage area of 9,227 ha<sup>2</sup> and Elk River with a drainage area of 8,632 ha<sup>2</sup> (HBWAC 2005). Many smaller tributaries, sloughs, and tidal streams contribute to a complex and dynamic hydrological regime in drainages around the bay (Figure 1). We defined sloughs as bodies of water with very low flow velocities and very low gradients regardless of tidal influence. We also characterized areas that experience changes in tidal heights, but are upstream of the influence of saltwater, as tidal freshwater. Tide gates are common on tributaries and sloughs entering Humboldt Bay, with 79 identified from a recent U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS 2007) inventory. The lower portions of most streams entering Humboldt Bay flow through agricultural lands (primarily cattle grazing) and are characterized by low gradient, tidal ranges of 2-3 m, limited riparian vegetation, and confinement within levees. Physical conditions in Humboldt Bay tributaries such as saltwater intrusion show a high degree of annual, seasonal, and daily variation due to changes in stream flow and tidal inundation. The lower 2-4 km of Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs experience fluctuations in tidal height up to 3 m, and brackish water (25–30 ppt) is usually present from late spring through the early fall. Water temperatures of 20–25° C occur during the summer in the lower portion of Freshwater Creek Slough due to water heating up while on the mudflats during low tides, and limited tidal circulation (Wallace 2006, Wallace and Allen 2015).

The tidal freshwater portions of most of the tributaries have water temperatures <18° C, and are maintained within confined channels (some within levees) having dense stands of riparian vegetation dominated by willow (*Salix* sp.) and alder (*Alnus* sp.). Lack of water turbulence and wind mixing in the freshwater-saltwater interface zone commonly results in a stratified water column with freshwater near the surface overlaying a wedge of brackish water near the bottom (Wallace 2006, Wallace and Allen 2015). Freshwater Creek Slough and Elk River Slough contain tidal slough habitat as they near Humboldt Bay, non-tidal low gradient stream habitat flowing through broad valleys upstream of the estuaries and higher gradient streams in steep canyons in the upper part of the watersheds (Figures 1 and 2). In Freshwater Creek the upstream end of the SEE is near the Howard's Heights



FIGURE 1.—Location of Humboldt Bay tributaries including demarcations of lower vs. upper sloughs in Freshwater Creek and Elk River along with Martin Slough and Wood Creek sampling areas Humboldt County, California. Lower and upper Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs are shown in yellow and red, respectively, and Martin Slough, Wood Creek, and Ryan Creek Slough are shown in blue.

downstream migrant trap (Figure 2). Smaller tributaries included in this study include Wood Creek, Martin Slough, and Rocky Gulch. These tributaries are within or proximal to Freshwater Creek, Elk River, and Jacoby Creek, respectively (Figures 1 and 2), which are the primary source populations of coho salmon in the Humboldt Bay watershed. Habitat conditions and land use of the small tributaries are similar to those described above. The largest tributary entering Freshwater Creek Slough is Ryan Creek (Figure 2). We did not sample this stream, but we did detect coho salmon tagged by Green Diamond Resources Company (described below) that emigrated from Ryan Creek into the lower Freshwater Creek watershed.

Seining and minnow trapping.—We sampled two large and three small Humboldt Bay tributaries, with a variety of gear, sampling frequencies, and time periods from 2003



FIGURE 2.—Freshwater Creek basin showing locations of major tributaries, Howard Heights downstream migrant traps at the head of the broad valley floor, the Humboldt Fish Action Council (HFAC) fish trap in the streamestuary ecotone, and PIT-tag antennas on Wood Creek, Humboldt County, California. Upstream extent of the SEE is located between Howard Heights Trap and McCready Gulch.

to 2011 (Table 1). In the slough portions of Freshwater Creek and Elk River we stratified sampling between the upper and lower sloughs due to differences in water salinity and the need to use different types of gear in the two sections of those sloughs. The stratification was necessary due to the presence of heavy riparian vegetation in the upper sloughs that required field crews to use a smaller seine net than that used to sample the larger water area in the lower sloughs. This is also the general area where riparian vegetation started to appear, representing a boundary between primarily estuarine and tidal freshwater habitat.

Location	Method	Frequency	Duration
Large streams			
Freshwater Creek			
upper	9-m seine	weekly	2003-2011
lower	30-m seine	weekly	2003-2009
Elk River		-	
upper	9-m seine	weekly	2005-2010
lower	30-m seine	weekly	2005-2010
Small streams		-	
Rocky Gulch	9-m seine; minnow trap	monthly	2007-2010
Wood Creek	minnow trap	monthly	2007-2011
Wood Cr. Pond	30-m seine	monthly	2009-2011
Martin Slough	9- & 30-m seines; minnow trap	monthly	2007-2010

**TABLE 1.**—Sampling locations, methods, frequency, and duration conducted by this project in Humboldt Bay tributaries, Humboldt County, California, 2003–2011.

We located sites to sample the slough continuum from the mouth to the upstream end of tidal influence. We chose individual seine sites based on the ability to pull a seine net through them and minnow trap sites in areas having perceived fish cover. We established six sampling sites in the upper slough of Freshwater Creek and four sites in upper Elk River Slough; those sloughs were 1.3 km and 1.7 km in length, respectively. Field crews made two hauls per sampling site using a 9.1 m  $\times$  1.8 m  $\times$  6.4-mm mesh beach seine. We established seven sampling sites in the lower slough of Freshwater Creek and five sites in lower Elk River Slough, and they were 8.5 km and 5.5 km in length respectively. Field crews made one seine haul per site using a  $30.5 \text{ m} \times 2.4 \text{ m}$  beach seine (mesh size of the wings was 19.1 mm and the bag was 1.5 m deep with 6.4-mm mesh) deployed by hand or boat. In the small tributaries we used a variety of sampling gear (Table 1). In Rocky Gulch, crews made two hauls at one site with the 9.1-m seine and deployed minnow traps baited with frozen salmon roe for 30 to 210 min at locations where seine hauls were precluded due to steep banks and heavy vegetation. In Wood Creek we deployed baited minnow traps for 30 to 210 min at sites. We made one to two hauls with the 30.5-m seine in a constructed pond connected to the Wood Creek channel. In Martin Slough we used the 30.5-m seine set by hand or kayak to sample a large pond, the 9.1-m seine to sample the slough channel, and baited minnow traps were deployed for 30 to 210 min where seine hauls were precluded due to steep banks and heavy vegetation.

*Fish processing.*—Field crews anaesthetized, identified, counted, and examined all juvenile coho salmon for marks and tags and determined life stage (i.e., parr, pre-smolt, smolt) of yearling plus (1+) coho salmon. We designated coho salmon as young-of-the-year (YOY) until the end of the calendar year after which we designated them as 1+. We distinguished 1+ from YOY coho salmon based on their greater fork length (FL). Crews

measured FL to the nearest mm and weight to the nearest 0.1 g for all juvenile coho salmon except for the rare occasions when the number of fish captured (i.e., >100 fish/site) or environmental conditions, such as high water temperatures or high winds made it dangerous for the fish or for field crews to process the fish.

All fish with tags or marks were measured for FL, weighed, and their mark or tag number was recorded. We applied Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tags to untagged juvenile coho salmon by making a small incision along the ventral surface and inserting the tag into the body cavity. All coho salmon  $\geq$ 70 mm FL received an 11.5 mm HDX PIT-tag. Starting in 2008, all coho salmon  $\geq$ 55 mm and  $\geq$ 69 mm FL received an 8.5 mm FDX PIT-tag. We also encountered and processed coho salmon containing PIT-tags applied by other fish monitoring projects in the Freshwater Creek basin (see below in *Data Analysis*). Once processed, the fish were allowed to fully recover for 10–30 min and then released at the sampling site.

Downstream migrant trapping.—In 2007 and 2008 we operated two downstream migrant traps on Freshwater Creek from early March to June to estimate coho salmon smolt production above each site and partition smolt production into that occurring above and between trap placements. The upstream trap was a floating inclined plane trap placed in the mainstem of Freshwater Creek 12.5 km upstream of the mouth where the stream exited steep canyons and entered low stream gradient habitat flowing through broad valley floor (Howards Heights Trap in Figure 2). The downstream trap was a modified adult salmon weir originally installed by the Humboldt Fish Action Council (HFAC) fitted with a pipe trap located in the lower coastal plain 8.5 km above the mouth (HFAC Weir in Figure 2). At this point the stream is usually freshwater but its elevation is strongly influenced by daily tidal cycles and brackish water extends up to this point at high tides during summer and early fall. Captured fish were processed with the same protocol as the SEE sampling, but all PIT-tagged fish were transported above the traps and released to help establish period-specific trap efficiency estimates that were used to expand total catch as an estimate of smolt production (Bjorkstedt 2005, Ricker and Andersen 2014).

*PIT-tag antennas.*—We installed two PIT-tag antenna arrays on Wood Creek, a small tributary entering Freshwater Creek Slough (Figure 2) to document the residence times and origin of PIT-tagged salmonids residing in, or passing by, Wood Creek. The first was placed at the entrance of the newly constructed off-channel pond on 29 January 2010 and the second was installed at the mouth of Wood Creek in the tide gate structure on 22 February 2010; both were operated throughout the length of this study. We installed two independent antennas at each site to discern directional movement in and out of the pond and creek. Each PIT-tag antenna array consisted of a multiplex transceiver (Mauro Engineering) and data logger powered by two 12V batteries that were continuously charged by a solar panel. Antennas were constructed of copper tubing and sealed inside PVC pipe. At the pond site we attached the two antennas to wooden posts driven into the substrate. At the tide gate site we attached wooden tracks to the concrete tide gate structure and slid the antennas into the tracks.

Data analysis.—To assess residency time and growth in the SEE, we included all fish marked either in the SEE, or upstream in the greater basin and later recaptured in the SEE (Figure 2). We calculated length of SEE residence for PIT-tagged fish by combining fish captures and antenna recordings to determine the number of days between tagging or first detection in the SEE and last recapture or detection date. Calculated growth rates were

simply the change in FL between date of tagging or first capture and date of last recapture divided by the number of days at large between first and last encounter. Mean residence times were not calculated for YOY or 1+ coho salmon when sample sizes were composed of <10 individuals to limit the influence of the occasional individual exhibiting extreme residence time. Growth rates were not calculated for fish-at-large  $\leq$ 12 days to minimize short-term tagging effects on growth rate calculations. The lower downstream migrant trap (HFAC Weir; Figure 2) was also operated as an adult salmonid counting weir by CDFW to obtain annual adult coho salmon run size estimates using mark-recapture techniques (Ricker and Anderson 2011).

We used analysis of variance (ANOVA) to investigate spatial and temporal differences in the mean fork length of coho salmon rearing in different portions of the SEE during the spring, and between the SEE and upper stream network during the fall. Residual plots and length-frequency histograms were examined to detect outliers and to test for violations of ANOVA assumptions (i.e., homoscedasticity and normality).

To analyze differences in 1+ coho salmon FLs in spring, we compared the data collected annually between March 1 and May 29 by basin (freshwater elk), year, and location (slough type) within the SEE. For the fall, we only analyzed Freshwater Creek YOY coho salmon length data because we did not collect any size data from fish upstream of the SEE in Elk River. Furthermore, we collected length data from YOY coho salmon rearing in upper Freshwater Creek basin streams, and in the mid-basin upstream of the SEE, allowing us to compare mean fall fork length throughout the entire stream network from the SEE to headwater reaches. To analyze differences in YOY coho salmon FLs in fall, we compared the data collected annually between September 9 and November 11 by basin, year, and location within SEE. Significance levels were set at P<0.05 and all post-hoc comparisons of groups were performed using Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons (Zar 1999).

### RESULTS

Juvenile coho salmon were widely distributed throughout the sampled portion of the Humboldt Bay SEE. Catches of juvenile coho salmon varied between years and life stage in upper Elk River and Freshwater Creek sloughs (Figure 3). Young-of-the-year coho salmon were present in these large tributaries from roughly April to December with peak catches in June and July, while 1+ coho salmon were present mostly January to June with peak catches in April and May (Figure 3). In upper Freshwater Creek Slough, where we had the longest time series, we used our June catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE) of YOY coho salmon as an index of relative abundance between years and detected large variations in their annual abundance in the SEE (Table 2). We also found that June CPUE of YOY coho salmon was positively correlated ( $r^2 = 0.87$ ) with adult coho salmon escapement from the previous winter (Figure 4).

Seasonality of peak juvenile coho salmon catches also varied between tributary size and life stage. In the larger tributaries, YOY coho salmon comprised a majority of the catches and usually peaked in spring and summer (Table 3) while in small tributaries catches of primarily 1+ coho salmon peaked in the winter when stream flows were high (Table 4). Conversely, the lowest seasonal catches of coho salmon in large streams usually occurred in the winter while the lowest catches of coho salmon in small streams occurred primarily in the summer and fall (Tables 3 and 4). This resulted in a dyssynchronous seasonal pattern of juvenile coho salmon occupation between large and small tributaries (Figure 5).



FIGURE 3.—Catch-per-unit-effort (# of fish/seine haul) of young-of-the-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon from upper Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs, Humboldt County, California, for selected years.

Seine Hauls (n)	Fish Caught (n)	CPUE (fish/haul)
48	478	9.96
60	335	5.58
59	447	7.58
48	161	3.35
48	64	1.33
44	4	0.09
34	106	3.34
10	2	0.20
24	33	1.38
	Seine Hauls ( <i>n</i> ) 48 60 59 48 48 48 44 34 10 24	Seine Hauls $(n)$ Fish Caught $(n)$ 484786033559447481614864444341061022433

**TABLE 2.**—Effort, number captured, and catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE) of young-of-the-year coho salmon in upper Freshwater Creek Slough, Humboldt County, California, during the month of June, 2003–2011.



FIGURE 4.—Relationship between adult coho salmon escapement and subsequent catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE) of young-of-the-year (YOY) coho salmon progeny captured in upper Freshwater Creek Slough, Humboldt County, California, the following June.

Adult Coho Salmon Escapement

**TABLE 3.**—Catch-per-unit-effort of young-of-the-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon captured in Freshwater Creek Slough and Elk River Slough, Humboldt County, California, by season, 2007–2010. Winter is January to March, Spring is April to June, Summer is July to September, and Fall is October to December.

	Freshwa	ater Creek				
	Slo	ugh	Elk Ri	ver Slough	Combine	d Sloughs
Season	1+	YOY	1+	YOY	1+	YOY
Winter 2007	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.00
Spring 2007	1.44	0.92	1.19	2.35	1.35	1.43
Summer 2007	0.01	0.37	0.03	2.97	0.02	1.39
Fall 2007	0.00	0.38	0.00	1.18	0.00	0.70
Winter 2008	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Spring 2008	0.27	0.06	1.36	2.43	0.75	1.10
Summer 2008	0.03	0.04	0.07	3.50	0.04	1.39
Fall 2008	0.00	0.02	0.00	4.31	0.00	1.53
Winter 2009	0.04	0.00	0.64	0.00	0.30	0.00
Spring 2009	0.36	1.57	5.02	3.18	2.31	2.24

	Wood	l Creek	Martin	Slough	Rocky	Gulch	Com	bined
Season	1+	YOY	1+	YOY	1+	YOY	1+	YOY
Winter 2007	86	0	4	0	68	0	158	0
Spring 2007	27	2	71	0	33	1	131	3
Summer 2007	1	16	0	17	0	0	1	33
Fall 2007	0	17	0	24	0	1	0	42
Winter 2008	125	0	68	0	20	0	213	0
Spring 2008	50	0	70	0	16	0	136	0
Summer 2008	0	1	0	13	0	0	0	14
Fall 2008	1	4	0	37	0	0	1	41
Winter 2009	46	0	435	0	28	0	509	0
Spring 2009	19	3	246	1	3	0	268	4
Summer 2009	1	3	17	31	0	0	18	34
Fall 2009	1	3	8	8	0	1	9	12
Winter 2010	140	0	198	0	76	0	414	0
Spring 2010	19	3	83	0	38	0	140	3

**TABLE 4.**—Number of young-of-the-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon captured in Wood Creek, Martin Slough, and Rocky Gulch, Humboldt County, California, by season, 2007–2010. Winter is January to March, Spring is April to June, Summer is July to September, and Fall is October to December.



**FIGURE 5.**—Comparison of the number of yearling plus (1+) and young-of-the-year (YOY) coho salmon captured in minnow traps by season in Rocky Gulch, Wood Creek, and Martin Slough (small tributaries) and combined catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE) of 1+ and YOY coho salmon captured by seining in upper Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs (large tributaries), Humboldt County, California, 2007–2009. W= winter, Sp= spring, S= summer, and F= fall.

Both YOY and 1+ coho salmon reared for extended periods in the sampled portions of the Humboldt Bay SEE. YOY coho salmon resided primarily in the upper sloughs of the larger streams during the spring and summer. The mean residence times of PIT-tagged YOY coho salmon that were tagged and recaptured as YOY ranged from one to two months, but individual fish reared for up to six months (Table 5); some individual fish tagged as YOY

**TABLE 5.**—Summary of residence times in days at liberty (DAL) and growth rates (GR) in mm/day of youngof-the-year coho salmon in Freshwater Creek Slough, Elk River Slough, Martin Slough, Wood Creek, Rocky Gulch, and Ryan Creek, Humboldt County, California, 2005–2010. Mean days at liberty were not calculated for fish with sample sizes less than 10 individuals and mean growth rates were not calculated for fish at large  $\leq 12$ days except where noted.

Basin	Year	п	Mean DAL	Range DAL	Mean GR	Range GR
Freshwater	2010	12	41	16-113	0.23	0.12-0.48
	2009	69	60	13-175	0.20	0.00-0.68
	2008	0	-	-	-	-
	2007	12	68	6-167	0.17	0.12-0.45
	2006	57	33	5-106	0.15	0.00-0.29
	2005	112	32	4-128	0.17	0.00-0.43
Elk	2009	19	17	13-27	0.46	0.31-0.64
	2008	104	58	6-168	0.29	0.04-0.68
	2007	55	44	5-124	0.16	0.00-0.38
	2006	41	39	6-128	0.19	0.07-0.39
	2005	121	34	4-110	0.13	0.00-0.38
Martin	2010	0	-	-	-	-
	2009	4	-	28-126	-	0.21-0.43
	2008	0	-	-	-	-
	2007	4	-	30-58	-	0.27-0.33
Wood	2010	1	-	29	-	0.14
	2009	1	-	58	-	0.17
	2008	0	-	-	-	-
	2007	4	-	26-129	-	0.03-0.22
Rocky	2010	0	-	-	-	-
Gulch	2009	0	-	-	-	-
	2008	0	-	-	-	-
	2007	0	-	-	-	-
Ryan	2010	0	-	-	-	-

and recaptured as 1+ reared in the SEE for over a year (Table 6). The 1+ coho salmon reared mostly during the winter in both the larger and smaller streams and the mean residence times of PIT-tagged 1+ coho salmon ranged from a few weeks to nine months (Table 6). In the more brackish, lower sloughs of Freshwater Creek and Elk River, the presence of YOY and 1+ coho salmon was confined mostly to spring (Wallace 2006, Wallace and Allen 2009, Wallace and Allen 2012).

Young-of-the-year coho salmon were captured only in the lower sloughs during spring freshets and did not rear extensively in lower Freshwater Creek Slough but some did move into Wood Creek, which enters Freshwater Creek in the lower slough. Coho salmon categorized as 1+ were consistently captured in the lower sloughs from April to June. The residence times of 1+ coho salmon in the lower sloughs were much shorter than in the areas upstream of brackish water, but some fish were found to rear for one to four weeks in lower Freshwater Creek Slough (Wallace 2006; Wallace and Allen 2009, 2012; Pinnix et al. 2012).

**TABLE 6.**— Summary of residence times in days at liberty (DAL) and growth rates (GR) in mm/day of yearling 1+ coho salmon in Freshwater Creek Slough, Elk River Slough, Martin Slough, Wood Creek, Rocky Gulch, and Ryan Creek, Humboldt County, California, 2005–2010. Mean days at liberty were not calculated for fish species or life stage with sample sizes less than 10 individuals and mean growth rates were not calculated for fish at large  $\leq$ 12 days except where noted. The table also includes fish tagged as young-of-the-year (YOY) and recaptured the following year.

				Range		
Basin	Year	п	Mean DAL	DAL	Mean GR	Range GR
Freshwater	2010	0	-	-	-	-
	2009	1	-	-	-	-
	2008	1	-	-	-	-
	2007	22	21	5-224	0.43	0.23-0.60
	2006	4	-	5-11	-	-
	2005	20	20	2-81	0.42	0.21-0.56
	Tagged YOY	2	-	170-245	-	0.15-0.17
Elk	2009	18	19	13-42	0.30	0.00-0.54
	Tagged YOY	5	-	133-349	-	0.14-0.18
	2008	19	14	5-25	0.37	0.17-0.72
	Tagged YOY	1	-	294	-	0.10
	2007	8	-	7-258	-	0.09-0.50
	2006	7	-	6-282	-	0.18
	2005	3	-	9-94	-	0.11-0.33
Martin	2010	17	50	27-119	0.41	0.21-0.76
	Tagged YOY	3	-	64-310	-	0.14-0.25
	2009	33	42	23-126	0.32	-0.04-0.67
	Tagged YOY	5	-	67-270	-	0.13-0.20
	2008	14	34	25-60	0.32	0.16-0.51
	2007	1	-	39	-	1.03
Wood	2010	6	-	9-153	-	0.11-0.73
	2009	5	-	23-91	-	0.03-0.35
	2008	7	-	28-57	-	0.05-0.32
	Tagged YOY	3	-	110-449	-	0.10-0.17
	2007	5	-	35-70	-	0.13-0.43
	Tagged YOY	2	-	213-251	-	0.12-0.12
Rocky	2010	13	43	28-94	0.33	0.12-0.45
Gulch	Tagged YOY	1	-	90	-	0.21
	2009	4	-	43-69	-	0.09-0.26
	2008	2	-	30-30	-	0.10-0.13
	2007	6	-	10-37	-	0.27-0.41
Ryan	2010	22	49	14-90	0.46	0.20-0.75

Typically, in the upper sloughs of Freshwater Creek and Elk River the monthly mean FL of captured YOY coho salmon increased from around 40 mm in early spring to 80–110 mm by the end of the year (Table 7). The mean monthly FL of 1+ coho salmon captured in the upper sloughs was typically around 80 mm in the winter and increased to 105–115 mm during April and May (Table 7). The monthly mean FL of the small numbers of YOY coho salmon in the lower sloughs was around 40 mm in early spring and 65–85 mm by the end of the year (Table 8). The mean monthly FL of 1+ coho salmon captured in the lower slough was typically 65–80 mm in the winter and increased to 110–120 mm during the spring and early summer (Table 8).

Yearling (1+) coho salmon captured in the lower sloughs of Freshwater Creek and Elk River were significantly larger (mean FL = 114 mm, SE = 0.54 mm) than those captured in the upper sloughs (mean FL = 106 mm, SE = 0.41 mm); ANOVA,  $F_{1.1479}$  = 90.86, P<0.001

**TABLE 7.**—Monthly mean fork length (FL) and size range in millimeters of young-of-the-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon in upper Freshwater Creek Slough and upper Elk River Slough, Humboldt County, California, for selected years.

					Fres	hwater Cre	ek Sloug	gh				
		20	05			2	007		2009			
	YOY	Coho	1+	Coho	YOY	í Coho	1+	Coho	YOY	Coho	1+	Coho
	Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean	
Month	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range
Jan	-	-	77	64-86	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Feb	-	-	80	70-100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mar	-	-	81	67-96	-	-	83	67-100	-	-	-	-
Apr	40	33-50	104	81-133	42	34-47	100	85-134	34	34-34	110	90-127
May	43	31-61	102	79-123	54	39-67	100	76-127	42	35-48	106	93-114
Jun	57	29-96	106	92-136	65	31-75	101	82-111	64	40-85	106	100-110
Jul	66	51-99	98	98	79	69-91	123	123	77	66-90	-	-
Aug	73	56-93	-	-	86	80-97	-	-	80	63-94	106	96-115
Sep	77	59-95	-	-	88	85-94	-	-	83	71-95	-	-
Oct	82	70-101	-	-	86	63-105	-	-	87	70-99	-	-
Nov	79	57-113	-	-	85	76-101	-	-	90	70-103	-	-
Dec	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

					1	Elk River S	Slough						
		20	005			2007				2008			
	YOY	Coho	1+	Coho	YOY	YOY Coho 1+ Coho			YOY	Coho	1+ Coho		
	Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		
Month	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	
Jan	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Feb	-	-	80	64-100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Mar	-	-	82	62-93	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Apr	41	37-53	113	98-129	-	-	-	-	39	39	111	80-125	
May	41	35-67	114	97-142	54	34-70	109	80-139	53	39-63	107	87-125	
Jun	59	43-81	107	88-119	62	45-82	104	86-125	63	45-79	106	94-116	
Jul	68	51-90	-	-	73	52-95	105	100-114	74	58-97	118	101-141	
Aug	71	57-94	-	-	80	65-100	-	-	84	67-102	118	118	
Sep	75	63-95	-	-	90	84-97	-	-	90	74-101	-	-	
Oct	80	67-97	-	-	86	54-97	-	-	94	76-111	-	-	
Nov	78	60-93	-	-	78	58-100	-	-	96	86-112	-	-	
Dec	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	111	80-124	-	-	

(Figure 6). No interactions were found between basin and slough type, indicating the lower sloughs of both basins contained larger yearling coho salmon; ANOVA,  $F_{1,1474} = 1.05$ , P = 0.31. Overall, year had a significant effect on mean yearling coho salmon FLs for both basins; Tukey post-hoc comparisons indicated the 2005 coho salmon were much smaller and the 2006 coho salmon were much larger than those measured from 2007 to 2009; ANOVA,  $F_{4,1480} = 38.00$ , P < 0.001 (Figure 6). However, the interaction between year and slough type on mean coho salmon FLs was not significant, indicating mean FLs were consistently larger in lower sloughs regardless of their annual size or basin of origin; ANOVA,  $F_{4,1470} = 1.47$ , P = 0.21. The interaction of year and basin was significant indicating annual differences in mean coho salmon FLs were largely basin-specific instead of a regional trend; ANOVA,  $F_{4,1475} = 10.49$ , P < 0.001. Last, yearling coho salmon captured during the spring from 2005 to 2009 were slightly larger on average in Elk River (mean FL = 111 mm, SE = 0.44 mm) than in Freshwater Creek (mean FL = 105 mm, SE = 0.62 mm); ANOVA,  $F_{1,1484} = 12.12$ , P < 0.001; the 6-mm size difference is, however, unlikely to be biologically meaningful.

Young-of-the-year coho salmon in the Freshwater Creek SEE were larger than their cohorts rearing upstream and their FLs increased from the upper tributaries to the mid-basin to the SEE (Figure 7). Young-of-the-year coho salmon captured in Freshwater Creek during the fall of 2009 and 2010 were significantly larger in the mid-basin than those captured in upper tributaries; ANOVA,  $F_{22218} = 97.94$ , P < 0.001. Mean FLs were 87 mm (SE = 0.67

**TABLE 8.**—Monthly mean fork length (FL) and size range in millimeters of young-of-the-year (YOY) and yearling plus (1+) coho salmon in lower Freshwater Creek Slough and lower Elk River Slough, Humboldt County, California, for selected years.

					Fresl	hwater Cre	eek Sloug	gh				
		20	05			2	007		2008			
	YOY	Coho	1+	Coho	YOY	Coho	1+	- Coho	YOY	' Coho	1+ Coho	
	Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean	
Month	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range
Jan	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Feb	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mar	39	39	83	62-127	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Apr	39	33-45	113	86-125	-	-	105	83-151	-	-	113	105-127
May	49	32-60	117	90-146	42	42	107	95-118	-	-	114	101-124
Jun	65	60-70	104	94-112	-	-	-	-	-	-	122	122
Jul	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	94	94
Aug	76	74-78	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sep	80	77-83	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oct	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nov	77	62-94	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dec	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

					I	Elk River S	Slough					
		20	05			2	007		2008			
	YOY	Coho	1+	Coho	YOY	Coho	1+	- Coho	YOY	Coho	1+ Coho	
	Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean		Mean	
Month	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range	FL	Range
Jan	-	-	64	60-68	-	-	-	-	-	-	72	55-89
Feb	-	-	82	60-105	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Mar	39	39	90	76-117	-	-	113	108-119	-	-	-	-
Apr	41	35-46	110	73-136	-	-	127	109-139	-	-	119	94-143
May	47	37-71	107	74-133	42	42	119	91-183	-	-	109	90-133
Jun	64	62-69	110	95-126	-	-	109	86-125	-	-	120	101-143
Jul	-	-	129	129	-	-	-	-	-	-	128	111-141
Aug	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sep	87	86-87	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Oct	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nov	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dec	66	61-70	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

mm) for the slough (SEE) locations, 80 mm (SE = 0.46 mm) for the mid-basin locations, and 72 mm (SE = 0.32 mm) for the upper tributary locations. Also, overall FLs of YOY coho salmon rearing throughout Freshwater Creek were substantially larger in 2010 (2010 mean FL = 79 mm, SE = 0.31 mm) than in 2009 (2009 mean FL = 71, SE = 0.45 mm); ANOVA,  $F_{1,2217}$  = 1255.11, *P*<0.001 (Figure 7). No interaction was detected between watershed position and year, indicating mean FLs were progressively larger in the lower watershed than in the upper watershed regardless year (Figure 7); ANOVA,  $F_{2,2215}$  = 0.77, *P*<0.001).

Annual mean growth rates of PIT-tagged YOY coho salmon rearing in the SEE ranged from 0.13 to 0.46 mm/day, but individual fish grew up to 0.68 mm/day (Table 5). Annual mean growth rates of PIT tagged 1+ coho salmon ranged from 0.30 to 0.46 mm/day, but individual fish grew up to 1.03 mm/day (Table 6).

The PIT-tag antennas at Wood Creek detected PIT-tagged juvenile coho salmon originally tagged throughout the Freshwater Creek watershed; in some cases those fish were from many kilometers upstream (Table 9). The antennas detected juvenile salmonids moving into Wood Creek and the pond to rear over winter during high stream flows. The pond PIT-tag antenna detected 46 coho salmon originally tagged by CDFW personnel in and upstream of the SEE in 2010, and 28 in 2010–2011 (Table 9).

A large portion of coho salmon smolt production uses the Freshwater Creek SEE. California Department of Fish and Wildlife calculated smolt production estimates entering



**FIGURE 6.**—Comparison of the annual mean fork lengths and standard errors of age 1+ coho salmon from upper Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs (dotted lines) and lower Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs (solid lines), Humboldt County, California, 2005–2009.

the SEE and within the SEE in 2007 and 2008. The 2007 coho salmon smolt estimates were  $3,685 \pm 266$  at the Howards Heights Trap at the upstream end of the SEE (Figure 2) and  $5,888 \pm 503$  at the HFAC Weir within the SEE. In 2008, the coho salmon smolt estimates were  $3,096 \pm 154$  at the Howard Heights Trap and  $4,945 \pm 232$  at the HFAC Weir (Ricker and Anderson 2011). These smolt estimates indicate ~40% of the coho smolt production in these two years were already present in this 4-km section of the SEE compared to ~60% residing in the 21 km of coho salmon habitat upstream of the Howard Heights Trap.



FIGURE 7.—Box plots comparing mean fork lengths of young-of-theyear coho salmon captured in the slough (stream-estuary ecotone), mid-basin, and upper basin portions of Freshwater Creek, Humboldt County, California, in the fall of 2009 and 2010. Boxes depict the 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles, whiskers depict 5th and 95th percentiles, and points indicate outliers.

**TABLE 9.**—Origin of PIT-tagged juvenile coho salmon tagged in Freshwater Creek basin, Humboldt County, California, detected at Wood Creek pond and tide gate antennas during January to September 2010 and during October 2010 to June 2011.

	Pond	Pond	Tide Gate	Tide Gate
Fish Origin	2010	2010/11	2010	2010/11
Stream-Estuary Ecotone	7	1	9	30
Lower Mainstem	11	6	11	49
Middle Mainstem	-	11	-	79
Upper Mainstem	7	6	10	59
Little Freshwater Cr	12	-	13	-
Cloney Gulch	9	4	8	45
South Fork Freshwater Cr	-	0	-	13
Freshwater Creek (total)	46	28	51	275
Wood Cr Pond	74	8	33	2
Wood Cr (tagged 2011)	-	6	-	17
Wood Cr (tagged 2010)	26	3	47	5
Wood Cr (tagged 2009)	1	0	1	0
Ryan Sl/Cr	0	0	26	5
Freshwater SI (tagged 2011)	-	0	-	2
Freshwater SI (tagged 2010)	0	0	2	8
Freshwater SI (tagged 2009)	5	0	9	0
HFAC Weir (tagged 2011)	-	0	-	122
HFAC Weir (tagged 2010)	0	0	161	1
HFAC Weir (tagged 2009)	1	0	1	0
Grand Total	153	45	331	437

#### DISCUSSION

Craig (2010) provided an excellent description of the various coho salmon life history patterns, moving from the traditional almost exclusively "stream-type" life history pattern (Sandercock 1991) to appreciating the multiple life history patterns exhibited by coho salmon where the SEE plays an important role in their development. These diverse patterns include, but are not limited to arriving and rearing in the SEE during spring and summer as fry (Miller and Sadro 2003, Wallace 2006, Jones et al. 2014); coho salmon parr arriving in the fall to rear during winter in the SEE (Koski 2009, Jones et al. 2014), or even moving into the marine environment as YOY fish (Bennett et al. 2015). Rearing fry and parr may over winter in the SEE or move into adjacent non-natal streams (Craig 2010, Jones et al. 2014, this study) or exhibit the "nomad" life history of moving back upstream to overwinter (Miller and Sadro 2003, Koski 2009).

A review by Koski (2009) showed juvenile coho salmon rear in the SEE from southwestern Alaska to southern Oregon. The redistribution and use of non-natal streams by juvenile coho salmon has been briefly noted in California streams including the Smith River (Parish and Garwood 2015), Klamath River (YTFP 2009), Redwood Creek (Bob Pagliuco, NOAA Restoration Center, personal communication November 2014), Eel River (Renger and Blessing 2014), and Russian River (SCR 2014). Our results indicate this life history strategy is prominent in multiple tributaries entering Humboldt Bay, California (Figure 8).





FIGURE 8.—Diagram of juvenile coho salmon life history pattern in Freshwater Creek watershed, Humboldt County, California (modified from Craig 2010).

relatively high quality habitat for juvenile coho salmon as outlined in the introduction. We found that the SEE (1) provided non-natal rearing habitat for prolonged residence by juvenile coho salmon (Tables 5 and 6); (2) supported multiple life stages (i.e. summer YOY and winter 1+) of coho salmon; (3) supported a substantial portion (~40%) of the coho salmon smolt population from throughout the basin (Table 9); (4) allowed juvenile coho salmon to obtain a larger size (Figures 6 and 7), and presumably grow faster than their stream dwelling conspecifics; and (5) provided slow-water habitat that appears to be limited in the upper stream channels during a stressful period due to high winter stream flows.

Young-of-the year coho salmon moved to the SEE of Freshwater Creek and Elk River during spring and resided there throughout the summer. This pattern is similar to that observed in other Pacific Northwest estuaries (Tschaplinski 1987, Miller and Sadro 2003, Koski 2009). We do not know the underlying cause of this movement, but other researchers have suggested density dependent factors upstream (Chapman 1962, Hartman et al. 1982), high flushing stream flows (Tschaplinski 1987), or expressions of genotypic or phenotypic variation (Healey 2009, Waples et al. 2009). Regardless of the reasons for their movement into the SEE, once there coho salmon resided almost exclusively in the freshwater portion of the SEE. Furthermore, based on our PIT-tag data, most YOY coho salmon moved very little during the summer, with >90% of recaptured fish being caught at the same location at which they had been marked (Wallace and Allen 2007, 2009, 2012). Similar individual site fidelity has also been documented in studies in other Pacific Northwest estuaries (Tschaplinski 1987, Miller and Sadro 2003).

We found tidal and salinity influences on the SEE were most dynamic during the summer and we often observed coho salmon residing in the surface freshwater layer when the water column is stratified and the more dense brackish water is present along the bottom. Coho salmon residing here were more silvery in appearance and had much less pronounced parr marks than their conspecifics upstream in typical stream habitat, indicating they may occasionally be exposed to salt water. Later in the summer and early fall we captured small numbers of YOY coho salmon in brackish water. These fish were >70 mm FL and may have reached a size adequate to be able to adapt to saltwater. Other investigators have shown that salinity tolerances were a function of size, rather than age, in coho salmon (Conte et al. 1966; Weisbart 1968 as cited by Koski 2009). Other investigators documented sub-yearling coho salmon enter the marine environment, survive, and return as spawning adults, especially when they are  $\geq$ 70 mm FL (Bennett et al. 2015). Most YOY coho salmon rearing in the Humboldt Bay SEE were  $\geq$ 70 mm FL by the end of their first summer, and some may take on the sub-yearling ocean entry life history.

Abundance of YOY coho salmon usually peaked in Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs during June and July and then declined to low levels in late summer and early fall (Figure 3), likely as a result of mortality and seasonal movement in the SEE. During the subsequent winter and spring we recaptured fish tagged the previous summer in the vicinity of where they were originally marked or further downstream in tidal tributaries including Wood Creek in the Freshwater Creek watershed and Martin Slough in the Elk River watershed. Although we did detect juvenile coho salmon moving upstream in tributaries entering the SEE, we never detected any substantial upstream movement in the main stem of Freshwater Creek and Elk River sloughs. For example, during the six years of operation we never captured a fish tagged in the SEE at the Howard Heights Trap (approximately 4 km upstream of our SEE sample sites). Therefore, it appears that YOY coho salmon that rear in the sampled portion of the Humboldt Bay SEE during the summer stay in place, have a net downstream movement to over winter in lower mainstem portion or small tributaries of the SEE, perish, or enter the ocean as sub-yearling fish. Other than moving back upstream to over winter, these life history patterns are similar to those reported in Pacific Northwest estuaries (Miller and Sadro 2003, Koski 2009, Jones et al. 2014).

Coho salmon moved from stream habitat downstream to the SEE of Freshwater Creek during the first large stream flows in the fall and winter. Relatively large numbers of 1+ coho salmon moved into small and low gradient non-natal tributaries surrounding Humboldt Bay such as Martin Slough, Wood Creek, and Rocky Gulch (Table 4). These small tributaries were generally unsuitable for juveniles during summer and fall due to high water temperature and salinity, but provided good over winter rearing habitat with refuge from high stream flows. In Freshwater Creek our PIT-tag antennas documented movement of PIT-tagged juvenile coho salmon from throughout the watershed and downstream to Wood Creek (Table 9). Rebenack et al. (2014) estimated that from 8% to 25% of juvenile coho salmon marked in the upper basin emigrated to the SEE in Freshwater Creek prior to March, and the majority of movement occurred in or about December. There was no tagging program in place upstream of the SEE in Elk River or Jacoby Creek, but we observed the same pattern of new fish arriving in Martin Slough and Rocky Gulch as we observed in Wood Creek, and are confident this illustrates that juvenile coho salmon from Elk River and Jacoby Creek have similar life history patterns to fish from Freshwater Creek.

One of the traits attributed to nomadic coho salmon is their propensity to rear in non-natal streams. Little to no coho salmon spawning takes place in Wood Creek, Martin Slough, or Rocky Gulch, yet we captured juveniles rearing in these areas during the winter and spring. Based on our PIT-tag detections and recoveries, these over wintering coho salmon tend to move around the SEE more than YOY individuals in the summer. For example, we originally tagged juvenile coho salmon in upper Elk River Slough and at specific sites in Martin Slough, and then recaptured them throughout the entire Martin Slough sampling area. We also detected tagged fish moving throughout the Freshwater-Ryan Creek SEE (Table 9). Furthermore, we documented occasional movement between adjacent watersheds by recapturing two 1+ coho salmon in Rocky Gulch one spring that were originally tagged in Jacoby Creek the preceding December. These fish either entered Humboldt Bay to move between watersheds or had been able to traverse over pasturelands during high winter flows. We have even recaptured coho smolts originally tagged in Freshwater Creek in the lower kilometer of Elk River Slough, likely an example of coho salmon moving into tidal slough habitat to forage while rearing in Humboldt Bay on their way to the ocean. Increased connectivity between tributaries and other types of seasonal habitats have been shown to improve winter growth and survival of juvenile coho salmon (Ebersole et al. 2006). It is almost certain that the ability of juveniles to move throughout the SEE of Humboldt Bay has been greatly reduced by levee construction and tide gate installations, both of which have resulted in of loss of watershed connectivity and rearing habitat. In some Oregon estuaries it is thought that loss of habitat and connectivity has resulted in the loss of life history diversity (Bottom et al. 2005).

Juvenile coho salmon captured in the SEE of Freshwater Creek were larger than their upstream cohorts at every life stage. Ricker and Anderson (2011) noted that juveniles were larger at their sampling sites in the SEE than at their traps farther upstream during both fall and spring sampling. Other investigators reported juvenile coho salmon being larger in the SEE compared to those in streams (Tschaplinski 1987, Miller and Sadro 2003, Craig 2010). Also, larger juvenile coho salmon had higher over winter survival than smaller fish (Tschaplinski 1982, Heifetz et al. 1989, Ebersole et al. 2006). The larger size of fish in the SEE is thought to be due to increased food, warmer water temperatures, and lower bioenergetic demands due to low water velocity in these low-gradient ecotones compared to stream habitats. Rebenack et al. (2014) reported that in Freshwater Creek, juvenile coho salmon from the mid-basin were more likely to move to the SEE than were fish from the upper basin. Since fish in the mid-basin were on average larger than those in the upper basin (Figure 7), this movement pattern might have contributed to the larger size of juveniles found in the SEE.

We also noted the average size of YOY coho salmon in the SEE was smaller in years of high YOY coho CPUE (Wallace and Allen 2015), indicating that high density may adversely affect growth in the SEE. This result suggests that restoring historic rearing habitat

in the SEE could increase the size of YOY coho salmon rearing in the SEE by lowering density and thereby increasing their overwinter survival. Larger sized salmonid smolts have been shown to have a higher marine survival rate than smaller smolts (Pearcy 1997). Therefore, juvenile coho salmon that have reared in the SEE may survive in the ocean at a higher rate than their stream dwelling cohorts.

The SEE produced a substantial portion of the coho salmon smolts emigrating from Freshwater Creek watershed in 2007 and 2008. Mark-recapture studies carried out by CDFW personnel in the Freshwater Creek SEE during those years indicated the low-gradient 4 km area between the HFAC weir and the Howards Heights trap produced  $\sim 40\%$  of the coho salmon spring smolts (Wallace and Allen 2009, Ricker and Anderson 2011). In some other years the majority of smolts originated in the SEE. Additionally, estimates of spring smolt abundance increased at each subsequent downstream counting station. Although Ricker and Anderson (2011) expected this to be the case, the magnitude of increase was not proportional to the linear stream length added by each trap; as a result, smolt estimates increased by up to eight-fold when the SEE was included. Ricker and Anderson (2011) hypothesized that winter was the limiting period for coho smolt production in the stream portion of Freshwater Creek and the SEE was populated after stream carrying capacity is reached. We observed similar life history patterns in the other Humboldt Bay tributaries such as Elk River-Martin Slough and Jacoby Creek-Rocky Gulch. We do not have empirical data demonstrating that the same portions of the SEEs were used by coho salmon smolts. However, based on the relatively large catches of coho salmon in Rocky Gulch-and especially Martin Slough-we suspect substantial portions of smolt production occurs in the SEE of these streams as well.

In Freshwater Creek we detected a positive relationship between adult escapement and subsequent CPUE of YOY coho salmon in the upper slough (Figure 4). The linear relationship with the Y-intercept near zero suggests a density-independent movement rate and we would expect more juvenile coho salmon in the SEE subsequent to years of high adult escapement. The widespread utilization of the SEE by juveniles leads to a number of life history and management considerations. First, the SEE will likely be sparsely populated in the summer by YOY coho salmon following years of low adult escapement, similar to what occurred in the Freshwater Creek SEE in 2008 and 2010 (Table 2). When assessing the success of habitat restoration projects in the SEE after low escapement years, care must be taken to not misinterpret low juvenile coho salmon abundance at the restored sites as indicating project failure when, in reality, it may be due to a lack of seeding. Second, for coho salmon populations that are recovering, it is necessary to take full advantage of high abundance of spawning adults and subsequent offspring and a healthy, restored SEE is needed to provide adequate rearing areas. Third, large numbers of juveniles in the SEE will bias coho salmon smolt estimates low since most trapping sites used to estimate smolt abundance are located upstream of fish rearing in the SEE. Fourth, because juvenile coho salmon abundance in the SEE appears to be dependent on the magnitude of adult spawner escapement, fish abundance may not be the best metric to track trends in estuary recovery. For example, increasing SEE habitat availability or quality with habitat restoration projects could occur during a region-wide downward trend in the sizes of adult runs and result in fewer juvenile fish moving to the SEE independent of conditions occurring there. Assessing the success of these projects and the overall health of the estuary may be better served by using population-independent metrics based on changes in the SEE, such as the amount and types of available salmonid habitat, and the spatial distribution of juvenile coho salmon

relative to the availability of habitat.

Due to the extensive use of the SEE by juvenile coho salmon and the perceived benefits resulting from this behavior, numerous habitat restoration projects have been planned, initiated, and completed in the SEE around Humboldt Bay. Results from three completed sites (Wood Creek, Rocky Gulch, and Salmon Creek [the third largest tributary to Humboldt Bay]), indicated that juvenile coho salmon immediately moved into newly accessible streams and man-made off-channel ponds. Fish access to Rocky Gulch had been blocked by tide gates for decades. A new fish-friendly tide gate was installed in December 2004 (Mierau 2005), and by 2007 juvenile coho salmon were found rearing there in winter and spring (Wallace and Allen 2009). Similarly, juveniles moved into newly constructed off-channel ponds in Wood and Salmon creeks during their first opportunity with increased stream flows in late fall (Wallace 2010, Wallace and Allen 2012). The Wood Creek pond has been used by coho salmon from throughout the Freshwater and Ryan Creek basin every winter-spring season since it was built (Wallace 2010, Wallace and Allen 2015). During 2011-12, the first winter-spring season after the Salmon Creek off channel ponds were constructed, CDFW personnel captured more juvenile coho salmon than in the six previous years combined (Wallace and Allen 2015).

These results demonstrate that habitat restoration projects designed to create overwinter habitat and reconnect adjacent stream networks can immediately increase rearing habitat that likely benefits coho salmon populations in portions of the Humboldt Bay SEE, and suggest these measures could provide similar benefits to coho salmon throughout their range in California. By documenting life history strategies of coho salmon and identifying factors that limit their production we can design restoration projects that effectively improve habitat conditions and non-natal rearing potential for juvenile coho salmon.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to E. Ojerholm for being a great field crew leader and to J. Sartori and M. Reneski for their expert fieldwork. Many thanks to M. Zuspan for setting up and maintaining the PIT-tag antenna arrays. Also, thank you to N. Burks, B. Crouch, G. Garman, M. Gilroy, C. Hannon, A. Jeffrey, V. Jimenez, D. Kyle, M. Lomeli, M. McDowall, C. Meredith, G. Morningstar, T. Newhouse, K. Ramey, C. Ramsey, A. Shows, and numerous Americorp volunteers for assisting with fieldwork. Thank you to M. Gilroy for helping with project design, discussing ideas, and sharing knowledge about salmonid ecology. Thank you to A. Moran and H. Lovig for preparing some of the graphics. Thank you to D. Ward, K. Ramey, and an anonymous reviewer for providing many helpful comments that greatly improved the quality of this paper. This project was partially funded by Federal Aid in Sport Fish Restoration Projects F-137-R and F-51-R-67 and the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Fisheries Restoration Grants Program. Fisheries technicians and administrative support were provided by the Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission under contracts P0810517, P0610522, P0410504, and P0310534. Finally, thank you to the Northcoast Regional Land Trust, Jacoby Creek Land Trust, Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge, the cities of Eureka and Arcata, Green Diamond Resource Company, and numerous private landowners for allowing us to access their properties.

## LITERATURE CITED

- BENNETT, T. R., P. RONI, K. DENTON, M. MCHENRY, AND R. MOSES. 2015. Nomads no more: early juvenile coho salmon migrants contribute to the adult return. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 24:264-275.
- BJORKSTEDT, E. 2005. DARR 2.0: updated software for estimating abundance from stratified mark-recapture data. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memo NMFS-SWSC-368.
- BOTTOM, D. L., C. A. SIMENSTAD, J. BURKE, A. M. BAPTISTA, D. A. JAY, K. K. JONES, E. CASILLAS, AND M. H. SCHIEWE. 2005. Salmon at river's end: the role of the estuary in the decline and recovery of Columbia River salmon. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memo NMFS-NWFSC-68.
- BOND, M. H, S. A. HAYES, C. V. HANSON, AND R. B. MACFARLANE. 2008. Marine survival of steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) enhanced by a seasonally closed estuary. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65:2242-2252.
- BRYANT, M. D. 2000. Estimating fish populations by removal methods with minnow traps in southeast Alaska streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20:923-930.
- CDFG (CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND GAME). 2002. Status review of California coho salmon north of San Francisco. Report to California Fish and Game Commission. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- CHAPMAN, D. W. 1962. Aggressive behavior in juvenile coho salmon as a cause of emigration. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 19:1047-1080.
- CRAIG, B. E. 2010. Life history patterns and ecology of juvenile coho salmon (*Onchorynchus kisutch*) within a tidal freshwater estuary. M.S. Thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, USA.
- EBERSOLE, J. L., P. J. WIGINGTON JR., J. P. BAKER, M. A. CAIRNS, M. R. CHURCH, B. P. HANSEN, B. A. MILLER, H. R. LA VIGNE, J. E. COMPTON, AND S. G. LEIBOWITZ. 2006. Juvenile coho salmon and survival across stream network seasonal habitats. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 135:1681-1697.
- FEDERAL REGISTER. 1997. Endangered and threatened species: threatened status for coho salmon in the southern Oregon/northern California coast evolutionarily significant unit in California. Federal Register 62(87[6 May 1997]):24588-24609.
- HAYES, D. B., C. P. FERRERI, AND W. M. TAYLOR. 1996. Active fish capture methods. Pages 193-220 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. Fisheries techniques. Second edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland, USA.
- HARTMAN, G. F., B. C. ANDERSEN, AND J. C. SCRIVENER. 1982. Seaward movement of coho salmon (*Onchorynchus kisutch*) fry in Carnation Creek, an unstable coastal stream in British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 39:588-597.
- HEALEY, M. C. 1982. Juvenile Pacific salmon in estuaries: the life support system. Pages 315-341 in V. Kennedy, editor. Estuarine comparisons. Academic Press, New York, USA.
- HEALEY, M. C. 1991. Life history of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Pages 311-393 in C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors. Pacific salmon life histories. UBC Press, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
- HEALEY, M. C. 2009. Resilient salmon, resilient fisheries for British Columbia, Canada.

Ecology and Society 14(1):2.

- HEIFETZ, J., M. L. MURPHY, AND K.V. KOSKI. 1989. Effects of logging on winter habitat of juvenile salmonids in Alaskan streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 6:52-58.
- HOLTBY, L. B., B. C. ANDERSON, AND R. K. KADOWAKI. 1990. Importance of smolt size and early ocean growth to interannual variability in marine survival of coho salmon (*Onchorynchus kisutch*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 47:2181-2194.
- HBWAC (HUMBOLDT BAY WATERSHED ADVISORY COMMITTEE). 2005. Humboldt Bay watershed salmon and steelhead conservation plan. Prepared for California Department of Fish and Game and the California Coastal Conservancy by the Humboldt Bay Watershed Advisory Committee and the Natural Resources Services Division of Redwood Community Action Agency.
- JONES, K. K., T. J. CORNWELL, D. L. BOTTOM, L. A. CAMPBELL, AND S. STEIN. 2014. The contribution of estuary-resident life histories to the return of adult *Onchorynchus kisutch*. Journal of Fish Biology 85:52-80.
- KJELSON, M. A., P. F. RAQUEL, AND F. W. FISHER. 1982. Life history of fall-run juvenile Chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*, in Sacramento-San Joaquin Estuary, California. Pages 393-411 in V. Kennedy, editor. Estuarine comparisons. Academic Press, New York, USA.
- KOSKI, K. V. 2009. The fate of coho salmon nomads: the story of an estuarine-rearing strategy promoting resilience. Ecology and Society 14(1):4.
- MIERAU, D. 2005. Rocky Gulch salmonid access and habitat restoration project. Phase I restoration final report. Prepared for California Department of Fish and Game under contracts P0210414, AWIP-N-1, and ADWI-NO-16, and U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service contract 813315J127. McBain and Trush, Inc., Arcata, California, USA.
- MILLER, B. A., AND S. SADRO. 2003. Residence time and seasonal movements of juvenile coho salmon in the ecotone and lower estuary of Winchester Creek, South Slough, Oregon. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 132:546-559.
- NICHOLAS, J. W., AND D. G. HANKIN. 1989. Chinook salmon populations in Oregon coastal river basins: description of life histories and assessment of recent trends in run strengths. Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife EM 8402. Oregon State University Extension Service, Corvallis, USA.
- NORDHOLM, K. E. 2014. Contribution of subyearling estuarine migrant coho salmon *(Oncorhynchus kisutch)* to spawning populations on the southern Oregon coast. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, USA.
- NORTHCOTE, T. G. 1997. Why sea-run? An exploration into the migratory/residency spectrum of coastal cutthroat trout. Pages 20-26 *in* J. D. Hall, P. A. Bisson, and R. E. Gresswell, editors. Sea-run cutthroat trout: biology, management, and future conservation. Oregon Chapter, American Fisheries Society, Corvallis, USA.
- ODUM, E. P. 1971. Fundamentals of ecology. Third edition. Saunders, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.
- PARISH, M., AND J. GARWOOD. 2015. Distribution of juvenile salmonids and seasonally available aquatic habitats within the lower Smith River basin and estuary, Del Norte County, California. Final Report to the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Fisheries Grants Restoration Program Contract P1310518. Smith River Alliance, Crescent City, California, USA.

- PEARCY, W. G. 1997. Sea-run cutthroat trout: life history profile. Pages 29-34 in J. D. Hall, P. A. Bisson, and R. E. Gresswell, editors. Sea-run cutthroat trout: biology, management, and future conservation. Oregon Chapter, American Fisheries Society, Corvallis, USA.
- PINNIX, W. D., P. A. NELSON, G. STUTZER, AND K. A. WRIGHT. 2012. Residence time and habitat use of coho salmon in Humboldt Bay, California: an acoustic telemetry study. Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:315-323.
- REBENACK, J. J., S. RICKER, C. ANDERSON, M. WALLACE, AND D. M. WARD. 2015. Early emigration of juvenile coho salmon: implications for population monitoring. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 144:163-172.
- REIMERS, P. E. 1971. The length of residence of juvenile fall Chinook salmon in Sixes River, Oregon. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, USA.
- RENGER, A., AND A. BLESSING. 2014. Results of fish species presence and distribution monitoring conducted March 18, 19, 20, and 24, 2014 within the Salt River, Eel River estuary, Phase 1 Project Area, Humboldt County California. California Department of Fish and Wildlife Salt River Restoration Project Fisheries Monitoring Report Number 2014\_03\_18. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Sacramento, USA.
- RICKER, S. J., AND C. W. ANDERSON. 2011. Freshwater Creek salmonid life cycle monitoring station. Annual report. Anadromous Fisheries Resource Assessment and Monitoring Program, California Department of Fish and Game, Arcata, USA.
- RICKER, S. J., AND C. W. ANDERSON. 2014. Results of Freshwater Creek salmonid life cycle monitoring station, 2013–2014. Anadromous Fisheries Resource Assessment and Monitoring Program, California Department of Fish and Game, Arcata, USA
- ROSENFELD, J. 2003. Assessing the habitat requirements of stream fishes: an overview and evaluation of different approaches. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 132:953-968.
- ROSENFELD, J. S., T. LEITER, G. LINDNER, AND L. ROTHMAN. 2005. Food abundance and fish density alters habitat selection, growth, and habitat suitability curves for juvenile coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62:1691-1701.
- SANDERCOCK, F. K. 1991. Life history of coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). Pages 395-445 in C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors. Pacific salmon life histories. UBC Press, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
- SIMENSTAD, C. A., K. L. FRESH, AND E. O. SALO. 1982. The role of Puget Sound and Washington coast estuaries in the life history of pacific salmon: an unappreciated function. Pages 343-364 in V. Kennedy, editor. Estuarine comparisons. Academic Press, New York, USA.
- SCR (STEWARDS OF THE COAST AND REDWOODS). 2014. Willow Creek Road 2ND bridge area fish passage project. Jenner, Sonoma County, California. Final Fisheries Monitoring Report April 2014. Prepared by Prunuske Chatham, Inc. and UC Cooperative Extension/California Sea Grant.
- TROTTER, P. C. 1997. Sea-run cutthroat trout: life history profile. Pages 7-15 in J. D. Hall, P. A. Bisson, and R. E. Gresswell, editors. Sea-run cutthroat trout: biology, management, and future conservation. Oregon Chapter, American Fisheries Society, Corvallis, USA.

- TSCHAPLINSKI, P. J. 1982. Aspects of the population biology of estuary-reared juvenile coho salmon in Carnation Creek: a summary of current research. Pages 289-307 *in* G. F. Hartman, editor. Proceedings of the Carnation Creek Workshop: a ten-year review. Malaspina College, Nanaimo, British Columbia, USA.
- TSCHAPLINSKI, P. J. 1987. The use of estuaries as rearing habitats by juvenile coho salmon. Pages 123-142 in T. W. Chamberlain, editor. Proceedings of the workshop: applying 15 years of Carnation Creek results. Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Pacific Biological Station, Nanaimo, British Columbia, Canada.
- USFWS (U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE). 2007. Humboldt Bay water control structure inventory, assessment, and mapping project. Final Report October 2007. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Arcata, California, USA.
- WALLACE, M. 2006. Juvenile salmonid use of Freshwater Slough and tidal portion of Freshwater Creek, Humboldt Bay, California. 2003 Annual Report. Inland Fisheries Administrative Report 2006-04. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- WALLACE, M. 2010. Response of juvenile salmonids and water quality to habitat restoration in Humboldt Bay estuaries. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- WALLACE, M., AND S. ALLEN. 2007. Juvenile salmonid use of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California. Final Report for contract P0410504. Available at: https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=17970
- WALLACE, M., AND S. ALLEN. 2009. Juvenile salmonid use of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California. Final Report for contract P0610522. Available at: https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=17971
- WALLACE, M., AND S. ALLEN. 2012. Juvenile salmonid use of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California. Final Report for contract P0810517. Available at: https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=106526
- WALLACE, M., AND S. ALLEN. 2015. Juvenile salmonid use and restoration assessment of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California, 2011–2012. Fisheries Administrative Report 2015-02. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Sacramento, USA.
- WAPLES, R. S., T. BEECHIE, AND G. R. PESS. 2009. Evolutionary history, habitat disturbance regimes, and anthropogenic changes: what do these mean for resilience of Pacific salmon populations? Ecology and Society 14(1):3.
- WINKER, K., J. H. RAPPOLE, AND M. A. RAMOS. 1995. The use of movement data as an assay of habitat quality. Oecologia 101:211-216.
- YTFP (YUROK TRIBAL FISHERIES PROGRAM). 2009. A complete life history monitoring of salmonids in McGarvey Creek, lower Klamath River sub-basin, 2006–2009. Final Report to the California Department of Fish and Game for contracts P0610552 and P0510511. Yurok Tribal Fisheries Program, Klamath, California, USA.
- ZAR, J. H. 1999. Biostatistical analysis. Fourth edition. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA.

Received 5 August 2015 Accepted 18 September 2015 Associate Editor was K. Shaffer

# Habitat selection and survival of pronghorn fawns at the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California

DIEGO JOHNSON\*, KATHLEEN LONGSHORE, CHRIS LOWREY, AND DANIEL B. THOMPSON

United States Geological Survey, 160 N. Stephanie Street, Henderson, NV 89074, USA (DJ, KL, CL)

University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 4505 S. Maryland Parkway, Las Vegas, NV 89119, USA (DBT)

\*Correspondent: drjohnson@usgs.gov

On the Carrizo Plain National Monument (CPNM), California, little is known about survival rates and habitat characteristics of pronghorn fawns (Antilocapra americana). A marked decline in pronghorn numbers on the CPNM (from approximately 200 to <30 individuals from 1989 to 2011) prompted a study of fawn habitat use and fawn survival from 2009 to 2011. Only 45 fawns were born during this period. We attached GPS collars to 44% of these fawns (<5 days-of-age). We then used the locations of collared fawns to develop two separate binary logistic regression models to explore the best combination of micro- and macrohabitat-scale environmental variables for predicting (1) fawn habitat selection and (2) fawn survival. Model results for habitat selection showed that fawn locations were associated with increased concealment at close distances (5 m and 50 m) and decreased concealment at far distances (100 m). Fawn locations were on lower sloped terrain and closer to available drinking water and saltbush (Atriplex spp.). Model results for fawn survival showed that increased survival time was associated with higher sloped terrain, proximity to available drinking water and saltbush, and increased distance from high-use roads. Collectively, these results demonstrate that fawn habitat selection is scale-dependent and likely influenced by the combined spatio-temporal needs of both females and their young. The results of this study can be used to inform critical management actions on the CPNM.

Key words: *Antilocapra americana*, California, Carrizo Plain, fawn, habitat, offspring, pronghorn, recruitment, selection, survival

Pronghorn (Antilocapra americana) in California's San Joaquin Valley were once abundant, representing one of the highest densities in the country prior to the 1800s (Newberry 1855, cited in Yoakum 2004b; Pyshora 1977). By the 1940s however, overhunting, disease, competition from livestock, and conversion of native grasslands to croplands and non-native plant assemblages had triggered a demographic collapse and pronghorn became extirpated from the region (CDFG 1982, Koch and Yoakum 2002). As part of an effort to reintroduce the species to portions of its historic range, the California Department of Fish and Game (now Wildlife; CDFW) translocated over 200 individuals in 1987, 1988, and 1990 from northeastern California to areas within and surrounding what is now the Carrizo Plain National Monument (CPNM). Initially, the translocated population increased but, following a period of prolonged drought, numbers began to fluctuate and eventually declined (Koch and Yoakum 2002, Sommer 2012). By 2012, it was estimated that fewer than 30 individuals occupied the CPNM. Small, isolated populations such as this are of particular concern to resource managers because of increased vulnerability to localized extinction.

Extinction risk is amplified for low-density populations if annual rates of recruitment are not sufficient to overcome the compounding effects associated with demographic or environmental stochasticity (Courchamp et al. 2008). For pronghorn, annual reproductive output (the number of offspring produced per adult female per year) is typically consistent, but survival of juveniles is far lower and more variable than survival of adults (Vriend and Barrett 1978, Gaillard et al. 2000, Eberhardt 2002), causing high annual variation in recruitment (Kohlman 2004). For pronghorn fawns <45 days-of-age, predation is commonly cited as a primary mortality factor (Byers 1997b, O'Gara and Shaw 2004). However, the effect of predation on recruitment has been shown to covary with habitat quality, whereby predation of fawns is high when environmental conditions are poor (Kohlman 2004). Marginal or sub-marginal habitats tend to produce costs to fitness, such as low offspring survival, which cause population size to become unstable or to decline (Vriend and Barrett 1978). On the CPNM, prior research indicated that habitat conditions for pronghorn are moderate to poor due, in particular, to low shrub cover (Longshore and Lowrey 2008).

Pronghorn fawns exhibit hiding behavior to avoid detection by predators (Byers 1997b, Yoakum 2004a). It is generally understood that fawns select individual bed-sites within a larger fawning area pre-selected by adult females (Yoakum 2004a). While the success of fawn hiding behavior is dependent upon the availability of vegetative and topographic concealment (Alldredge et al. 1991, Canon and Bryant 1997), adult females require open, relatively flat landscapes (<10% slope) with low vegetation height for long-range visibility and detection of predators (Ockenfels and Wennerlund 1994), as well as high-quality forage conditions during lactation (Yoakum 2004c). Accordingly, contrasting habitat requirements for fawns and females must be met simultaneously and at different spatial scales. At the micro-habitat scale, selection is based on the hiding requirements of fawns. At the macro-habitat scale, selection is dependent on the visibility and dietary requirements of females balanced with the needs of their offspring.

Pronghorn on the CPNM are at risk of extirpation and adequate rates of recruitment are necessary to prevent further decline. A conservation strategy that aims to reverse that downward trend requires site-specific knowledge of the factors influencing fawn survival, information that has been largely unavailable for this population. Here, we use Global Positioning System (GPS) collars to investigate how pronghorn fawns on the CPNM select specific environmental features at variable spatial scales, and how that selection influences fawn survival. Results from this study can be used to inform management actions on the CPNM and surrounding region.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Study area.—The Carrizo Plain National Monument is located within the coast range in southeastern San Luis Obispo County, California (Goodwin Education Center:  $35^{\circ}$  11' 24" N, 119° 51' 48" W). The monument contains one of the largest remnants of the San Joaquin Valley grassland ecosystem (Schiffman 2000), encompassing 102,639 hectares co-managed by CDFW, Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and The Nature Conservancy (TNC). Topography within the monument is primarily a broad plain bordered by two mountain ranges: the Temblor Range along the northeast border and the Caliente Range along the southwest border. Elevation along the valley floor averages 615 m, and the highest elevation is Caliente Peak (1,556 m). Annual precipitation occurs primarily between December and April and can be highly variable among years ( $\bar{x} = 24.56$  cm, SE = 2.31 cm). During this study, annual precipitation was 17.58 cm in 2009, 48.39 cm in 2010 and 23.52 cm in 2011. Runoff from rainfall sustains the ephemeral Soda Lake, a shallow, alkali terminal lake in the center of the valley floor (Penrod et al. 2010). Mean minimum daily temperature ranges between 5° C and 24° C.

Historically, the area was used for dry-land wheat farming. While most farming activities have ceased, some livestock grazing continues. Due to past agricultural practices, much of the grassland habitat on the CPNM is now dominated by non-native annual grasses, notably brome (*Bromus* spp.) and wild oats (*Avena* spp.). Alkali sink vegetation, including spiny saltbush (*Atriplex spinifera*) and iodine bush (*Allenrolfea occidentalis*), is found at the lowest elevations. Juniper-oak, cismontane woodland, and cismontane juniper woodland and scrub are found in the higher elevations. For a more detailed description of vegetation on the CPNM refer to Stout et al. (2013).

*Fawn capture and monitoring.*—Fawns were captured using methods described by O'Gara et al. (2004) and Gregg et al. (2001) in accordance with safe handling guidelines (Sikes et al. 2011). Pronghorn fawns ( $\leq$ 5 days-of-age) were outfitted with GPS collars each year during April and May of 2009–2011. Collars were designed to be lightweight ( $\leq$ 120 g), to expand comfortably as fawns developed in size (i.e., the use of Velcro in place of traditional threaded stitching), and to detach at approximately 90 days-of-age (i.e., neck circumference = 30 cm; O'Gara 2004). For fawns whose birth was not observed, birth date was estimated by behavioral criteria, condition of pelage, hoof and dental development, and desiccation of the umbilical cord (see O'Gara et al. 2004).

All pronghorn fawns known to occur on the CPNM (both collared and uncollared) were monitored daily. Individual collared fawns were identified by their unique VHF telemetry signal. The propensity of neonatal siblings to bed together allowed for observation of uncollared fawns when siblings were collared. We further used individual pelage characteristics of the mother (Byers 1997a) and location of the general fawning area as identifying characteristics for uncollared fawns. Fawns that lived >90 days were considered to have been recruited into the population based on abundant evidence that 95% of fawn mortality takes place at <18 days-of-age (Gregg et al. 2001). Results for survival rates were compared to 18 other studies conducted within 10 different states as reported by O'Gara and Shaw (2004). Deceased fawns were recovered as quickly as possible to determine whether death was due to predation and, if so, to identify the species of predator according to the criteria of O'Gara and Shaw (2004). Carcasses found to be in good condition (i.e., fresh and intact) were transported to the CDFW Wildlife Investigations Laboratory for necropsy.

Statistical analyses.—Location information from collared individuals was used to develop a fawn habitat selection model and a fawn survival model. We used a combination of biotic and abiotic environmental parameters within an Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) modified for small sample size (AICc) and logistic regression framework to predict habitat selection and survival (Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000, Burnham and Anderson 2002). We selected model parameters based on a comprehensive review by Yoakum (2004a) that listed critical criteria for fawning areas including vegetation height and type, physiography (Einarsen 1948), availability of nutritious forage (Ellis 1970), vegetative cover (Autenrieth 1984), lack of fences (O'Gara et al. 1986), proximity to available water (Ockenfels et al. 1992), and minimal anthropogenic disturbance (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1994). The log-likelihood estimates from each of the alternative logistic regression models were used to rank the set of candidate models. We eliminated models with  $\Delta AIC_c$  of >2, and used Akaike weights (w) and evidence ratios to assess the relative strength of evidence for each remaining model (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot 12.3 and Geographical Information System (GIS) analyses were conducted using ArcMap 10.1 (ESRI, Inc. Redlands, California).

For the fawn habitat selection model, we compared the relationship of collared fawn locations and random locations to a suite of micro- and macrohabitat explanatory variables. We considered microhabitat characteristics to be located within a spatial scale small enough to elicit a response by individual fawns. Microhabitat was defined exclusively as the area within a 100-m radius of a fawn and included measurements of vegetation height and composition (i.e., forb, grass, shrub, bare ground), as well as adult and fawn visibility, at 70 fawn locations and 61 random locations. Measurements were made at each location and along four equidistant transects at distances of 5 m, 10 m, 20 m, 30 m, 40 m, 50 m, and 100 m. Transects were oriented by randomly selecting an aspect for one transect and then distributing the remaining three transects by a separation of 90 degrees (modified from Canon and Bryant 1997). Visibility was defined as the proportion of a 1-m measuring stick (located at the center of each plot) visible from each of the measured locations at the height of a fawn (0.5 m) and an adult (1 m).

Macrohabitat characteristics were defined as landscape-scale features that could potentially influence female habitat selection but not necessarily fawn habitat selection. Macrohabitat predictors were measured with a GIS at 30-meter resolution and included percent slope of terrain (vertical distance/horizontal distance) and linear distances to water, fences, saltbush (*Atriplex* spp.), high-use primary roads (Soda Lake Rd., Panorama Rd., Selby Rd., and Elkhorn Rd.), and all roads (i.e., high-use primary roads and low-use roads combined). Open drinking water for pronghorn on the CPNM is found primarily at manmade water sources (e.g., water troughs). We located all known water sources using a data layer provided by CDFW and then inventoried each of them for the availability of water (i.e., active or inactive). We did not consider Soda Lake or ephemeral drainages as sources of water for pronghorn. Human activity on the CPNM occurs primarily along roads, which we used as the best available measure of anthropogenic disturbance. Data layers for saltbush, roads and fences were provided by the BLM.

For the fawn survival model we compared the relationship between locations of collared fawns  $\leq 17$  and >17 days-of-age and a suite of macrohabitat features including linear distances to water, fences, saltbush, high-use primary roads, and all roads combined (i.e., high-use primary roads and low-use roads), as well as the slope of terrain. We did not include microhabitat features (i.e., vegetation height and type, or visibility) in the fawn

survival model and, instead, used a subset of covariates to increase parsimony and prevent overfitting the model. We predicted fawns >17 days-of-age would have a higher expectancy for survival than fawns  $\leq$ 17 days of age, and that habitat selection by fawns in these two groups would vary, based on information from Gregg et al. (2001) that the majority (95%) of fawn mortalities take place among fawns  $\leq$ 17 days-of-age, as well as corresponding evidence from our survival data (see Results).

#### RESULTS

Fawn productivity and survival.—In total, 45 pronghorn fawns were known to have been born on the CPNM during three seasons from 2009 to 2011. The number of fawns recruited out of the total born each season was 3 of 22 (14%) in 2009, 5 of 12 (42%) in 2010, and 4 of 11 (36%) in 2011. Collars were attached to 20 of 45 fawns (44%; 7 males and 13 females) born during the study (13 fawns in 2009, 4 fawns in 2010, 3 fawns in 2011). Mean age at capture was 2.07 days (SE = 0.33). Survival between male and female collared fawns did not differ (Z = -0.32, P = 0.75). The remaining 25 uncollared fawns were monitored through systematic field observation (see description in Methods). Survivorship of collared fawns (20.0%) and uncollared fawns (32%) did not differ (Z = -0.25, P = 0.81). Survivorship of all fawns (both collared and uncollared; 26.7%) did not differ from that found for other populations (29.4%, N = 995) as reported by O'Gara and Shaw (2004) (Z= 0.22, P = 0.82). Annual fawn productivity and survival were variable across years (mean productivity = 15.0 fawns, SE = 3.5 and mean survival = 30.7%, SE = 8.5). Of 13 recovered collars, 10 functioned properly while deployed (i.e., they consistently recorded locations); of these 10 functioning collars, 9 were from deceased fawns. The mean number of days lived for the 9 collared fawns that died was 14.4 days (SE = 2.9) and all but one of these fawns died at  $\leq 18$  days of age.

Causes of mortality for the 20 collared fawns and 1 uncollared fawn included predation (28.6%; n = 6), health-related issues (9.5%; n = 2) and undetermined causes (61.9%; n = 13). For the 6 predator-related mortalities, evidence of coyote (n = 6) or golden eagle (n = 1) was detected. Results from laboratory necropsies performed for the two health-related mortalities indicated that death was caused by an infected umbilical cord for one individual, and a lacerated liver (possibly from being stepped on by its mother) for the other.

*Fawn habitat selection model.*—To model fawn habitat selection, eight candidate models were developed using 70 locations from collared individuals and 61 random locations (Table 1). The habitat parameters used in the global model are indicated at the bottom of Table 1. Two candidate models, Model 1 ( $w_i = 0.56$ ) and Model 2 ( $w_i = 0.36$ ), showed substantial support as the best approximating models ( $\Delta AIC_c < 2$ ). Parameter estimates ( $\beta$ ), standard errors (*SE*) of the estimates, odds ratios, and 95% confidence intervals (*CI*) for the odds ratios of the variables in the two models are shown in Table 2. Model 1 showed that fawn locations were negatively associated with increased vegetation height at 5 m, fawn visibility at 5 m and 50 m, slope of terrain, and distance to saltbush and water, yet positively associated with increased forb composition and fawn visibility at 100 m. Model 2 consisted of the same parameters and respective negative and positive associations as Model 1 for all variables excluding forb composition and fawn visibility at 50 m. A generalized map of fawn habitat selection within the CPNM (Figure 1) was created using Model 1 and Model 2 variables that could be measured with standard GIS layers (i.e., slope of terrain and distance to water and saltbush).

**TABLE 1.**—Comparison and relative ranking of candidate models for pronghorn fawn habitat selection on the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California from 2009 to 2011. Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AICc) was used for model selection. Included for each candidate model are values for log-likelihood, number of parameters (k), AICc values,  $\Delta$ AICc values, and Akaike weights (wi). Relative ranking of models was determined using  $\Delta$ AICc.

	Model	-2LogL	k	$AIC_c$	$\Delta AIC_c$	$W_i$
1	dsb+dw+ps+fvis5+fvis50+fvis100+f0+ht5	98.33	8	115.51	0	0.5593
2	dsb+dw+ps+fvis5+fvis100+ht5	103.74	6	116.41	0.91	0.3552
3	dsb+dw+fvis5+fvis100+f0	109.57	5	120.05	4.54	0.0578
4	Global model <sup>a</sup>	83.51	17	122.93	7.42	0.0137
5	dsb+dw+fvis100	116.76	3	122.95	7.44	0.0135
6	dsb+dw+f0	123.44	3	129.63	14.12	0.0005
7	dsb+dw	128.57	2	132.66	17.16	0.0001
8	dw+ps+ht5+fvis100+f0	125.73	5	136.21	20.70	0.00002

<sup>a</sup>Global model included distances to saltbush (dsb), water (dw), main roads (dmr), and fences (df); percent slope of terrain (ps); fawn visibility at fawn location (fvis0) and at distances of 5 m (fvis5), 10 m (fvis10), 50 m (fvis50) and 100 m (fvis100); forb cover at fawn location (f0), grass cover at fawn location (g0), and cover at distances of 5 m for forbs (f5), grasses (g5) and shrubs (s5); vegetation height at fawn location (ht0) and at 5 m distance (ht5).

**TABLE 2.**—Parameter estimates, standard errors of the estimates, odds ratios, and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios of the variables in the two best approximating models for pronghorn fawn habitat selection ( $\beta$ , SE, Odds ratio, 95% CI, respectively) on the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California, 2009–2011.

Effect	β	SE	Odds ratio	95% CI
Model 1:				
dsb	-0.002	0.001	0.998	0.996-0.999
dw	-0.001	< 0.001	0.999	0.998-1.000
ps	-0.424	0.256	0.654	0.396-1.080
fvis5	-0.040	0.020	0.961	0.924-1.000
fvis50	-0.027	0.026	0.973	0.924-1.025
fvis 100	0.053	0.027	1.054	1.000-1.111
f0	0.020	0.010	1.021	1.001-1.040
ht5	-0.045	0.023	0.956	0.915-0.999
Model 2:				
dsb	-0.002	0.001	0.997	0.997-0.999
dw	-0.001	< 0.001	0.998	0.998-0.999
ps	-0.225	0.191	0.550	0.550-1.161
fvis5	-0.046	0.020	0.919	0.919-0.993
fvis 100	0.031	0.012	1.011	1.011-1.054
ht5	-0.041	0.021	0.921	0.921-1.001

Variables include distance to saltbush (dsb), distance to water (dw), percent slope of terrain (ps), fawn visibility at distances of 5 m (fvis5), 50 m (fvis50) and 100 m (fvis100), forb cover at fawn location (f0), and vegetation height at 5 m (ht5).

*Fawn survival model.*—To model fawn survival, six candidate models were developed (Table 3) using 1,417 locations from 10 GPS-collared individuals. Two candidate models, Model 1 ( $w_i = 0.55$ ) and Model 2 (global model;  $w_i = 0.32$ ), showed support as the best approximating models ( $\Delta AIC_c < 2$ ). Parameter estimates ( $\beta$ ), standard errors (*SE*) of the estimates, odds ratios, and 95% confidence intervals (*CI*) for the odds ratios of the variables in the two models are shown in Table 4. Model 1 showed that locations of individuals that lived >17 days were positively associated with increased slope and distance to main roads, but were negatively associated with increased distance to water, fences, and all roads. Model 2, in addition to the same parameters and respective positive or negative associations as


**FIGURE 1.**—Pronghorn fawn habitat selection model for the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California, 2009–2011. Included are variables from the best approximating binary logistic regression model for predicting fawn habitat and that could be mapped using a Geographic Information System (i.e., linear distance to water and saltbush communities and percent slope of terrain). The top 15% of model values within the boundary of the monument are indicated.

Model 1, showed a negative association with distance to saltbush. A generalized map of fawn survival within the CPNM (Figure 2) was created using Model 1 and Model 2 (the global model) variables that could be measured with standard GIS layers (e.g., slope of terrain and distance to water, saltbush, and all roads).

#### DISCUSSION

*Fawn productivity and survival.*—Pronghorn fawn survivorship on the CPNM, overall, did not differ from that reported for other populations across the geographic distribution of pronghorn based on the results of O'Gara and Shaw (2004). However, variability in offspring productivity and survivorship was observed during 2009–2011 and only three to five fawns survived during any one season. Pronghorn commonly exhibit high variability in annual recruitment (Vriend and Barrett 1978, Kohlmann 2004), and years of low offspring survival generally do not impact long-term demographics of large populations. For small or sparse populations, however, low annual recruitment, particularly during consecutive years, increases extinction risk (Courchamp et al. 2008). Increased rates of fawn survival are likely required to sustain a viable population of pronghorn at this site and management actions that increase recruitment could reduce the risk of localized extinction.

Of the four primary mortality factors (predation, starvation, exposure, disease) described by O'Gara and Shaw (2004), we detected evidence only of predation. Although predation is not generally considered to drive pronghorn population dynamics, the importance

**TABLE 3**.—Comparison and relative ranking of candidate models for pronghorn fawn survival, on the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California from 2009 to 2011. Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC*c*) was used for model selection. Included for each candidate model are values for log-likelihood, number of parameters (*k*), AIC*c* values,  $\Delta$ AIC*c* values, and Akaike weights (*wi*). Relative ranking of models was determined using  $\Delta$ AIC*c*.

_						
	Model	-2LogL	k	AIC <sub>c</sub>	$\Delta AIC_c$	Wi
1	dmr+dar+df+dw+ps	478.20	5	488.25	0	0.5540
2	Global model <sup>a</sup>	477.30	6	489.36	1.12	0.3172
3	dmr +dar+df+dw	483.16	4	491.19	2.94	0.1275
4	dmr+ dar+df	494.34	3	500.35	12.11	0.0013
5	dmr + dar	508.19	2	512.19	23.95	< 0.0001
6	dmr +dw+ps	527.97	3	533.98	45.74	< 0.0001

<sup>a</sup>Global model included percent slope of terrain (ps) and distances to saltbush (dsb), water (dw), main roads (dmr), all roads (dar) and fences (df).

**TABLE** 4.—Parameter estimates, standard errors of the estimates, odds ratios, and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios of the variables in the two best approximating models of pronghorn fawn survival, ( $\beta$ , SE, Odds ratio, 95% CI, respectively) on the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California, 2009–2011.

Effect	β	SE	Odds ratio	95% CI
Model 1:	·			
dmr	0.001	< 0.001	1.001	1.000-1.001
dar	-0.003	0.001	0.997	0.996-0.998
df	-0.002	< 0.001	0.998	0.997-0.999
dw	-0.0004	< 0.001	1.000	0.999-1.000
ps	0.0403	0.019	1.041	1.004 -1.080
Model 2:				
dmr	0.001	< 0.001	1.001	1.000-1.001
dar	-0.003	0.001	0.997	0.996-0.998
df	-0.002	0.001	0.998	0.997-0.999
dw	-0.0004	< 0.001	1.000	0.999-1.000
ps	0.051	0.022	1.052	1.009-1.097
dsb	-0.002	< 0.001	1.000	0.999-1.000

Variables include percent slope of terrain (ps) and distances to water (dw), main roads (dmr), all roads (dar), fences (df), and saltbush (dsb).

of predation increases for static or declining populations, as well as for populations occupying marginal habitats or areas where the number of predators is high in relation to the number of pronghorn (Lee et al. 1998, O'Gara and Shaw 2004). In addition, the abundance of alternative prey (e.g., lagomorphs, rodents) can alleviate predation on pronghorn fawns (Beale 1986). Mortalities related to health (infected umbilical cord and lacerated liver) appeared to be separate and unrelated events. Due to the high percentage of unknown mortality (65%), meaningful comparisons between predation on the CPNM (29%) and predation on other populations (53%; O'Gara and Shaw 2004) were not possible. The high number of undetermined causes of death was due primarily to technical malfunctions of VHF telemetry signals, which were often weak or non-existent. Poor signal quality delayed the time in which deceased fawns could be located. Often fawns were consumed entirely before being found, or only small tooth and bone fragments remained. Scavengers (e.g., vultures, corvids, coyotes) are abundant on the CPNM, and differentiating between scavenging and predation events becomes increasingly difficult with delayed recovery times (e.g., >24 hours).

Fawn habitat selection model.-Results from the fawn habitat selection model



**FIGURE 2.**—Pronghorn fawn survival model for the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California, 2009–2011. Model parameters include slope of terrain and distances to water sources, saltbush (*Atriplex* spp.), fences, small dirt roads, and high use main roads (Soda Lake Rd., Elkhorn Rd., Panorama Rd. and Selby Rd.). The top 15% of model values within the boundary of the monument are indicated.

indicate that females and their fawns both selected for a combination of environmental parameters at both macro- and microhabitat scales. At the microhabitat scale, the negative associations for variables measured close to fawn locations and the positive associations for similar variables measured 100 m from fawns reveal that the relationship between these variables and choice of bed-sites is scale-dependent. Fawn locations had lower visibility at close distances compared to random locations. However, fawn locations within low visibility vegetation patches were, on average, located on a larger scale in open areas with greater visibility compared to surrounding habitat. Fawns appeared to choose sites in isolated patches of cover within larger areas containing less concealment from predators, rather than in continuous habitat with dense cover. Movement between those isolated patches is likely to increase the risk of detection by predators. However, pronghorn females may choose areas with higher visibility surrounding hidden fawns as a means of enhancing their own ability to detect predators.

Females with fawns exhibit increased vigilance and aggressive behavior toward predators (Byers 1997b), and fawn survival can be higher in habitat containing open areas with shorter vegetation height than in other areas (Bodie 1978, Autenrieth 1992). Additionally, our results show that fawn locations had higher forb cover than random locations. Forbs are a critically important source of nutrients for lactating females (Yoakum 2004c) and our results indicate that fawns are selecting bed-sites within areas pre-selected by females for forage quality.

At the macrohabitat scale, fawn locations, in comparison to random locations, were in areas with lower slope and closer to water sources and large saltbush shrub communities. Flat terrain increases the ability of adult pronghorn to detect and avoid predators (Yoakum 2004a). The availability of surface drinking water for adult pronghorn can be important in arid environments such as the CPNM, particularly for lactating females (Yoakum 2004a). Ockenfels et al. (1992) suggested that water on arid grasslands is an important, if not critical, factor in determining the location of fawn bed-sites (Yoakum 2004a). We did not anticipate that proximity to saltbush would be an important habitat variable for fawns because saltbush communities on the CPNM tend to be clustered in dense stands along the valley floor with heights that are indicative of low quality habitat (>50 cm; Longshore and Lowrey 2008). Although moderate dispersion of shrubs in grassland habitats can increase fawn survival (Autenrieth 1982), sites with shrubs >75 cm in height can have higher predator-related mortality of fawns (Bodie 1978).

*Fawn survival model.*—Results from the fawn survival model indicate that locations of individuals who lived beyond 17 days, in comparison to those who lived  $\leq$ 17 days, were closer to water sources, farther from high-use main roads, and on steeper terrain. Postnatal fawns acquire water strictly from nursing, and females inhabiting more mesic areas than the CPNM typically meet most of their water requirements through the consumption of succulent forage items (Yoakum 2004b). For pronghorn occupying arid ranges, however, availability and dispersion of open water sources can directly affect adult health and reproduction, as well as fawn productivity and survival (McKee and Wolf 1963, Beale and Smith 1970, Ockenfels et al. 1992).

The positive association between survival and distance from high-use main roads suggests that anthropogenic disturbance during the fawning season influences survival. Model results also indicated that these survivors were located closer to fences and all roads (small dirt roads as well as main roads). This result is most likely due to the fact that fences and dirt roads are abundant and well dispersed throughout the monument, and not because proximity to either resulted in increased survival times. It was unexpected that survival would be positively influenced by steeper terrain because pronghorn typically select habitat with the lowest slope (Ockenfels et al. 1994). Einarsen (1948) reported, however, that the best physiography for fawning sites was among basins surrounded by low ridges or hills. On the CPNM, areas with high percent slope may offer environmental conditions such as improved forage quality, increased vegetative and topographic concealment, or even the absence of human disturbance, that increase fawn survival and outweigh the risks associated with steep terrain (e.g., decreased range of predator detection).

Collectively, these findings highlight the importance of both micro- and macrohabitat-scale environmental attributes for recruitment in pronghorn. Ecological studies on recruitment, as well as conservation strategies aimed at increasing rates of recruitment, should consider the habitat requirements of females and fawns simultaneously. Methods and results reported herein, when combined with results reported by others, can be used as guidelines for conservation and management of pronghorn within the CPNM.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are indebted to our colleagues S. Schuster, M. Simes and D. Choate, who made meaningful contributions during field work, data analysis, and study review. We would also like to thank B. Stafford, K. Sharum, H. Zurawka, K. Guntly, K. Howard, S. Trapp and J. Purnell for their support in the field. Funding for this project was provided by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management and the U.S. Geological Survey. The use of trade, product, or firm Fall 2015

names in this publication is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

## LITERATURE CITED

- ALLDREDGE, A. W., R. D. DEBLINGER, AND J. PETERSON. 1991. Birth and fawn bed site selection by pronghorns in a sagebrush-steppe community. Journal of Wildlife Management 55:222-227.
- AUTENRIETH, R. E. 1984. Little lost pronghorn fawn study—condition, habitat use and mortality. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 11:49-70.
- AUTENRIETH, R. E. 1992. Pronghorn fawn habitat use and vulnerability to predation. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 10:112-131.
- BEALE, D. M. 1986. Pronghorn antelope productivity on semi-desert range in western Utah. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 12:41-42.
- BEALE, D. M., AND A. D. SMITH. 1970. Forage use, water consumption, and productivity of pronghorn antelope in western Utah. Journal of Wildlife Management 34:570-582.
- BODIE, W. L. 1978. Pronghorn fawn mortality in the Upper Pahsimeroi River drainage of central Idaho. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 8:417-428.
- BURNHAM, K. P., AND D. R. ANDERSON. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. Springer-Verlag, New York, USA.
- BYERS, J. A. 1997a. Methods and materials. Pages 15-22 in American pronghorn: social adaptations and the ghosts of predators past. The University of Chicago Press. Chicago, Illinois, USA.
- BYERS, J. A. 1997b. Birth and the hiding Strategy. Pages 52-78 in American pronghorn: social adaptations and the ghosts of predators past. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, USA.
- BYERS, J. A., AND J. D. MOODIE. 1990. Sex-specific maternal investment in pronghorn and the question of a limit on differential provisioning in ungulates. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 26:157-164.
- CDFG (CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND GAME). 1982. Pronghorn antelope management plan. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- CANON, S. K., AND F. BRYANT. 1997. Bed site characteristics of pronghorn fawns. Journal of Wildlife Management 61:1134-1141.
- COURCHAMP, F., L. BEREC, AND J. GASCOIGNE. 2008. Allee effects in ecology and conservation. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- EBERHARDT, L. L. 2002. A paradigm for population analysis of long-lived vertebrates. Ecology 83:2841-2854.
- EINARSEN, A. 1948. The pronghorn antelope and its management. Monumental Printing Company, Baltimore, Maryland, USA.
- ELLIS, J. E. 1970. A computer analysis of fawn survival in the pronghorn antelope. Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, Davis, USA.
- GAILLARD, J. M., M. FESTA-BIANCHET, N. G. YOCCOZ, A. LOISON, AND C. TOIGO. 2000. Temporal variation in fitness components and population dynamics of large herbivores. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 31:367-393.
- GREGG, M. A., M. BRAY, K. M. KILBRIDE, AND M. R. DUNBAR. 2001. Birth synchrony and survival of pronghorn fawns. Journal of Wildlife Management 65:19-24.
- HOSMER, D. W., AND S. LEMESHOW. 2000. Applied logistic regression. Second edition. John

Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey, USA.

- KOCH, A. J., AND J. D. YOAKUM. 2002. Reintroduction and status of pronghorn on the Carrizo Plain National Monument and surrounding areas in southern California. Proceedings of the Biennial Pronghorn Workshop 20:25-41.
- KOHLMAN, S. G. 2004. Population dynamics and modeling. Pages 645-674 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- LEE, R. M., J. D. YOAKUM, B. W. O'GARA, T. M. POJAR AND R. A. OCKENFELS (EDITORS). 1998. Pronghorn management guides. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop 18. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop and the Arizona Game and Fish Department, Prescott, Arizona.
- LONGSHORE, K., AND C. LOWREY. 2008. Habitat analysis and food habits of pronghorn antelope in the Carrizo Plain National Monument, California. Final Report prepared for the Bureau of Land Management, Bakersfield, California. U.S. Geological Survey, Western Ecological Research Center, Henderson, Nevada, USA.
- McKEE, J. E., AND H. W. WOLF. 1963. Water quality criteria. California State Water Quality Control Board Publication 3-A. California State Water Quality Control Board, Sacramento, USA.
- NEWBERRY, J. S. 1855. Report upon the zoology of the route. Pages 70-71, No. 2, Chapter 1 in H. L. Abbott. 1857. Reports of exploration and surveys to ascertain the most practicable and economical route for a railroad from the Mississippi River to the Pacific Ocean. U. S. Senate, Washington, D.C. Executive Document 78, Volume 6 (cited by Seton [1929]).
- OCKENFELS, R. A., C. L. DOROTHY, AND J. D. KIRKLAND. 1992. Mortality and home range of pronghorn fawns in central Arizona. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 15:78-92.
- OCKENFELS, R. A., AND J. A. WENNERLUND. 1994. Analyzing pronghorn habitat use patterns with GIS technology. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 16:55-63.
- O'GARA, B. W. 2004. Reproduction. Pages 275-298 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- O'GARA, B. W., AND H.G. SHAW. 2004. Predation. Pages 337-377 in B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- O'GARA, B. W., C. J. KNOWLES, P. R. KNOWLES, AND J. D. YOAKUM. 2004. Capture, translocation and handling. Pages 705-761 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- O'GARA, B. W., M. E. MCNAY, AND W. A. BODIE. 1986. Effects of fawn activity and bedding cover on susceptibility to predation. Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 12:58-66.
- PENROD, K., W. SPENCER, E. RUBIN, AND C. PAULMAN. 2010. Habitat connectivity planning for selected focal species in the Carrizo Plain. Prepared for County of San Luis Obsipo by SC Wildlands, San Diego, California, USA. Available at: http://www. scwildlands.org
- Pyshora, L. 1977. The pronghorn antelope in northeastern California. Wildlife Management Administrative Report Number 77-2. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.

Fall 2015

- SCHIFFMAN, P. M. 2000. Mammal burrowing, erratic rainfall and the annual lifestyle in the California prairie: is it time for a paradigm shift? Pages 153-160 in J. E. Keeley, M. Baer-Keeley, and C. J. Fotheringham, editors. Second Interface Between Ecology and Land Development in California. U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 00-62.
- SIKES, R. S., W. L. GANNON, AND THE ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF MAMMALOGISTS. 2011. Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research. Journal of Mammalogy 92:235-253.
- SOMMER, M. L. 2012. California pronghorn antelope status report and management update. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- STOUT, D., J. S. BUCK-DIAZ, S. TAYLOR, AND J. M. EVENS. 2013. Vegetation mapping and accuracy assessment report for Carrizo Plain National Monument. California Native Plant Society, Sacramento, USA.
- USFWS (U. S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE). 1994. Hart Mountain National Antelope Refuge comprehensive management plan final environmental impact statement. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- VRIEND, H. G., AND M. W. BARRETT. 1978. Low pronghorn recruitment—is it an issue? Pronghorn Antelope Workshop Proceedings 8:360-379.
- YOAKUM, J. D. 2004a. Habitat characteristics and requirements. Pages 409-446 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- YOAKUM, J. D. 2004b. Distribution and abundance. Pages 75-108 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.
- YOAKUM, J. D. 2004c. Foraging ecology, diet studies and nutrient values. Pages 447-502 *in* B. W. O'Gara and J. D. Yoakum, editors. Pronghorn: ecology and management. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, USA.

Received 29 September 2015 Accepted 30 October 2015 Associate Editor was V. Bleich

# A potential range expansion of the coastal fisher (*Pekania pennanti*) population in California

MAXIMILIAN L. ALLEN\*, BRYN E. EVANS, AND MICAELA S. GUNTHER

Center for Integrated Spatial Research, Environmental Studies Department, University of California, Santa Cruz, 1156 High Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95064, USA (MLA)

University of Wisconsin, Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, 1630 Linden Drive, Madison, WI 53704, USA (BEE)

Department of Wildlife, Humboldt State University, 1 Harpst Street, Arcata, CA 95521, USA (MSG)

\**Correspondent:* maxallen@ucsc.edu

Keywords: coast range, fisher, locality record, *Martes pennanti*, *Pekania pennanti*, population, range expansion

Fishers (*Pekania pennanti*) are a forest-specialist mesocarnivore and are a species of special concern in California (CDFW 2015a, 2015b). Fisher populations are thought to be limited due to a historical over-harvest for their fur, habitat fragmentation, and the impact of logging on their habitat (Zielinski et al. 2005, Tucker et al. 2012). There are three distinct populations of fishers in California: Sierra, Cascade, and coastal (Zielinski et al. 1995). The Sierra population appears to be peninsular and is restricted to the western slopes of the Sierra Nevada south of Yosemite National Park. Recent research indicates the Sierra population is genetically homogenous due to isolation prior to European settlement, but is stable despite possible range contractions in the last 100 years (Tucker et al. 2012). The Cascade population ranges from Plumas and Tehama Counties in the Cascade Mountains north to the California-Oregon border. The population was considered small and restricted and was augmented by translocations in the last decade (Callas and Figura 2008).

In comparison to the Sierra and Cascade populations, the coastal population is under-studied and the southern extent of its range is not clearly documented (Zielinski et al. 1995). The population is found in the Coast Range, from the northern border of California south to the Mendocino National Forest. There have been no confirmed sightings south of the Mendocino National Forest since 1941. Grinnell et al. (1937) reported anecdotal records as far south as Marin County, which was considered the historical southern limit of the population (Figure 1). It is thought that the coastal population has contracted in the last 100 years and that fishers are absent from the southern portion of their historical distribution (CDFW 2015a).

Zielinski et al. (1995) first called for surveys in the coastal population, with one



**FIGURE 1.**—Map of the distribution of fishers in California showing locations from 1919 to 1924 and the historic range of fishers in California as understood at the time (adapted from Grinnell et al. 1937). The inset represents the location of the smaller area detailed in Figure 3.

purpose being to determine the population's southern boundary. Opportunistic sightings and trapper takes were documented in the Mendocino National Forest from the 1920s through 1940s (Grinnell et al. 1937, Hemphill 1952). Surveys have been completed in the last decade, with fishers detected at half of all track plate stations set for fishers and American martens (*Martes americana*) in 2006 (Slauson and Zielinski 2007). In addition, Evans et al. (2012) reported fishers present at 33% of cameras baited with deer carcasses (n=66) in the Mendocino National Forest, confirming what is likely a viable population there. It is unclear, however, if those surveys have clearly defined the southern boundary of the coastal population, or if individuals at the southern end of the range could be going unnoticed. Here we report a recent fisher detection substantially farther south than any other confirmed

detection this century, and its implications for the California coastal range fisher population.

A motion-triggered camera (Bushnell, Overland Park, KS, USA) was deployed on private property to document local wildlife. The camera location (38° 43' 33.06" N, 122° 41' 51.90" W) was in Lake County, and was set in a stand of Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) facing towards a natural spring that had been enhanced as a permanent pool of water by the landowner. The camera was set to record 10 seconds of video, with a time and date stamp for each triggered event. We compared this confirmed sighting with others from published literature including Slauson and Zielinski (2007) and Grinnell et al. (1937), as well as records from the California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB; particularly EO Index #78496).

On 22 April 2013 at 0705, a fisher triggered the camera twice, recording a total of 20 seconds of video as the fisher investigated the pool (Figure 2). This detection is notably farther south than any confirmed fisher sighting in the coastal population. The location is approximately 64 km farther south than any confirmed detection of fishers in the coastal range in the last decade (Slauson and Zielinski 2007), approximately 52 km farther south than any confirmed detections reported by Grinnell et al. (1937), and approximately 47 km farther south than any confirmed detection of fishers in the last century (Figure 3).

Grinnell et al. (1937) included anecdotal reports to suggest that fishers extended as far south as Marin County, but did not have direct evidence and these reports could



**FIGURE 2.**—A photo taken from the videos recorded of a fisher investigating a woodland pool of water at 38° 43' 33.06" N, 122° 41' 51.90" W. This location is in Lake County, California, approximately 1 km north of the Sonoma County border.



FIGURE 3.—Current and historical locations of fishers (triangles) identified in this paper, with their source and year of occurrence. The location labeled Schmidt 2013 is that described in this paper.

have been inaccurate. For example, Grinnell et al. (1937) also considered the Sierra and Cascade populations to be connected, and this has recently been proven to be incorrect by genetic data that indicate the populations have been separated since before the arrival of Europeans in North America (Tucker et al. 2012). Sightings and trapper takes have been documented in the Mendocino National Forest from the 1920s (Grinnell 1937, Hemphill 1952) and continued through the last decade (Slauson and Zielinski 2007, Evans et al. 2012). Nevertheless, this is the first verifiable documentation of a fisher south of the Mendocino National Forest and Highway 20 since 1941.

The previous detections in the Mendocino National Forest combined with the occurrence reported here indicate that one of two scenarios is likely in the coastal range during the last century: that fishers have been present in the area but have gone undetected, or that fishers are expanding back into the southern extent of their historic range. It seems unlikely that a self-sustaining population has been consistently present at the southern edge of the range and has merely escaped detection. Fishers are, however, difficult to detect (Zielinski et al. 1995), and the lack of survey efforts as far south as Sonoma County may have resulted in fishers escaping detection. Alternatively, the coastal population could be expanding and recolonizing parts of its historical distribution, as fishers are quite capable of recolonizing former parts of their range (Carr et al. 2007). If the coastal population is expanding, it could provide valuable insight into the conservation of the southern Sierra population, which also appears to be peninsular and has been thought to be contracting

in distribution. A systematic survey to determine the southern limit of the coastal fisher population would potentially improve our understanding of its distribution and dynamics, and also inform management of the species statewide. Further, the conservation status of fishers currently is under review (CDFW 2015a).

The use of motion-triggered cameras has increased greatly in the last decade, both by citizen scientists, as well as for studies of animal behavior and ecology (Locke et al. 2012). This observation has been recorded in the California Natural Diversity Database as species occurrence number 733 and EO Index 90288. We encourage the documentation of species by the public, as well as the increased use of the CNDDB to maintain information on the current distributions of rare species.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Don Schmidt for sharing his findings, and the many scientists that have contributed to fisher research and conservation over the last century.

### LITERATURE CITED

- CDFW (CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE). 2015a. Report to the Fish and Game Commission: a status review of the Fisher (*Pekania* [formerly *Martes*] *pennanti*) in California. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Sacramento, USA.
- CDFW. 2015b. Natural Diversity Database, special animals list. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Sacramento, USA.
- CALLAS, R. L., AND P. FIGURA. 2008. Reintroduction plan for the reintroduction of fishers (*Martes pennanti*) to lands owned by Sierra Pacific Industries in the northern Sierra Nevada of California. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- CARR, D., J. BOWMAN, C. J. KYLE, S. M. TULLY, E. L. KOEN, J.-F. ROBITAILLE, AND P. J. WILSON. 2007. Rapid homogenization of multiple sources: genetic structure of a recolonizing population of fishers. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1853-1861.
- EVANS, B. E., M. L. ALLEN AND D. S. CASADY. 2012. Detection of fishers at bait stations in the Mendocino National Forest, California. Poster presented at: The Wildlife Society West Coast Fisher Symposium, 31 January–1 February 2012, Sacramento, California, USA. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/yreka/fisherEI.html
- GRINNELL, J., J. S. DIXON, AND J. M. LINSDALE. 1937. Fur-bearing mammals of California. University of California Press, Berkeley, USA.
- HEMPHILL, D. V. 1952. The vertebrate fauna of the boreal areas of the southern Yolla Bolly Mountains, California. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State College, Corvallis, USA.
- LOCKE, S. L., R. D. PARKER, AND R. R. LOPEZ. 2012. Use of remote cameras in wildlife ecology. Pages 311-318 *in* N. J. Silvy, editor. The wildlife techniques manual, seventh edition, volume I. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland, USA.
- SLAUSON, K. M., AND W. J. ZIELINSKI. 2007. Strategic surveys for *Martes* populations in northwestern California: Mendocino National Forest. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Redwood Sciences Laboratory, Arcata, California, USA.
- TUCKER, J. M., M. K. SCHWARTZ, R. L. TRUEX, K. L. PILGRIM, AND F. W. ALLENDORF. 2012.

Historical and contemporary DNA indicate fisher decline and isolation occurred prior to the European settlement of California. PLoS One 7:e52803.

- ZIELINSKI W. J., T. E. KUCERA, AND R. H. BARRETT. 1995. Current distribution of the fisher, *Martes pennanti*, in California. California Fish Game 81:104-112.
- ZIELINSKI W. J., R. L. TRUEX, F. V. SCHLEXER, L. A. CAMPBELL, AND C. CARROLL. 2005. Historical and contemporary distribution of carnivores in forests of the Sierra Nevada, California, USA. Journal of Biogeography 32:1385-1407.

Received 23 September 2015 Accepted 2 October 2015 Associate Editor was V. Bleich

# First record of striped mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) in Humboldt Bay, California

MICHAEL WALLACE\*, ERIC W. OJERHOLM, ANTHONY J. SCHEIFF, AND ANDREW P. KINZIGER

California Department of Fish and Wildlife, North Coast Region, 5341 Ericson Way, Arcata, CA 95521, USA (MW and AJS)

Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission, 5341 Ericson Way, Arcata, CA 95521, USA (EWO)

Department of Fisheries Biology, Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA 95521, USA (APK)

\*Correspondent: mike.wallace@wildlife.ca.gov

Key words: Humboldt Bay, Mugil cephalus, range extension, striped mullet

On 11 June 2015 three juvenile striped mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) were collected by personnel from the California Department of Fish and Wildlife in the Salmon Creek estuary, Humboldt Bay, California (40° 40' 37.7" N, 124° 12' 15.0" W). This record represents a northward range extension of nearly 450 kilometers from the previously reported northernmost occurrence of that species in San Francisco Bay, California (Moyle 2002). All three striped mullet were collected from a brackish off-channel pond during routine surveys for juvenile salmonids in the Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge. Two individuals were released at the location of capture and one was retained as a voucher specimen and deposited in the Humboldt State University Fish Collection (HSU Collection number HSU 5290). Field collections were conducted using a 9.1 m  $\times$  1.8 m  $\times$  6.4-mm mesh beach seine at a depth of 0.75 m at 0915 near a predicted 1.5-m high tide. Habitat at the collection site was mostly open water with mud substrate. The pond was stratified with a surface temperature of 18.8° C, salinity was 25.0 ppt, and dissolved oxygen was 5.15 mg/l; near the bottom those readings were 21.2° C, 30.6 ppt, and 1.90 mg/l, respectively.

Striped mullet have thick, torpedo-shaped bodies, broad flat heads, small terminal mouths, large eyes, deeply forked caudal fin, two dorsal fins that are widely separated, and translucent adipose eyelids that nearly cover the eye (Moyle 2002). All three striped mullet captured were very similar in size and appearance (Figure 1). Meristic and morphometric characteristics of the voucher specimen (fork length = 69 mm) were consistent with values reported for striped mullet (Miller and Lea 1976, Moyle 2002).

Striped mullet inhabit tropical and subtropical coastal areas around the world. In California they primarily inhabit coastal waters and estuaries in southern California and the lower Colorado River (Miller and Lea 1976, Moyle 2002, McGinnis 2006). Striped mullet



**FIGURE 1.**—Striped mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) captured by California Department of Fish and Wildlife personnel on 11 June 2015 in an off-channel pond in Salmon Creek Estuary, Humboldt Bay, Humboldt County, California; the scale is in millimeters.

have been reported as far north as San Francisco Bay during El Niño years, but they are rare north of Point Conception (Moyle 2002). They are sometimes among the most abundant fish captured in southern California estuaries (Horn and Allen 1981, Moyle 2002). They were once very abundant in the Salton Sea but now are rare (Moyle 2002, McGinnis 2006) or possibly extirpated (CDFW 2014). They tolerate a wide range of salinities, having been collected in water from 0 to 75 ppt, but cannot tolerate temperatures much below ~15° C. Striped mullet often ascend rivers and have been found many kilometers upstream of saltwater in rivers such as the Colorado River, Santa Margarita River, and Los Angeles River (Moyle 2002).

Water quality conditions in the Salmon Creek estuary on 11 June 2015 were similar to conditions typically observed in mid- to late summer during 2010–2014 (Wallace and Allen 2015). Also, ocean temperatures off the coast of California were approximately 3° C warmer than historic averages in the Fall of 2014, which ranked among the warmest conditions observed during the last 30 years (data from NOAA Northwest Fisheries Science Center; http://www.nwfsc.noaa.gov). Numerous warm-water fishes and invertebrate species that are usually found in more southern waters have been detected off the coast of California during the past 6 to 12 months (Rogers 2014). It is plausible that the striped mullet moved northward from southern or central California and found their way into Humboldt Bay and the Salmon Creek Estuary during these warm water conditions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank V. Bleich, R. Lea, and an anonymous reviewer for many helpful comments that greatly improved this paper.

## LITERATURE CITED

- CDFW (CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE). 2014. Biogeographic Information and Observation System (BIOS). http://map.dfg.gov/bios/Striped\_Mullet\_FSSC-CDFW [ds 1270] Created 2014-03-01; accessed 12 October 2015.
- HORN, M. H., AND L. G. ALLEN. 1981. Ecology of fishes in Upper Newport Bay, California: seasonal dynamics and community structure. Marine Technical Report 45. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, USA.
- McGINNIS, S. M. 2006. Field guide to freshwater fishes of California (revised edition). California Natural History Guide Series No. 77. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, USA.
- MILLER, D. J., AND R. N. LEA. 1976. Guide to the coastal marine fishes of California. Fish Bulletin 157:1-249.
- MOYLE, P. B. 2002. Inland fishes of California. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, USA.
- ROGERS, P. 2014. Unusual warm ocean conditions off California, west coast bringing odd species. San Jose Mercury News, San Jose, California, 2 November 2014. Available at: http://www.mercurynews.com/science/ci\_26851300/unusual-warm-%20oceanconditions-off-california-west-coast
- WALLACE, M., AND S. ALLEN. 2015. Juvenile salmonid use and restoration assessment of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California, 2011–2012. Fisheries Administrative Report 2015-02. California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Sacramento, USA.

Received 11 August 2015 Accepted 7 October 2015 Associate Editor was N. Kogut

## **BOOK REVIEW**

### Desert bighorn sheep: wilderness icon

Mark C. Jorgensen with photographs by Jeff Young. 2014. Sunbelt Publications, San Diego, California, USA. 143 pages. Soft cover. \$29.95. ISBN 978-1-941384-00-8

Mark Jorgensen, who had a stellar career with the California Department of Parks and Recreation and who has spent his professional life as an advocate for desert bighorn sheep has teamed with Jeff Young—a photographer with skills second to none—to produce a book that is both scientifically sound and provides the reader with breathtaking images. Those images clearly illustrate many of the life-history traits of bighorn sheep that Mark so completely describes in the text. This book, albeit not of great length, contains some of the most impressive photographs of desert bighorn sheep, their habitat, and threats to the longterm persistence of those specialized ungulates that I have encountered during my career. Importantly, each image is accompanied by a caption that clearly describes the photograph and that very nicely complements the accompanying text.

The book begins with a brief foreword by Esther Rubin, with whom Mark—and many of us involved in the conservation of desert bighorn sheep—worked for many years; Dr. Rubin provides numerous details regarding Mark's qualifications to write this book. In an extensive conveyance of acknowledgments, Mark then goes on to thank those individuals and organizations with whom he has worked for decades. Finally, he introduces Jeff Young, with whom he has shared his knowledge of, and passion for, desert bighorn sheep and whose images clearly illustrate the many topics presented in the text. This book is not only a compilation of biology and its implications for conservation, but a visual portrayal of the life history of desert bighorn sheep.

The first chapter, "Origins and Distribution in the United States and Mexico" not only contains information on the origins of wild sheep in North America, but provides descriptions of the relationships between that species and native peoples. Mark touches on the ways that bighorn sheep were hunted and utilized by the earliest Americans, and provides a fine summary of the widespread occurrence of bighorn sheep as subjects of early rock art, primarily in the form of petroglyphs.

The importance of habitat, and the dependency of desert bighorn sheep on it and the ways it is used, are the subjects of Chapter 2. The importance of "escape terrain" is emphasized, particularly as it relates to security. Mark also provides a good summary of the importance and availability of high-quality forage, descriptions of their food habits, a summary description of the ruminant digestive system, a brief summary of the physiological adaptations to the harsh, arid environments inhabited by desert bighorn sheep, and the importance of water to the distribution, life history, and persistence of this species. Chapter 2 is illustrated profusely with many images that more than adequately portray the subject matter.

Chapter 3, "Adaptations to a Desert Environment" contains summaries of the many adaptations of desert bighorn sheep to life in the hot, arid ecosystems of western North America. In this chapter, the author and photographer explore the ways that these animals "take advantage" of habitat conditions and further discuss the physiological adaptations introduced in Chapter 2. Along with a summary of those physiological adaptations, Mark

nicely discusses the published information on the behavioral and anatomical adaptations that so clearly contribute to the life history strategies of male and female bighorn sheep.

"Life History and Behavior—A Year in the Life of a Desert Bighorn" is the title of Chapter 4, and it is aptly named. There are some statements that could be construed by some to convey misinformation in the strictest sense (e.g., "The largest, most aggressive and powerful ram is often thought to do more than his share of the breeding with receptive ewes, theoretically passing on the most dominant genetic line to the next generation"), but the point is that dominant breeding males are more apt to pass their genes on to the next generation. Nevertheless, the audience likely to benefit most from this book will understand the intended meaning.

This chapter also describes the behavior of bighorn sheep in the context of various seasons of the year, and the life-history traits associated with those seasons. From the text (and, in particular, the photographs accompanying the text), it is clear that sexual segregation, or the fact that for much of the year male and female bighorn sheep utilize different habitats, is an important life-history trait of desert bighorn sheep (and most other sexually dimorphic ungulates). The word "segregate"—or a derivative thereof—appears only once in the text, but the importance of this concept could be further emphasized, particularly in the context of conservation.

Mark presents an excellent summary of the importance of habitat connectivity to the persistence of viable populations of desert bighorn sheep across an increasingly fragmented landscape. He notes that, "Looking back over the last half of the 20th century, it has become clear that with more insight into the needs of wildlife, planning could have curtailed many of the human impacts on wildlife habitat and wildlife movement corridors." Clearly, the message is that if we don't break something, it won't need fixing, and Mark emphasizes the importance of science-driven forethought and planning as important ways to minimize conflicts in the future. Although the title of the book identifies desert bighorn sheep as a "wilderness" icon, I would argue that the desert bighorn is more of an icon of wild places, and not legislated wilderness; the absence of ecological forethought in the designation of wilderness has contributed to many of the problems with which desert bighorn sheep and other large mammals are faced. Mark's admonition regarding better planning should be heeded by developers, conservationists, agency administrators, and politicians because, in the end, it will be the actions of all of them that determine the future of bighorn sheep across much of its range.

Chapter 5 consists of an extensive discussion of the causes of mortality and threats with which desert bighorn sheep are faced. Disease, habitat fragmentation, habitat loss, resource depletion, predation, human disturbance, and other such factors are addressed in some detail, and include up-to-date assessments of ongoing episodes. Also discussed are a number of methods or activities that have had benefits to conservation. Mark is not shy about discussing the important role that hunting has played in providing funds that are used to conserve bighorn sheep or acquire habitat. Moreover, he does not shy away from discussing the importance of providing resources or habitat management actions wherever needed to help maintain existing populations, or to help reverse a trend in declining numbers in some populations. He addresses the fallacy of the importance of "pristine" wilderness areas to bighorn sheep, noting that humans have an obligation to wildlife conservation that goes beyond the status quo: part of that obligation exists in a commitment to ensure the survival of desert bighorn sheep by using the methods and technology currently available to amend mistakes that have been detrimental to desert bighorn sheep. That is a gutsy approach, but one that Mark has been an advocate for during the more than 40 years of our friendship

and professional relationship.

In the final chapter, "Hope for the Future—Maneuvering the Modern West" the author brings into clear focus the accomplishments that have occurred on behalf of the conservation of this iconic animal, the ways and means through which those accomplishments have occurred, and clearly emphasizes the importance of active management to conservation and restoration. He then presents a summary of the current status of desert bighorn sheep in the seven states and Mexico, places inhabited by that specialized ungulate. Mark, who is not only a fine scientist and an ardent conservationist, is also a very pragmatic individual, calling attention to the needs to provide resources, primarily in the form of wildlife water developments, or to restore habitat for bighorn sheep using fire, removal of exotic vertebrates or vegetation, the restoration of connectivity (and, thereby, metapopulation function), and translocation as management tools. This chapter concludes with a discussion of predator management and its potential importance in the maintenance of bighorn sheep populations, or their restoration to parts of their historical range.

In preparing this informative book, Mark has delved into the evolutionary history, biology, beauty, and the relevance of appropriate management to the conservation of one of the iconic representatives of North American wildlife. The book is well-done, and profusely illustrated, and presents up-to-the minute descriptions of the challenges with which desert bighorn sheep are faced, as well as the accomplishments that have been made on their behalf. Material presented is based on the author's extensive experience and his familiarity with the scientific literature and that literature is summarized in language that even those without a background in science can readily appreciate. I noted a few places in the book where more thorough editing might have been helpful (for example, the ways that the verbs evade and avoid—and derivations thereof—in relation to predators and predation are used interchangeably), but these instances do not detract from the value and importance of the material contained in this book. As noted earlier, some subjects could be expanded upon in terms of their relevance to desert bighorn sheep, but these are minor points in the context of the importance of bringing an understanding of the biology and the need for conservation to the reader.

Never one to be shy when offering opinions or advice regarding the management of desert bighorn sheep, Mark has addressed the controversial topics of wildlife conservation and habitat management in legislated wilderness, trophy hunting, captive breeding, and predator management in the context of their overall benefits to the conservation of desert bighorn sheep, and is to be commended for doing so. To complement the text, Jeff Young has provided dozens of outstanding photographs that not only illustrate material being discussed in the text, but also provide insight into many aspects of the life history of this species; I consider myself fortunate to own a signed print of the image on page 55 and display it in my shabby little office.

Mark and Jeff are to be congratulated on a book that, in my opinion, is acontribution and I encourage all with an interest in desert bighorn sheep to take advantage of the information it contains and to enjoy the outstanding photos included therein. The final sentence in the book is a statement that all that read it—and perhaps more importantly those that elect to not take the opportunity to do so—must appreciate: "People have risen up to support sustainable bighorn populations, to restore habitat, and to insure the future of this majestic symbol of wild places. Their future truly is in our hands."

VERNON C. BLEICH, California Department of Fish and Wildlife, Office of Communications, Education and Outreach, 1416 9th Street, Sacramento, CA 95814, USA

# SUBJECT MATTER INDEX FOR CALIFORNIA FISH AND GAME 101 (2015)

abyssal shrimp146activity patterns193adaptive stress response108All-American Canal165annual escapement24Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	abnormality	188
activity patterns193adaptive stress response108All-American Canal165annual escapement24Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Aritidae188Bagre panamensis188biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California218camera trap66, 193canal165Canizo latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	abyssal shrimp	146
adaptive stress response108All-American Canal165annual escapement24Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Arbacia stellata188Bagre panamensis188biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	activity patterns	193
All-American Canal165annual escapement24Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	adaptive stress response	108
annual escapement24Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	All-American Canal	165
Anodonta8Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	annual escapement	24
Antilocapra americana267Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	Anodonta	8
Arbacia incisa184Arbacia stellata184Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	Antilocapra americana	267
Arbacia stellata184Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	Arbacia incisa	184
Ariidae188Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	Arbacia stellata	184
Bagre panamensis188beaver218biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	Ariidae	188
beaver 218 biological invasion 101 black-tailed deer 51 blood plasma constituents 108 blue oak woodland 193 book review 159, 289 brown smoothhound 149 California 8, 72, 78, 165, 193 California highlands 218 camera trap 66, 193 canal 165 <i>Canis latrans</i> 193 carcass survey 24 Carrizo Plain National Monument 267	Bagre panamensis	188
biological invasion101black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	beaver	218
black-tailed deer51blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	biological invasion	101
blood plasma constituents108blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	black-tailed deer	51
blue oak woodland193book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	blood plasma constituents	108
book review159, 289brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	blue oak woodland	193
brown smoothhound149California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	book review	159, 289
California8, 72, 78, 165, 193California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	brown smoothhound	149
California highlands218camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	California	8, 72, 78, 165, 193
camera trap66, 193canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	California highlands	218
canal165Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	camera trap	66, 193
Canis latrans193carcass survey24Carrizo Plain National Monument267	canal	165
carcass survey 24 Carrizo Plain National Monument 267	Canis latrans	193
Carrizo Plain National Monument 267	carcass survey	24
	Carrizo Plain National Monument	267
Caspian tern 149	Caspian tern	149
Castor canadensis 218	Castor canadensis	218
cause-specific mortality 149	cause-specific mortality	149
Central Valley 24	Central Valley	24
Cervus elaphus roosevelti 208	Cervus elaphus roosevelti	208
Chinook salmon 24	Chinook salmon	24
chum salmon 78	chum salmon	78
climate forecasts 218	climate forecasts	218
climate-driven changes 218	climate-driven changes	218
coast range 280	coast range	280
coho salmon 241	coho salmon	241
commentary 200	commentary	200
condition index 178	condition index	178
cougar 66	cougar	66
coyote 193	coyote	193
Crassostrea gigas 101	Crassostrea gigas	101

current distribution	8
Danaus plexippus	40
diet composition	51
drowning	165
ecosystem engineer	101
eelgrass beds	149
El Niño	184
elasmobranch	149
estuary	241
eucalyptus	40
exotic species	101
expansion	131
experimental wetlands	87
eye abnormalities	188
eveshine	66
facultative predation	72
fawn	267
feeding ecology	51
feral hog	72
feral pig	72, 131
fisher	280
food web	72
forage	208
freshwater mussel	8
genetics	131
Gonidea angulata	8
great blue heron	149
Gulf of California	188
habitat	267
habitat preference	40
habitat selection	267
half weight association index	208
haplotypes	131
historical distribution	8
home range	51
Humboldt Bay	241, 286
hydrological changes	218
interference competition	200
invasion	131
kelp restoration	184
kill rate	51
Kimberly Nicol (obituary)	158
Laguna Beach	184
leopard shark	149
L-L relationship	178
loading density	108
iouuning donoity	100

locality record	78, 280, 286
L-W relationship	178
Margaritifera falcata	8
Marin County	66
marine protected area	184
Martes pennanti	280
metabolic rate	108
Mexico	178, 188
mitigation	165, 218
mitochrondial DNA	131
monarch butterfly	40
Monterey cypress	40
Monterey pine	40
mountain lion	51,66
MPA	184
mtDNA	131
mudflats	149
Mugil cephalus	286
mule deer	165
Mustelus henlei	149
native ecosystem	131
NDVI	208
normalized difference vegetation index	208
ocular defect	66
Odocoileus hemionus	165
Odocoileus hemionus columbianus	51
offspring	267
omnivore	72
Oncorhynchus keta	78
Oncorhynchus kisutch	241
Oncorhynchus tshawytscha	24
Orange County	184
Ostrea lurida	101
over-winter rearing habitat	241
overwintering	40
Pacific Ocean	178
Pacific ovster	101
panther	66
Pekania pennanti	280
pelican barracuda	178
Penaeoidea	146
physiological stress	108
pickleweed	87
Plesiopenaeus	146
population	280
population decline	193
r · r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

population density	51
predation	149
private interests	200
pronghorn	267
public trust	200
puma	66
Puma concolor	51,66
range expansion	280
range extension	286
rearing habitat	241
recruitment	184, 267
Redwood National Park	208
resistance board weir	24
resources	200
restoration	87, 267
Roosevelt elk	208
Sacrmento-San Joaquin Delta	108
San Francisco Bay	87
San Francisco Bay Area	66
San Joaquin Restoration Program	78
San Joaquin River	78
Sarcocornia pacifica	87
scale	267
scramble competition	200
sea catfish	188
sea urchin	184
SEE	241
selection	267
selfish gene	200
sequence	131
sloughs	149
social behavior	208
space use	208
spatial ecology	51
Sphyraena idiastes	178
Sphyraenidae	178
stream-estuary ecotone	241
stress	108
striped mullet	286
survival	260
Sus scrofa	72 131
tragedy of the commons	200
translocation	131
Triakis semifasciata	1/10
trophic ecology	179
ungulate predator	1/0
ungulate predator	12

water catchments	165
water quality	108
wetland restoration	218
wild pig	72
wildlife conservation	200
wildlife water developments	165

# Author Index for California Fish and Game 101 (2015)

Allen, M. L.	51, 280
Allen, S.	241
Anderson, J. T.	24
Bailey, J. A.	200
Baldwin, J.	218
Barrett, R. H.	193
Bigelow, M. J.	78
Bleich, V. C.	6, 86, 159, 164, 206, 289
Boydston, E. E.	66
Brim Box, J.	8
Bucci, M. E.	165
Burcham, D.	184
Caruso, N. L.	184
Casady, D. S.	51
Crooks, A. J.	101
Crooks, J. A.	101
Crooks, K. R.	101
Elbroch, L. M.	51
Escobar-Sanchez, O.	188
Evans, B. E.	280
Fifield, V. L.	66
Findley, L. T.	178
Frimodig, A.	241
Furnish, J. L.	8
Garwood, J.	241
Gonzalez-Acosta, A. F.	178
Griffiths, J.	40
Howard, J. K.	8
Hueth, C. D.	108
Jepsen, S	8
Johnson, D.	267
Kinziger, A. P.	286
Kolbe, N. R.	208
Krausman, P. R.	165
Kuhnz, L. A.	141
Loggins, R. E.	131
Longshore, K.	267
Lowrey, C.	267
Maldonado-Coyac, J. A.	188
Marsh, K. J.	193
McCann, B. E.	131
Merz, J. E.	24

Miles, A. K.	87
Moreno-Sanchez, X. G.	188
Ojerholm, E. W.	286
Palacios-Salgado, D. S.	188
Portz, D.	78
Ramirez-Perez, J. S.	188
Ricker, S.	241
Romo-Rios, J.	178
Root, S. T.	78
Rossi, A. J.	66
Ruiz-Campos, G.	178
Russo, R. A.	149
Saiki, M. K.	24
Scheiff, A. J.	286
Simmons, R. B.	131
Sutphin, Z A.	108
Sweitzer, R. A.	131
Thompson, D. B.	267
Tsao, D. C.	87
Van Vuren, D. H.	87
Villablanca, F.	40
Wallace, M.	241, 286
Watry, C. B.	24
Weckerly, F. W.	208
Wicksten, M. K.	141
Wilcox, J. T.	72
Wittmer, H. U.	51
Yee, J. L.	87

# Reviewers of Manuscripts Considered for Publication in California Fish and Game 101 (2015)

A. Allen	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
N. Andrew	California Department of Fish and Game (retired)
A. Andrews	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
D. Applebee	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
V. Bleich (4)	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
P. Bloom	Bloom Biological, Inc.
C. Boch	Stanford University
H. Bornakowski	Museo de la Historia Natural Capao da Imbuia, Brazil
H. Bracken-Grissom	Brigham Young University
C. Briggs	Golden Gate Raptor Observatory
E. Burton	Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary
E. Byron	CH2M Hill, Inc.
R. Carvey	Louisiana State University
F. Cassirer	Idaho Department of Fish and Game
F. Cypher	California State University, Stanislaus
T. Ebert	Oregon State University
G. Falxa	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
J. Ferreira	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
G. Garman	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
R. Golightly	Humboldt State University
A. Gordus	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
T. Heyne	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
J. Hobbs	University of California, Davis
M. Kelly	Virgina Tech
N. Kogut (3)	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
P. Krausman	University of Montana, Missoula
R. Lea	California Academy of Sciences
D. Lentz	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
E. Loft	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
M. Love (2)	University of California, Santa Barbara
S. Manley	California State University, Long Beach
B. McCann	National Park Service
M. Meshriy	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
S. Murray	California State University, Fullerton
J. O'Leary	California State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo
B. Pierce	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
D. Pondella	Occidental College
D. Portz	U.S. Bureau of Reclamation
K. Ramey	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
M. Reilly	Northern Arizona University

L. Rogers-Bennett	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
J. Ruisink	University of Washington
B. Ruttenberg	California State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo
B. Sacks	University of California, Davis
W. Sakai	Santa Monica College
J. Sandberg	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
K. Shaffer (3)	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
J. Slusark	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
L. Souza	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
B. Stafford	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
K. Stewart	University of Nevada, Reno
D. Stoner	Utah State University
R. Sweitzer	The Great Basin Institute
R. Turner	Florida Institute of Technology
D. Van Vuren	University of California, Davis
J. Villepique (3)	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
B. Wakeling	Nevada Department of Wildlife
D. Ward	Humboldt State University
K. Wasson	Elkhorn Slough National Research Reserve
J. Wehausen	White Mountain Research Station
J. Wilcox	Sonoma Mountain Ranch Preservation Foundation
I. Woo	U.S. Geological Survey

California Fish and Game 101(4):301-301; 2015

# BOOKS RECEIVED AND AVAILABLE FOR REVIEW

Copies of the following books have been received and are available for review. Anyone interested in preparing a formal review that will be published in *California Fish and Game* should contact the editor (Vern.Bleich@wildlife.ca.gov) with a request to do so.

- BECK, B. H., AND E. PEATMAN (editors). 2015. Mucosal health in aquaculture. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. 395 Pages. \$180.00 (hard cover). ISBN: 978-0-12-417186-2
- KIRKWOOD, S., AND E. MEYERS. 2012. America's national parks: an insider's guide to unforgettable places and experiences. Time Home Entertainment, Inc., New York, USA. 208 pages. \$24.95 (hard cover). ISBN: 1-61893-025-7
- SJAASTAD, E., AND K. E. SVENSSON. 2015. Small ambassadeurs: the legendary lightline fishing reels. Schiffer Publishing, Atlen, Pennsylvania, USA. 256 pages. \$45.00 (hard cover). ISBN: 978-0-7643-4866-2
- TOMINE, D. 2012. Closer to the ground. Patagonia, Ventura, California, USA. 255 pages. \$17.95 (soft cover). ISBN: 978-1-938340-50-5
- YANG, H., J.-F. HAMEL, AND A. MERCIER (editors). 2015. The sea cucumber Apostichopus japonicus: history, biology and aquaculture. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. 454 pages. \$180.00 (hard cover). ISBN: 978-0-12-799953-1



